
 

 

Strategic Development 
Committee 
 

Agenda 
Wednesday, 18 August 2021 6.30 p.m. 
Council Chamber - Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 
Crescent, London, E14 2BG 
 

The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
here -  https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home The press and public are 
encouraged to watch this meeting on line  
 
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting 
room for observers will be extremely limited due to the Covid 19 pandemic restrictions. 
You must contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place, to be allocated on 
a first come first served basis. No one will be admitted unless they have registered in 
advance. 
 
Details of the how the meeting will work, including ways of contributing to this meeting, 
are set out in the information sheet. 
 

Chair:  
  
Vice Chair: 
Councillor Abdul Mukit MBE 
 
Members: 
Councillor Sabina Akhtar, Councillor Kahar Chowdhury, Councillor David Edgar, 
Councillor Rabina Khan, Councillor Tarik Khan, Councillor Val Whitehead and 1 
Vacancy 
 
Substitute Members:  
Councillor Leema Qureshi, Councillor James King and Councillor Kyrsten Perry 
 
(The quorum for the Committee is 3)   

 

The deadline for registering to speak is 4pmMonday, 16 August 2021 
 
The deadline for submitting information for the update report is Noon 
Tuesday, 17 August 2021 
 
Contact for further enquiries:  
Zoe Folley, Democratic Services, Zoe.Folley@towerhamlets.gov.uk 020 7364 4877 1st 
Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG 
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

 
 
 

https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 

 

Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

View Planning application documents here:  
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/planning_and_building_control/planning_applicati
ons/planning_applications.aspx 
 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.   
 
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date.  
 

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android 
apps.   

 

 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/planning_and_building_control/planning_applications/planning_applications.aspx
https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/planning_and_building_control/planning_applications/planning_applications.aspx
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 

 

 
 
 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

Strategic Development Committee  

 
Wednesday, 18 August 2021 

 
6.30 p.m. 

 

   

 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
OTHER INTERESTS  (Pages 7 - 8)  

 
 Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest in the Code of Conduct for 

Members to determine whether they have an interest in any agenda item and any action 
they should take. For further details, please see the attached note from the Monitoring 
Officer.  
 
Members are reminded to declare the nature of the interest and the agenda item it relates 
to. Please note that ultimately it’s the Members’ responsibility to declare any interests 
form and to update their register of interest form as required by the Code.  
 
If in doubt as to the nature of your interest, you are advised to seek advice prior to the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services  
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  (Pages 9 - 14)  
 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Development 

Committee held on 14th July 2021. 
 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE  (Pages 15 - 18)  

 
 To RESOLVE that: 

 

1) in the event of changes being made to recommendations by the Committee, the 
task of formalising the wording of those changes is delegated to the Corporate 
Director Place along the broad lines indicated at the meeting; and 

 
2) in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 

decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Corporate Director Place is delegated authority to do so, provided always 
that the Corporate Director does not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision. 

 
3) To NOTE the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the Strategic 

Development Committee. 



 
 

 

 
 

PAGE 
 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

4. DEFERRED ITEMS  
None 

 

  

5. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION  
 

19 - 24  

5 .1 2 Trafalgar Way, London, E14 5SP (PA/20/01402)  
 

25 - 118 Blackwall & 
Cubitt Town 

 Proposal: 
 
Redevelopment of the site to provide a new mixed use 
building including student accommodation units and 
associated uses (Sui Generis), residential units (Class C3), 
office (Class B1), shops/cafes (Class A1/A3) and a 
restaurant/takeaway (Class A3/A5) arranged over a 4 
storey podium with three taller elements of 46, 36 and 28 
storeys (with roof-top plant and basements), alongside 
parking, landscaping, public realm and other associated 
works.  
 
This application is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions and a 
legal agreement 
 

  

6. OTHER PLANNING ISSUES - PRE - 
APPLICATION PRESENTATION  

 

119 - 
120 

 

6 .1 Pre - Application Presentation: Aberfeldy Estate, 
Abbott Road, Land to the north of East India Dock 
Road (A13), London, E14 (PF/20/00108)  

 

121 - 
162 

Lansbury 

 Proposal: 

Redevelopment of site to provide circa 1600 new homes, 
new employment space, a new high street, repurposing of 
the Abbott Road underpass and new and improved open 
space. 

 
Recommendation: 
 
The Committee notes the contents of the report 
 and pre-application presentation. 

 
The Committee is invited to comment on the issues 
identified and to raise any other planning and design 
issues or material considerations that the developer should 
take into account at the pre-application stage, prior to 
submitting a planning application. 

  



 
 

 

 
Next Meeting of the Strategic Development Committee 
Thursday, 23 September 2021 at 6.30 p.m. 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive. 

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In 
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding 
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Divisional Director Legal and  Interim Monitoring Officer 
Tel: 0207 364 4800. 
 

APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

Page 8



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 6.30 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 14 JULY 2021 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON,  E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Abdul Mukit MBE (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Kahar Chowdhury 
Councillor David Edgar 
Councillor Sabina Akhtar 
Councillor Tarik Khan 
Councillor Val Whitehead 
 

 
Other Councillors Present: 

Councillor Ehtasham Haque 
 

Apologies: 
 
Councillor Rabina Khan 

 
Officers Present: 
 
Gareth Gwynne – (Area Planning Manager (West), 

Planning Services, Place) 
James Woolway – (Senior Planning Officer, Place) 
Siddhartha Jha – (Principal Planning Lawyer, 

Governance, Legal Services) 
Jane Jin – (Team Leader, Planning Services, 

Place) 
Zoe Folley – (Democratic Services Officer, 

Committees, Governance) 
 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
OTHER INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Sabina Akhtar declared a Non DPI interest in agenda 5.1 Land at 
Blackwall Yard, Blackwall Way, London, E14 2EH (PA/20/02509). This was 
on the grounds that he husband, Councillor Ehtasham Haque was speaking in 
support of the application. She considered that she could consider the 
application with an open mind.  
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  
 
  The Committee RESOLVED 
 
1.   That the unrestricted minutes of the Strategic Development 

Committee held on  9th June 2021 be agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair.  
 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE  
 
To RESOLVE that: 
 

1) in the event of changes being made to recommendations by the 
Committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes is 
delegated to the Corporate Director Place along the broad lines 
indicated at the meeting; and 

 
2) in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Corporate 
Director Place is delegated authority to do so, provided always that 
the Corporate Director does not exceed the substantive nature of 
the Committee’s decision. 

 
3) To NOTE the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the 

Strategic Development Committee. 
 

4. DEFERRED ITEMS  
 
There were none. 

5. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION  
 

5.1 Land at Blackwall Yard, Blackwall Way, London, E14 2EH (PA/20/02509)  
 
Gareth Gwynne(Area Planning Manager (West), Planning Services, Place) 
introduced the application for planning and listed building consent for the 
phased redevelopment of the site and construction of 5 buildings (with 
maximum heights of between 9 and 39 storeys) comprising a mixed used 
residential led scheme with associated works. He also advised of a number of 
corrections to the paragraph numbers in the Committee report and that the 
heritage assessment should refer to section 196 of the National Planning 
Framework and not the Planning Act.  
 
James Woolway (Senior Planning Officer (East Team) introduced the report, 
advising of the character of the site,  the surrounding area and the key 
features of the scheme. There had been extensive consultation. 24 letters of 
objection had been received. The issues raised were noted around such 
matters as  sunlight and daylight impacts, increased Anti – Social Behaviour 

Page 10



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

(ASB) , bulk scale and massing. 83 representations in support were also 
received. In terms of the land use, the scheme would provide over 1,500sqm 
of commercial and retail spaces spread throughout the scheme, creating new 
jobs. This had been supported by a Retail Impact Assessment showing that 
the proposals would not undermine nearby centres. This was strongly 
supported 
 
The plans sought to deliver new homes, including a policy compliant mix of 
affordable housing at 35% with a 70:30 split in favour of social rented tenure. 
(263 new affordable homes within the scheme). The affordable housing would 
be truly integrated into the scheme. Officers were mindful of the shortfall of 
family housing in the private housing mix. However, on balance it was felt that 
the overall housing mix was acceptable. 
 
The quality of the accommodation would be high. The development would 
also provide generous levels of play space, communal amenity space and 
publicly accessible open space. The residents of all the tenures would have 
access to the bulk of the communal amenity space. The level of child play 
space met policy requirements and there would be an off site contribution for 
works to offset this shortfall. 
 
The scheme would deliver a number of other benefits and this included: 
• A 2FE primary school or an alternative community use that would be 

secured by the s106. 
• The delivery of a ‘Community Hub’ within the primary plot on site which 

will allow for public access and utility for local residents in addition to 
those of Blackwall Yard.   

• The provision of a Multi – Use Games Area (MUGA) to allow for 
external access out of hours. 

• Restoration and enhancement of the Grade II Listed Blackwall Yard 
Graving Dock which has not benefitted from public access for a 
considerable length of time. 

• Improved linkages and public access through the site. 
• Biodiversity enhancements, including the provision of new trees and 

meadow land 
 
Careful consideration had been given to the heritage assessment. Overall, 
Officers considered that on balance the likely planning benefits of the 
proposal would outweigh the less than substantial harm to heritage assets. 
The application had been accompanied by a detailed heritage assessment.  
 
It was also confirmed that 5 buildings would be provided, at heights ranging 
from 9 and 39 storeys. The approach in terms of cascading the buildings 
complied with policy whilst maximising the development potential of the site. 
The development would be of a high quality design. Details of the design 
features were noted. These sought to reflect the heritage of the site.  
 
The plans would not result in any undue impacts in terms of overlooking and 
privacy due to the separation distances. The scheme would cause some 
daylight and sunlight impacts to neighbouring properties.  Details of these 

Page 11



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

were noted including the impacts to John Smith Mews. It was also confirmed 
that in some cases, the presence of existing site constraints  (such as 
balconies) already restricted sunlight and daylight levels to properties. It was 
also noted that the scheme had been carefully designed in such a way to 
minimise the impacts. It was also noted that some impacts to these properties 
were inevitable with any development of the site given the vacant nature of 
the site and the proximity of these properties to the site. Overall, the harm 
caused by the development must be balanced against the site allocation 
requirements and the public benefits. Taking this into account, officers 
considered this on balance to be acceptable. 
 
In transport terms, the proposal was considered to be acceptable, given that 
the plans sought to promote substantiable transport. 
 
The environmental impacts had been carefully assessed, and appropriate 
mitigations and monitoring measures will be secured. 
 
Details of the financial and non - financial contributions were also noted, and 
that the development would be liable for Tower Hamlets Community 
Infrastructure Levy payments. 
 
Officers were recommending that the application was granted.  
 
Councillor Ehtasham Haque, a ward Councillor addressed the Committee, in 
support of the application. He declared an interest as his wife Councillor 
Sabina Akhtar was a Member of the Strategic Development Committee. He 
spoke in support of the application on the grounds that:   
 
• This was an important addition to the Island, in particular he welcomed 

the plans to improve permeability and connections.  
• It would provide much needed public open space 
• He was pleased to see that the applicant had engaged with the 

community including the residents most affected. He welcomed their 
commitment to creating a single community and to continuing to 
engage with the residents most affected.  

• He welcomed the level of SME and start up business space.  
 
The Committee asked a number of questions of officers around the following 
issues. 
 
• The plans to provide a Community Hub. The Committee sought 

assurances regarding: it’s availability to everyone in the community, the 
affordability of the rent levels and hire costs and how this would be 
monitored. Clarity was also sought about its ownership and the 
management arrangements. 

• Members also welcomed the proposal to open the MUGA/ sports 
pitches out of school hours and sought assurances on how this would 
be managed and secured. 

• In response Officer provided further details of the community hub, to be 
located in plot 1 (as a private block rather than a community centre). 

Page 12



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

The applicant would own the hub and the MUGA - with the aspiration of 
making it as accessible as possible to the wider community and 
providing a public utility for local residents. They would also be required 
to provide the fit out costs for the Community Hub. Regarding the 
MUGA, an operator had yet to be appointed however it was expected 
that they will work with the Applicant to facilitate public access. 

• This offer by the applicant went above and beyond the site allocation 
requirements. The Committee may however add an additional 
condition regarding the Community Hub covering such issues as public 
access, rent levels, the review arrangements and that it be secured for 
the lifetime of the development.  

• The concerns around increased ASB from the public house and use of 
the Thames Pathway given its proximity to residential development. It 
was noted that the hours of operation of the public house would be 
controlled by condition. Conditions would also be secured to ensure 
that the development would be Secure by Design, and to require that a  
lighting strategy would be submitted to prevent light spillage to the 
river, whilst illuminating the area.  

• It was also proposed that a Management Strategy be submitted 
detailing the opening hours of Meridian Gardens. 

• It was also envisaged that the development should improve passive 
overlooking of the Thames Pathway. 

• Public safety issues in relation to outdoor swimming. It was noted that 
safety measures would be secured to manage this issue  

• The off – site contribution for play space and the 5 year maintenance 
obligation.  The Committee noted the proposed maintenance 
arrangements, following the expiry of this 5 year period. 

• The measures to provide a tenure blind development. It was noted that 
whilst the Council had limited control over the internal features, the 
accommodation should be of the same high standard especially given 
the provision of mixed tenure cores in this case.   

• The heritage assessment, particularly the comments from Historic 
England regarding the need to reveal more of the Grade 11 Listed 
Graving Dock. Officers had carefully looked at this issue with the 
relevant experts. Overall, taking into account the limited benefits of this 
request, and the negative consequences  (in terms of the public 
benefits), officers felt that it would not be reasonable to request this. 
The public benefits of the scheme were considered to outweigh any 
harm to the dock. 

• The need for the new school in view of the pupil projections. It was 
noted that the projections supplied by the LBTH Education Team 
showed that a new school would need to be provided - around the time 
this development would be built out.  

• A condition would also be included in the s106 to require that should a 
school no longer need to be provided, a community use will be 
provided. Details of which would need to be approved by the Council. 

• The management of the proposed stack parking system.  The 
Committee sought assurances around this and agreed to add an 
additional condition as set out in the resolutions below. 

Page 13



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
14/07/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

• The affordability of the commercial rent levels for local businesses and 
SMEs. It was questioned if a percentage of the space could be offered 
at discount rates to local businesses.  It was noted that due to the scale 
and location of the business space, that it should attract SMEs and that 
it should lend itself to SMEs. It was also noted due to the quantum of 
such space to be provided, that it did not meet the criteria in policy for 
requiring this. 

 
Councillor Sabina Akhtar moved and Councillor Abdul Mukit MBE seconded 
an additional condition regarding the management of the Community Hub 
which is detailed below. This was agreed. 
 
Councillor Val Whitehead moved and Councillor Kahar Chowdhury seconded 
an additional non financial contribution regarding the ongoing maintenance of 
the parking stacking system and this was agreed.  
 
On a unanimous vote the Committee RESOLVED:  
 
1. That subject to any direction by the Mayor of London, conditional 

planning permission and listed building consent is GRANTED subject 
to the prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the planning 
obligations set out in the committee report including the additional non - 
financial obligation agreed by the Committee regarding the 
maintenance of the parking stacking system for the lifetime of the 
development  

 
2. That the Corporate Director of Place is delegated the power to 

negotiate the legal agreement. If within three months of the resolution 
the legal agreement has not been completed, the Corporate Director 
for Place is delegated power to refuse planning permission. 

 
3. That the Corporate Director of Place is delegated the power to impose 

planning and listed building conditions and informatives to address the 
matters set out in the report including the additional condition agreed 
by the Committee regarding the Community Hub covering the 
following: 

 
The submission of strategy including details of the 
• Rents levels. 
• The booking process.  
• Public access 
A requirement to submit an annual monitoring report to review the above. 
 
That the Community Hub be secured for the lifetime of the development. 
 

The meeting ended at 8.00 p.m.  
 

Chair,  
Strategic Development Committee 

 

Page 14



 

DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE  

Report of the Corporate Director of Place          Classification: Unrestricted    

Guidance for Development Committee/Strategic Development Committee 
Meetings. 

 
 

Who can speak at Committee meetings?  
Members of the public and Councillors may request to speak on applications for decision 
(Part 6 of the agenda). All requests must be sent direct to the Committee Officer shown on 
the front of the agenda by the deadline – 4pm one clear working day before the meeting.  
Requests should be sent in writing (e-mail) or by telephone detailing the name and contact 
details of the speaker and whether they wish to speak in support or against. Requests 
cannot be accepted before agenda publication. Speaking is not normally allowed on 
deferred items or applications which are not for decision by the Committee.  
 
The following may register to speak per application in accordance with the above rules: 

Up to two objectors 
on a first come first 
served basis. 

For up to three minutes each.  

Committee/Non 
Committee Members. 

 For up to three minutes each - in support or against.  

Applicant/ 
supporters.  
 
This includes: 
an agent or 
spokesperson.  
 
Members of the 
public in support   

Shall be entitled to an equal time to that given to any objector/s. 
For example: 

 Three minutes for one objector speaking.  

 Six minutes for two objectors speaking. 

 Additional three minutes for any Committee and non 
Committee Councillor speaking in objection.  
 

It shall be at the discretion of the applicant to allocate these 
supporting time slots.  

What if no objectors register to speak against an applicant for decision?  
The applicant or their supporter(s) will not be expected to address the Committee should 
no objectors register to speak and where Officers are recommending approval. However, 
where Officers are recommending refusal of the application and there are no objectors or 
members registered, the applicant or their supporter(s) may address the Committee for 3 
minutes. 
 
The Chair may vary the speaking rules and the order of speaking in the interest of natural 
justice or in exceptional circumstances.  
 
Committee Members may ask points of clarification of speakers following their speech.  
Apart from this, speakers will not normally participate any further. Speakers are asked to 
arrive at the start of the meeting in case the order of business is changed by the Chair. If 
speakers are not present by the time their application is heard, the Committee may 
consider the item in their absence.  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



This guidance is a précis of the full speaking rules that can be found on the Committee and 
Member Services webpage: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee under Council 
Constitution, Part C Section 35 Planning Code of Conduct  

 
What can be circulated?  
Should you wish to submit a representation or petition, please contact the planning officer 
whose name appears on the front of the report in respect of the agenda item. Any 
representations or petitions should be submitted no later than noon the working day before 
the committee meeting for summary in the update report that is tabled at the committee 
meeting. No written material (including photos) may be circulated at the Committee meeting 
itself by members of the public including public speakers. 

 
How will the applications be considered?  
The Committee will normally consider the items in agenda order subject to the Chair’s 
discretion.  The procedure for considering applications for decision shall be as follows: 
Note: there is normally no further public speaking on deferred items or other planning 
matters 

(1) Officers will introduce the item with a brief description.  
(2) Officers will present the report supported by a presentation.  
(3) Any objections that have registered to speak to address the Committee  
(4) The applicant and or any supporters that have registered to speak to address 

the Committee  
(5) Committee and non- Committee Member(s) that have registered to speak to 

address the Committee  
(6) The Committee may ask points of clarification of each speaker. 
(7) The Committee will consider the item (questions and debate). 
(8) The Committee will reach a decision. 

 
Should the Committee be minded to make a decision contrary to the Officer 
recommendation and the Development Plan, the item will normally be deferred to a future 
meeting with a further Officer report detailing the implications for consideration. 

 
How can I find out about a decision?  
You can contact Democratic Services the day after the meeting to find out the decisions. 
The decisions will also be available on the Council’s website shortly after the meeting.  
 
For queries on reports please contact the Officer named on the front of the report. 

Deadlines. 
To view the schedule of deadlines for meetings (including those for 
agenda papers and speaking at meetings) visit the agenda management 
timetable, part of the Committees web pages.  
Visit www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee - search for relevant 
Committee, then ‘browse meetings and agendas’ then ‘agenda 
management timetable’. 

 
Scan this code to 
view the 
Committee 
webpages.  

The Rules of Procedures for the Committee are as follows: 

 Development Committee Procedural Rules – Part C of the 
Council’s Constitution Section 35 Appendix B. 

 Terms of Reference for the Development Committee - Part B of the 
Council’s Constitution Section 19 (7).  

 
Council’s 
Constitution  

 

Page 16

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.C%20Section%2035
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.C%20Section%2035
http://moderngov.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=320
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


Public Information – Accessing and Participating in the Meeting 

The meeting will be held at the Council’s Town Hall as a socially distanced meeting, 

combining ‘in person attendance (Committee Members and certain Officers) with 

remote attendance through a Microsoft Teams meeting. The ways of speaking at the 

meeting are set out below, including the option of in person attendance, and if not 

possible, contributing by alternative ways. 

You are encouraged to watch the meeting live via our Webcasting portal 
https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home. The meeting will also be available 
for viewing after the meeting. This meeting is open to the public, but due to the 
restrictions on capacity relating to the Covid – 19 pandemic, you must contact the 
Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place at the meeting, to be allocated on 
a first come first served based.  Availability of seating for the public observing the 
meeting and the press will be extremely limited. No one will be admitted who has not 
registered in advance. 
 

The following guidance provides details about the operation of the Committee 

Meetings under the current restrictions. 

How can I register to speak and address the Committee? 

Members of the public and Councillors may address the meeting in accordance with 

the Development Committee Procedure Rules. (Details of the process are set out on 

the next page).  

Should you wish to address the Committee, please contact the Democratic Services 

Officer, shown on the front page, to register to speak by the deadline. You may 

address the meeting in person at the committee meeting. If you are not able to do 

so, you may contribute by remote means through the Microsoft Teams meeting 

element– by the video link or by dialling in. Should you require assistance with this, 

please contact the Democratic Services Officer, who can help you join the meeting, 

including providing advice on the etiquette for addressing via virtual means. 

You may also wish to consider whether you could be represented by a Ward 

Councillor or another spokesperson. You may also submit a written representation 

for summary in the Committee update report to be submitted 12noon the date before 

the meeting. 

Procedure at the Committee meeting. 

The Chair will formally open the meeting and will introduce themselves and the 

participants, including the Committee Members and Officers present in person and 

the attendees present by virtual means.  

The standard format for considering each planning application shall be as follows, 

however the Chair may vary the order for hearing the application in specific 

circumstances.  

 

 Officers will introduce the item with a brief description, and mention any 

update report that has been published. 

 Officers will present the application supported by a presentation  

 Any objectors that have registered to speak to address the Committee, either 

in person or by virtual means. 

Page 17

https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 The applicant or any supporters that have registered to speak to address the 

Committee, either in person or by virtual means. 

 Committee and Non Committee Members that have registered to speak to 

address the Committee. 

 The Committee may ask points of clarification of each speaker. 

 The Committee will consider the item (Questions and Debate) 

 Voting. At the end of the item, the Chair will ask the Committee to vote on the 

item.  

 The Lead Planning Officer will confirm the results to the Chair.  

 

Electronic copies of the agenda papers, including the update report and 

planning files  

To access the documents, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. Copies of the Committee agenda are 
published at least five working days before the meeting. A Committee update report 
is normally also published the day of the meeting. 
 

A link to the electronic planning file can be found on the top of the Committee report. 

Should you require any further information or assistance with accessing the files, you 

are advised to contact the Planning Case Officer. 

 

For Further Information, contact the Democratic Services Officer shown on the 

agenda front sheet.  
 

Page 18

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 

 

DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE  

Report of the Corporate Director of Place          Classification: Unrestricted    

Advice on Planning Applications for Decision 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning applications for determination by the 
Committee. Although the reports are ordered by application number, the Chair may reorder 
the agenda on the night. If you wish to be present for a particular application you need to be at 
the meeting from the beginning. 

1.2 The following information and advice applies to all those reports. 

2. FURTHER INFORMATION 

2.1 Members are informed that all letters of representation and petitions received in relation to the 
items on this part of the agenda can be made available for inspection at the meeting. 

2.2 Members are informed that any further letters of representation, petitions or other matters 
received since the publication of this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be 
reported to the Committee in an Addendum Update Report. 

2.3 ADVICE OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR, GOVERNANCE 

3.1 This is general advice to the Committee which will be supplemented by specific advice at the 
meeting as appropriate.  The Committee is required to determine planning applications in 
accordance with the Development Plan and other material planning considerations. Virtually 
all planning decisions involve some kind of balancing exercise and the law sets out how this 
balancing exercise is to be undertaken.  After conducting the balancing exercise, the 
Committee is able to make a decision within the spectrum allowed by the law.  The decision 
as to whether to grant or refuse planning permission is governed by section 70(2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA 1990).  This section requires the Committee to have 
regard to: 

‒ the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application;  

‒ any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and  

‒ to any other material considerations. 

3.2 What does it mean that Members must have regard to the Development Plan?  Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 explains that having regard to the 
Development Plan means deciding in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  If the Development Plan is up to date and contains 
material policies (policies relevant to the application) and there are no other material 
considerations, the application should be determined in accordance with the Development 
Plan.   
 
The Local Development Plan and Other Material Considerations  

3.3 The relevant Development Plan policies against which the Committee is required to consider 
each planning application are to be found in:  

‒ The London Plan 2016; 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

‒ The Tower Hamlets Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2025 adopted in 
2010; and 

‒ The Managing Development Document adopted in 2013. 

3.4 The Planning Officer’s report for each application directs Members to those parts of the 
Development Plan which are material to each planning application, and to other material 
considerations.  National Policy as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
(NPPF) and the Government’s online Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) are both material 
considerations.  

3.5 One such consideration is emerging  planning policy such as the Council’s Local Plan1 and 
the Mayor of London’s New London Plan2  The degree of weight which may be attached to 
emerging policies (unless material considerations indicate otherwise) depends on the stage of 
preparation of the emerging Development Plan, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections to the relevant policies, and the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the 
draft plan to the policies in the framework.  As emerging planning policy progresses through 
formal stages prior to adoption, it accrues weight for the purposes of determining planning 
applications (NPPF, paragraph 48). 

3.6 Having reached an advanced stage in the preparation process, the Local Plan now carries 
more weight as a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 
However, the policies will not carry full weight until the Local Plan has been formally adopted.  
The New London Plan is at a less advanced stage of the adoption process. 

3.7 The purpose of a Planning Officer's report is not to decide the issue for the Committee, but to 
inform Members of the considerations relevant to their decision making and to give advice on 
and recommend what decision Members may wish to take.  Part of a Planning Officer's expert 
function in reporting to the Committee is to make an assessment of how much information to 
include in the report.  Applicants and objectors may also want to direct Members to other 
provisions of the Development Plan (or other material considerations) which they believe to be 
material to the application.   

3.8 The purpose of Planning Officer’s report is to summarise and analyse those representations, 
to report them fairly and accurately and to advise Members what weight (in their professional 
opinion) to give those representations.  

3.9 Ultimately it is for Members to decide whether the application is in accordance with the 
Development Plan and if there are any other material considerations which need to be 
considered. 
 
Local Finance Considerations 

3.10 Section 70(2) of the TCPA 1990 provides that a local planning authority shall have regard to a 
local finance consideration as far as it is material in dealing with the application.  Section 70(4) 
of the TCPA 1990defines a local finance consideration and both New Homes Bonus payments 
(NHB) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) fall within this definition.   

                                            
1
The Tower Hamlets Local Plan 2031: Managing Growth and Sharing the Benefits’ was submitted to the Secretary of state for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government to undergo an examination in public on 28 February 2018. As part of the 
examination process, the planning inspector held a series of hearing sessions from 6 September to 11 October 2018 to discuss 
the soundness of the Local Plan. The planning inspector has  put forward a series of modifications as part of the examination 
process in order to make it sound and legally compliant.  These modifications are out to consultation for a 6 week period from 25 
March 2019. 

 
  

 
2
 The draft New London Plan was published for public consultation in December 2017,  The examination in public commenced on 

15
 
January 2019 and is scheduled until mid to late May 2019. 

Page 20



 

3.11 Although NHB and CIL both qualify as “local finance considerations, the key question is 
whether they are "material" to the specific planning application under consideration. 

3.12 The prevailing view is that in some cases CIL and NHB can lawfully be taken into account as 
a material consideration where there is a direct connection between the intended use of the 
CIL or NHB and the proposed development.  However to be a ‘material consideration’, it must 
relate to the planning merits of the development in question. 

3.13 Accordingly, NHB or CIL money will be 'material' to the planning application, when reinvested 
in the local areas in which the developments generating the money are to be located, or when 
used for specific projects or infrastructure items which are likely to affect the operation or 
impact on the development.  Specific legal advice will be given during the consideration of 
each application as required. 
 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

3.14 Under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works, the local planning authority 
must have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  

3.15 Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
buildings or its setting, the local planning authority must have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic interest it 
possesses.  

3.16 Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development in a conservation area, the 
local planning authority must pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.  
 
Trees and Natural Environment 

3.17 Under Section 197 of the TCPA 1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
any development, the local planning authority must ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that 
adequate provision is made, by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of 
trees.  

3.18 Under Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (Duty to 
conserve biodiversity), the local authority “must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far 
as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity”. 
 
Crime and Disorder 

3.19 Under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act (1998) (Duty to consider crime and disorder 
implications), the local authority has a “duty …..to exercise its various functions with due 
regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it 
reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment)…”  
 
Transport Strategy 

3.20 Section 144 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999, requires local planning authorities to 
have regard to the London Mayor’s Transport strategy. 
 

Page 21



 

Equalities and Human Rights 

3.21 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (Public Sector Equality Duty) (Equality Act) provides 
that in exercising its functions (which includes the functions exercised by the Council as Local 
Planning Authority), that the Council as a public authority shall amongst other duties have due 
regard to the need to- 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited under the Equality Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

3.22 The protected characteristics set out in Section 4 of the Equality Act are: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  The Equality Act acknowledges that compliance with the 
duties set out may involve treating some persons more favourably than others, but that this 
does not permit conduct that would otherwise be prohibited under the Equality Act. 

3.23 The Human Rights Act 1998, sets out the basic rights of every person together with the 
limitations placed on these rights in the public interest. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a 
way which is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. Members need to 
satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are acceptable and that any 
potential interference with Article 8 rights will be legitimate and justified.  Both public and 
private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the Council's planning 
authority's powers and duties.  Any interference with a Convention right must be necessary 
and proportionate.  Members having regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, to take into 
account any interference with private property rights protected by the European Convention 
on Human Rights and ensure that the interference is proportionate and in the public interest. 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

3.24 The process of Environmental Impact Assessment is governed by the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (2017 Regulations). Subject 
to certain transitional arrangements set out in regulation 76 of the 2017 Regulations, the 2017 
regulations revoke the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2011 (2011 Regulations).  

3.25 The aim of Environmental Impact Assessment is to protect the environment by ensuring that a 
local planning authority when deciding whether to grant planning permission for a project, 
which is likely to have significant effects on the environment, does so in the full knowledge of 
the likely significant effects, and takes this into account in the decision making process. The 
2017 Regulations set out a procedure for identifying those projects which should be subject to 
an Environmental Impact Assessment, and for assessing, consulting and coming to a decision 
on those projects which are likely to have significant environmental effects. 

3.26 The Environmental Statement, together with any other information which is relevant to the 
decision, and any comments and representations made on it, must be taken into account by 
the local planning authority in deciding whether or not to grant consent for the development. 
 
Third Party Representations 

3.27 Under section 71(2)(a) of the TCPA 1990and article 33(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Committee is required, to 

Page 22



 

take into account any representations made within specified time limits.  The Planning Officer 
report directs Members to those representations and provides a summary.  In some cases, 
those who have made representations will have the opportunity to address the Committee at 
the meeting. 
 
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing 

3.28 Amenity impacts resulting from loss of daylight and sunlight or an increase in overshadowing 
are a common material planning consideration. Guidance on assessment of daylight and 
sunlight is provided by the ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ 2011 by BRE (the 
BRE Guide). The BRE Guide is purely advisory and an appropriate degree of flexibility needs 
to be applied when using the BRE Guide.  

3.29 There are two methods of assessment of impact on daylighting: the vertical sky component 
(VSC) and no sky line (NSL). The BRE Guide specifies that both the amount of daylight (VSC) 
and its distribution (NSL) are important. According to the BRE Guide, reductions in daylighting 
would be noticeable to occupiers when, as a result of development: 

a) The VSC measured at the centre of an existing main window is less than 27%, and 
less than 0.8 times its former value; and 

b) The area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct skylight is reduced to 
less than 0.8 times its former value. 

3.30 The BRE Guide states that sunlight availability would be adversely affected if the centre of a 
window receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours or less than 5% of probably 
sunlight hours between 21 September and 21 March and receives less than 0.8 times its 
former sunlight hours during either period and has a reduction in sunlight over the whole year 
of over 4%.  

3.31 For overshadowing, the BRE Guide recommends that at least 50% of the area of each 
amenity space should receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21st March with ratio of 0.8 
times the former value being noticeably adverse. 

3.32 Specific legal advice will be given in relation to each application as required. 
 
General comments 

3.33 Members are reminded that other areas of legislation cover aspects of building and 
construction and therefore do not need to be considered as part of determining a planning 
application.  Specific legal advice will be given should any of that legislation be raised in 
discussion.  

3.34 The Committee has several choices when considering each planning application: 

‒ To grant planning permission unconditionally; 

‒ To grant planning permission with conditions; 

‒ To refuse planning permission; or 

‒ To defer the decision for more information (including a site visit). 

4.  PUBLIC SPEAKING 

4.1 The Council’s constitution allows for public speaking on these items in accordance with the 
rules set out in the constitution and the Committee’s procedures. These are set out at the 
Agenda Item: Recommendations and Procedure for Hearing Objections and Meeting 
Guidance.  

Page 23



 

5.  RECOMMENDATION 

5.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports. 

Page 24



 

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 18/08/2021 

Report of the Corporate Director of 
Place         

 

Classification: Unrestricted    

   

 

 

Application for Planning Permission 

 

click here for case file 

Reference PA/20/01402  

Site 2 Trafalgar Way, London, E14 5SP 

Ward Blackwall and Cubitt Town 

Proposal Redevelopment of the site to provide a new mixed use building 
including student accommodation units and associated uses (Sui 
Generis), residential units (Class C3), office (Class B1), shops/cafes 
(Class A1/A3) and a restaurant/takeaway (Class A3/A5) arranged over 
a 4 storey podium with three taller elements of 46, 36 and 28 storeys 
(with roof-top plant and basements), alongside parking, landscaping, 
public realm and other associated works.  
 
This application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement. 
 
 

Summary 
Recommendation 

Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions and a legal 
agreement 

Applicant Urbanest UK Limited 

Architect/agent APT/Gerald Eve LLP 

Case Officer Sally Fraser 

Key dates Application validated 02/07/2020 
Public consultation finished on 03/09/2020 
Additional consultation finished on 04/06/2021 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The application proposes the erection of three buildings of 46, 36 and 28 stories linked by 
four storey podium, accommodating 1672 student rooms (use class sui generis) and 80 
residential units for members of University College London (hereafter UCL) academic and 
professional staff (use class C3) alongside parking, landscaping, public realm and other 
associated works. The scheme also includes a range of uses across the lower levels 
including B1, A1/A3 and A3/A5 units. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5.1



The proposal would comprise UCL’s leading accommodation campus in East London while 
seeking to integrate seamlessly with the infrastructure and road network within the existing 
and future context. 
 
In land use terms, the proposed student led mixed use scheme is acceptable in this highly 
accessible location close to Blackwall DLR Station, Canary Wharf underground station and 
the emerging Crossrail station.  
 
With regards to the site’s environmental conditions, student accommodation, housing, 
commercial and retail is considered an effective use of the site given the air quality 
conditions and immediate adjacency to Aspen Way and the elevated DLR viaduct to the 
south of the site. 
 
The proposed wider public realm and highways improvements would positively and 
significantly contribute towards the renewal of the area and would integrate with the 
obligations of Blackwall Reach, Phase 1.  The regeneration of the underpass is a 
considerable public benefit which will enhance legibility, safety and urban design within the 
locality. 
 
The buildings, in terms of their height, massing and design, respond appropriately to their 
context and although outside a Tall Building Zone, will not result in harmful impacts to 
heritage assets, locally or strategically. To the contrary, the proposed buildings have been 
thoughtfully designed and are of high architectural quality.  They would contribute positively 
to an existing diverse townscape, creating a landmark building and prestigious entrance to 
Canary Wharf.  
 
Daylight and sunlight impacts to neighbouring occupiers are minor to moderate.  Overall and 
given the urban context of the site, the proposal would have an acceptable impact on 
neighbouring residential amenity.  
 
The proposed highway improvement works, new subway entrance and associated 
operational infrastructure have been developed in consultation with Transport for London, 
the GLA and Borough Highways Officers and will be provided within the proposal and 
secured in perpetuity by way of S278 and S106 legal agreements. 
 
The proposal would provide a substantial amount of student housing, housing, and 
workspace, as well as a revitalised subway entrance that would link Blackwall to Poplar High 
Street. This would contribute positively to the regeneration of the area and be in line with the 
local and strategic objectives for the site. 
 
A strategy for minimising carbon dioxide emissions from the development is in compliance 
with policy requirements, with a substantive carbon offset contribution to be secured within 
the S106. 
 
Biodiversity enhancements are also proposed which are considered sufficient to meet policy 
requirements, with the comprehensive landscaping of the site positively contributing towards 
ecology. 
 
The scheme would be liable to both the Mayor of London’s and the Borough’s community 
infrastructure levy. In addition, it would provide a necessary and reasonable planning 
obligation to local employment and training.  

Page 26



SITE PLAN 

 
 

 

Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey, London Borough of Tower Hamlets 100019288 

 

Planning Applications Site Map 
PA/20/01402 

 
This site map displays the Planning 
Application Site Boundary and the extent 
of the area within which neighbouring 
occupiers / owners were consulted as 
part of the Planning Application Process 

London Borough 
of Tower Hamlets 

 Scale: 50m grid squares 
Date: 18 August 
2021 

 

 

Page 27



 
1  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS  

 
1.1 This island site is located on the north side of Trafalgar Way, totalling 0.4 hectares.  It is 

located to the north east of Canary Wharf, south of the Blackwall Tunnel. The site is 
currently cleared for development having been previously occupied by a MacDonald’s 
restaurant and drive-thru takeaway facility which was demolished in 2015 
 

1.2 To the north of the site is Aspen Way and the raised DLR railway line, and further north is 
Poplar High Street, which is predominately residential in character with a large commercial 
complex to the north east. To the south of the site lies Trafalgar Way and further south are 
the residential properties along Boardwalk Place, the Poplar Dock marina and the Blackwall 
Basin. To the west is the Billingsgate Market site; and to the east is Preston’s Road 
Roundabout and a mix of residential and commercial floorspace (office and retail) as well as 
a hotel. Blackwell DLR station is located close to the site, to it’s the north-east. A pedestrian 
underpass tunnel is located directly east of the site underneath Prestons Road roundabout, 
which links Blackwall DLR station/Poplar High Street to the Poplar Dock Marina.  

 
1.3 In terms of the Local Plan’s designations, the site lies within the Isle of Dogs and South 

Poplar Opportunity Area, the Blackwall Archaeological Priority Area, an area of poor air 
quality (40 micrograms per cubic metre) and Flood Risk Zone 3A.  

 
1.4 Whilst the site does not fall within any significant policy designation (town centre, 

employment or commercial area), the site lies adjacent to the Billingsgate Market site which 
is allocated within the Local Plan. The site is also located just outside the Borough’s Tall 
Building Zone and adjoins the Secondary Preferred Office Location and the Isle of Dogs 
Activity Area. The Canary Wharf Metropolitan Town Centre lies further to the south-west 

 

 

 

 
1.5 Along with the site allocations of Billingsgate Market, North Quay and Aspen Way, the site is 

located within the South Poplar Masterplan red line boundary which has recently been 

Figure 1: Image of application site (red line) and surroundings  

Page 28



adopted. The Masterplan seeks to ensure that development across the area occurs in a 
holistic, joined up way and the Local Plan’s aspirations are achieved. 

 
1.6 The site does not lie within a Conservation Area does nor does it contain any listed 

buildings. However, four conservation areas are located within around 250m of the site: 
Coldharbour Conservation Area to the south, St. Matthias Church Conservations Area to the 
north west, All Saints Church Poplar Conservation Area to the north and Naval Row 
Conservation Area to the north east. There are also several listed buildings and structures 
near to the site including the Grade I listed West India Dock and Blackwall Basin, Grade II 
structures associated with Poplar Dock and several churches in the district of Poplar. 

 
1.7 The prevailing PTAL of the site is 5 (very good), with the closest public transport interchange 

being the Black Wall DLR to the northas well as a number of local bus routes running along 
Trafalgar Way and Poplar High Street. The Canary Wharf underground station is located 0.6 
miles south of the site, with the future Crossrail site being located 500m away to the west.  

2. PROPOSAL 

2.1 The scheme proposes the redevelopment of the site with a student accommodation-led, 
mixed-use scheme. It comprises of three towers of 46, 36 and 28 storeys high, which sit on 
top of a 4 storey podium. It is proposed to include 1672 student rooms across the two taller 
towers, which include facilities such as post services, staff services a gymnasium and 
breakout space.  In addition, 80 residential units are proposed within the smaller tower, 
including children’s play space and private entrance. A range of non-residential uses across 
the lower podium levels are proposed, including B1, A1/A3 uses and the re provision of the 
Drive Thru MacDonald’s (A3/A5) along with associated parking, landscaping and public 
realm works. 
 

The details of the scheme are as follows: 
 

 Erection of a four storey podium building with three taller elements of 28  storeys / 
+93.50m AOD (Building 1), 46 storeys / +141.70m AOD (Building 2) and 36 storeys / 
+113.35m AOD (Building 3); the three taller elements will have their own cores and 
be linked by the shared podium, with Buildings 2 and 3 also being linked by a ‘sky-
bridge’ at level 10; 

 Provision of a range of uses at the lower levels including: Class B1, Class A1/A3 and 
Class A3/A5; 

 80 residential apartments in the form of 1-3 beds within Building 1, proposed to be let 
to members of UCL’s academic and professional staff (comprising a range of unit 
sizes) including a cash Payment in Lieu equivalent to 35% 

 1,672 student accommodation units (various sizes) split across Buildings 2 and 3 of 
which 24.3% will be provided as affordable; 

 4,127 sq m (GIA) of commercial space; 

 135 sq m (GIA) of retail space; 

 3,650 sq m (GIA) of student amenity space; 

 1,036 sq m (GIA) for the re-provided McDonald’s drive thru restaurant; 

 The provision of 2 Car parking spaces and 4 Disabled Car Parking spaces 

 The provision of refuse and recycling spaces 

 The provision of 1492 no Cycle Parking spaces 

 Active frontages along Aspen Way and Trafalgar Way; 

 Improved accessibility and connections across the site and wider area including the 
improvement of the southern subway entrance on Trafalgar Way; and 

Page 29



 Significant public realm improvements 
 

 

Figure 2: Ariel Image of the application looking north  

2.2 The principal design element of the scheme are the three soft rectangular tower elements 
clad in horizontal bands of glass and metal. The metal banding is perforated (holes) to allow 
for increased light penetration into the building as well as being an interesting feature. 
Unique building projections between the towers provide added visual interest as well as 
accommodating sky gardens. Two podiums linking the buildings complete the tower design 
which accommodates amenity space, including the children’s play area and a crèche. In 
terms of uses, the ground floor comprises student/residential access and servicing areas, as 
well as being the location for the commercial units, including the McDonald’s restaurant 
which is provided.  

2.3 Servicing and delivery for the commercial and residential units would be managed within the 
site at ground floor level which would accommodate a range of vehicle types.  

Floorspace Summary 

2.4  A summary of the proposed land uses and associated areas (GIA) are set out in the Table 1 
below: 

 

Table 1: Land Use Breakdown 

Page 30



2.5 The proposed student accommodation split is set out in the schedule below: 

 

Table 2: Student Rooms Breakdown 

2.6 The proposed residential accommodation split is set out in the schedule below: 

 

Table 3: Residential Rooms Breakdown 

 

3.  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 Applications 

3.1 PA/08/01321: Redevelopment of the site to provide a residential-led mixed use scheme 
including two towers of 29 storey and 35 storeys and comprising 414 residential units, re-
provision of drive-through restaurant, retail / financial and professional service units, crèche, 
gymnasium, associated residential and community amenity space and car parking. 
Approved 10/11/2009 

Page 31



3.2 Following the grant of planning permission, a number of non-material amendment 
applications were approved (refs: PA/11/03346 dated 19/12/2011, PA/13/02453 
dated 12/11/2013 and PA/14/00062 dated 01/10/2014) relating to minor internal and 
external alterations to the approved scheme and amending the trigger points for 
various planning conditions. 

3.3 PA/14/01771: Application for minor-material amendment of planning permission 
PA/08/01321 dated 10/11/2009 (and as amended by NMA applications PA/11/03346 dated 
19/12/2011, PA/13/02453 dated 12/11/2013 and PA/14/00062 dated 01/10/2014). The 
amendments consist of an increase in the height of building A (by 3.9m) and building B (by 
5.1m), removal of building C, alterations to the housing mix and layouts, reduction in the 
number of residential units from 414 to 392, alterations to the facades of the buildings, and 
increase in the size of the basement. Approved 09/12/2014 

3.4 PA/14/03612: Application for a Non-material amendment to Planning Permission Ref: 
PA/14/01771 dated 09/12/14 (and as amended by NMAs PA/11/3346 dated 19/12/11; 
PA/13/2453 dated 12/11/13; and PA/14/00062 dated 01/10/14). 
amendments: 
- alterations of boundary position to allow construction tolerance for boundary wall; 
- internal re-configuration of playground; 
- amendment to service yard entrance to allow feasible door opening widths and 
construction tolerance; 
- update to external fenestration as a result of detailed design; 
- reduction of basement footprint to avoid encroaching sewer easement zone; 
- relocation of bikes from basement to ground floor; 
- reconfiguration of internal circulation on ground floor, mezzanine and podium; 
- amendment to building line at mezzanine floor to increase pool plant area; 
- fire fighting lift brought up to level 28 and level 34 in each tower to allow wheelchair access. 
which resultant lift overrun increase 1.4m; 
- increase in amenity areas on level 28 and level 34 of each tower due to reduction in plant 
area required at roof level; 
- enclosure of a section of roof terrace on level 34 
 

3.5 PA/15/02861: Application for certificate of lawfulness in respect of existing implementation of 
Planning Permission reference PA/14/01771 (as amended by PA/14/03612) through: • 
construction of part of the permanent capping beam and part of the guide wall that will 
comprise part of the permanent foundations of the approved development (subject of 
Certificate of Lawful Development Reference PA/14/01914); and • crossover implementation 
works to construct a reconfirmed access onto Trafalgar Way (Certificate of Lawful 
Development Reference PA/14/01829). Works were completed on 27th October 2014, and 
to implement planning permission PA/08/01321 and are common to planning permission 
PA/14/01771 (as amended). 

 
S106 Modifications 

3.6 PA/15/00748: Application to modify a Section 106 Agreement – Affordable Housing 
Contribution. The modification proposed the following: 

 Amendment to the Financial Contribution definition to reduce contribution (inclusive of 
the off-site contribution) from £16,169,000 to £5,302.00 

 Amendment to the Off-site Affordable Housing Contribution definition to reduce the 
off-site housing contribution from £12,857,00 to £1,990,000 

 Amendment to ‘On site affordable housing units’ definition to include reference to 
Housing Tenure and Mix table at Schedule Two Part Two 

Page 32



 Amendment to offsite affordable housing contribution of £12,857,00 to £1,990,000 in 
Schedule 2 Part 2 

Refused 14/04/2015 

3.7 PA/15/02668: Application to modify a Section 106 Agreement – Affordable Housing 
Contribution. The modification proposed the following: 

 Removal of all onsite affordable housing units 

 Increase in the affordable housing contribution to £17,074,949 (previously 
£12,857,000) resulting in the provision of 24.8% off Site Affordable Housing 

Approved 17/12/2015 

4 PUBLICITY AND ENGAGEMENT 

4.1 A total of 2519 planning notification letters were sent to nearby properties on 04/08/20. 
Updated plans were received over the course of the application and a second round of 
consultation was conducted with letters being sent on 04/06/2021 

4.2 Site notices were displayed around the site on 20/08/2020 and a press notice was 
advertised on 06/08/2020 

4.3 Over the course of the application 35 individual objection letters were received in response 
to notification and publicity of the application. A petition with 112 signatures was also 
received. 1 letter of support and 4 neutral comments were also received. The material 
considerations raised in the objections are summarised thematically below: 

 Land Use/Housing 

- Proposed residential units are inefficient 

- Questions over the affordable housing proposed 

- Overly student dominated and will not result in mixed and balanced communities 

- Overdevelopment of the area 

- Not appropriate location for students 

 Amenity 

- Shops and retail space are not needed and would clutter the area. 

- Noise levels from construction work and the operation of the development itself would 
be harmful and unacceptable. 

- Significant loss of daylight and sunlight because of the building heights and proximity.  

- Overlooking, loss of privacy and sense of enclosure for adjacent properties in the 
Marina developments and across Aspen Way 

- Light pollution from the skybridge  

 Open Space 

- Not enough public open space provided as part of the proposal 

- The development should not be gated 

 Design 

- Development is not of an appropriate scale, height, mass, bulk and for within the site 
context 

- Objection to the height of the buildings; that they are too tall and will block views, being 
overbearing 

- Buildings should be lower than the surrounding buildings and do not step down as per 
policy  

- Three tall buildings increase the overall all bulk and massing of the scheme and spoils 
visual amenity in the area as well as the skyline  

- Overdevelopment of the site 

Page 33



- Buildings would impact upon UNESCO world heritage sites 

 Highways/infrastructure 

- Concerns at the infrastructure in the area and the impacts that putting this many 
people on site may have 

- The development would add to traffic concerns in the area 
 
 Environment 

- The development would lead to increased air pollution 

 Other 

- Impacts on health and wellbeing 

- All the spend will go to Canary Wharf and not popular 

- Application does nothing to meet the needs to the local community 

- Does nothing from a community cohesion standpoint  

4.4 The material objections raised will be considered in the relevant sections of the report. 

4.5 As detailed within the submitted Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), the applicant 
engaged with neighbouring stakeholders and landowners, including the Canary Wharf 
Group. A series of in person community events were held in January 2020 and a website 
created for public comments.  The scheme has been developed in light of extensive pre-
application discussions held with officers at LBTH, and the GLA since June 2019. The 
scheme was also considered at several CADAP meetings as well as a presentation on the 
pre-application proposals at the June 2020 Strategic Development Committee.  

5  CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Internal Consultees  
 
LBTH Building Control 

5.1 No comments received 

 
LBTH Transportation and Highways  

5.2 Highways officers do not support the re-provision of the Drive Thru element of the 
McDonalds as it is contrary to the visions and outcomes of the LBTH transport strategy. 
Additional issues surrounding queueing capacity have also been raised.  

5.3 The development is car free from general uses which is supported, however blue badge 
spaces are insufficient and not appropriately located. The applicant will be expected to enter 
into a legal 'Permit Free' agreement which restricts all future residents from applying for on 
street parking permits. 

5.4 The applicant is proposing to provide cycle parking to the Draft New London Plan standards 
which is welcomed, however, there are concerns over short stay numbers and access 
arrangement to the cycle parking. 

5.5 In terms of servicing the ‘manageable’ servicing will be conducted on site, however, 
‘unmanageable’ will be conducted within an on-street loading bay. It is not clear what 
unmanaged is and taxi collection/student pick up drop off should be conducted from within 
the site.  The proposed-on street loading bay is not supported and would degrade the public 
realm. 

Page 34



5.6 There are also issues surrounding the design of the public realm on Trafalgar Way although 
it is noted that this is outside the redline with further details to be secured via s278 or s106 
agreements.  

5.7 The application does not directly address concerns raised in pre-application discussions on 
the potential road danger increase resulting from the introduction of a large volume of 
students adjacent Preston’s Road roundabout. As shown in the TA, pedestrian access to 
destinations via the existing pedestrian facilities are circuitous and of poor quality.  

5.8 Evidence in the Preston’s Road study demonstrated that people frequently navigated 
Preston’s Road Roundabout at surface level rather than the subway despite the high levels 
of traffic and no pedestrian crossing facilities. We expect this activity to increase with 
introducing large numbers of students into this location where only circuitous routes are 
provided for key walking desire lines, particularly between the site and Poplar High Street 

5.9 It is noted that updated information was submitted during the course of the application and 
the majority of comments have been addressed during application stage, and the 
recommended conditions and obligations will be attached to any forthcoming planning 
consent. Further details of resolution of these comments are discussed in the highways 
section of this report.  

LBTH Waste Policy and Development  

5.10 The use of a private contractor for commercial waste raises no objections however officers 
have concerns over the daily service collections of the student element of the scheme as the 
Council has an obligation to collect household waste (which the Council believes students 
fall under although there is no clear guidance) and cannot commit to collecting waste on a 
daily basis.  

5.11 There are also reservations over the general use of a rotary compaction system as the 
Council does not currently have a vehicle capable of collecting this waste. The applicant 
should confirm how such waste would be collected and what type of RCV can collect such 
waste. 

LBTH Environmental Health (Air Quality) 

5.12 Air Quality officers agree with the conclusions of the air quality assessment report, that the 
proposed development will not cause any exceedances of the air quality objectives on the 
existing and future receptors. As heating will be provided by air source heat pumps, a 
building emissions air quality neutral assessment will not be required. An air quality neutral 
assessment for the emergency generator shows the emissions from the generator will be air 
quality neutral. This was based on assumptions and when final details are known a further 
assessment should be undertaken, however, concerns regarding the location of the 
generator on the first-floor podium noting that the flue vent is substantially below the level of 
the surrounding buildings (see pollution comment). The risk of dust soiling will be high during 
Earthworks, Construction and Trackout and should be conditioned 

5.13 The recommended conditions in relation to dust will be attached to any forthcoming consent. 

LBTH Environmental Health (Noise/Vibration) 

5.14 Noise officers raise no objection, subject to securing the relevant noise conditions. 

LBTH Environmental Health (Pollution) 

5.15 It is noted kitchen extraction system is proposed for the McDonald's development. It is also 
noted a low-level extraction is proposed which should be amended to a high-level extraction. 

Page 35



Where this is not possible, a high specification odour control condition will be required. A 
condition requiring details of the kitchen extraction for the McDonalds will be secured. 

LBTH Design 

5.16 Although in between 2 TBZ’s the site is appropriately visually grouped with Canary Wharf, 
and it will be further grouped with Canary Wharf through potential development at the 
adjacent Billingsgate Market site and the North Quay Site. Long range views do not appear 
that the towers will merge the 2TBZ’s. In addition, it is recognized that there is an extant 
permission on site and the proposed scheme is not considered to have more of a ‘merging of 
TBZs’ issue than the approved one. 

5.17 The final approach to the architecture is considered very successful, and the public realm 
strategy is generally satisfactory in principle, however, there are some minor concern which 
could be resolved via condition.  

5.18 The design comments will be further addressed in the report but throughout extensive pre-
application discussions the scheme has been significantly amended to address officers’ 
concerns. It is also noted that the CADAP members expressed clear support for the design 
rationale. 

LBTH Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) 

5.19 Contaminated Land officers raise no objection, subject to standard conditions. 

5.20 The recommended conditions will be attached to any forthcoming consent.  

LBTH Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) 

5.21 No comments received. 

5.22 It is noted that the GLA have provided specific commentary on the SUDS proposal and 
Thames Water have requested conditions relating to surface water drainage and run-off. It is 
therefore considered the proposed conditions would address any potential concerns, noting 
that the drainage has also been considered as part of the ES. 

LBTH Biodiversity  

5.23 The Biodiversity officer has made a number of observations and overall was satisfied that 
the proposal would lead to net gains in biodiversity and provide a considerable amount of 
biodiversity enhancements to the site.  

5.24 Pre-commencement conditions would be attached to any forthcoming consent and further 
landscaping conditions will be included to ensure that any proposed soft landscaping would 
accord with the Borough’s biodiversity and ecology aims and contribute where possible to 
the Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP). 

LBTH Housing 

5.25 Housing officers support the provision of 35% of student affordable housing, however, 
strongly objected to the initial 0% Affordable Housing offer. In the first instance on-site 
Affordable Housing should be provided, however, it is acknowledged that the previous 
consent accepted a payment in-lieu (PIL).  

5.26 The revised offer of a PIL equivalent to 35% affordable housing and 24.3% student 
accommodation is preferable, however, additional details surrounding how the PIL would 
directly contribute to housing delivery is required.  

Page 36



5.27 There are also some concerns with regard to the unit mix as submitted, although this has 
been updated.  

5.28 This will be considered in full in the detailed Housing section, but these were noted and 
discussed with the applicant. Amongst balancing the overall housing offer the proposal 
shifted from providing a 35% student accommodation and 0% Affordable Housing scheme to 
a PIL equivalent to 35% Affordable Housing and 24.3% Affordable Student Accommodation. 

LBTH Energy Efficiency   

5.29 The scheme is proposing to meet Passivhaus design requirements. The energy officer is 
satisfied with the overall energy strategy and considers the use of a low temperature 
ambient loop Air-Source Heat Pumps and on-site power generation through PV to be 
acceptable and in accordance with policy.  

5.30 Policy D.ES7 of the Local Plan requires zero carbon for all development to be achieved 
through a minimum 45% reduction in regulated carbon dioxide emissions, and the remaining 
regulated carbon dioxide emissions to 100% to be off-set through a cash in-lieu contribution. 
The scheme will provide a 59% reduction and will be required to pay a contribution of 
£1,507,650 to achieve the 100% reduction across all the uses.  

5.31 Subject to appropriate Conditions securing the energy proposals, and the CO2 emission 
reduction shortfall being met through a carbon offsetting process, the proposals would be 
considered in accordance with adopted policies for delivering net zero carbon developments 

LBTH Enterprise and Employment 

5.32 Enterprise and Employment officers welcome the provision of affordable workspace although 
question the true affordability of the initial offer and request further details around the pricing 
management of the workspace. Over the course of the application the applicant committed 
to providing the affordable workspace at a 38% discount. This could be secured within the 
S106 agreement. 

LBTH Occupational Therapists 

5.33 No comments received.  

5.34 Despite the lack of consultation response received, officers will be imposing a condition to 
any forthcoming consent requiring the submission of wheelchair accessible housing details 
and securing the proposed 5-10% wheelchair homes as part of a non-financial obligation 
within the S106 agreement. 

LBTH Viability  

5.35 LBTH Viability officers and external consultants BNP Paribas have assessed the submitted 
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) as prepared by JLL and have determined the findings 
to be fundamentally sound. The assessment shows a deficit of -£6,217,639.  and that the 
scheme provides the maximum viable amount of affordable housing. 

5.36 As the scheme fails to meet Draft New London Plan Policy H15 for 35% affordable housing 
site viability officers require early and late-stage review mechanisms within any subsequent 
S106. 

LBTH Policy 

5.37 Policy officers raised concerns over the loss of a significant portion of the extant permissions 
traditional housing on site, which is protected in local policy, but recognised Draft London 
Plan Policy H15 in that student accommodation units should count towards housing targets 

Page 37



on a basis of a 2.5:1 ratio. On this basis there would be an uplift in hosing, however, there 
would still be a physical void of traditional housing of which the borough is in great need of. 
There must therefore be further suitable public benefit demonstrated for the scheme to be 
supported on this policy ground. Officers should also make sure that local amenities are not 
severely impacted upon by the number of students on site.  

5.38 The initial affordable housing offer is not supported and should be reviewed further with 
officers. 

5.39 The re-provided McDonalds does not raise any land use concerns. The proposed 
commercial and retail floorspace is also supported and should adhere to affordable 
workspace requirements  

5.40 The site falls within the emerging South Poplar Masterplan area. A workshop is 
recommended to ensure the scheme is in line with the draft masterplan framework. A 
particular emphasis on connectivity to the adjacent Billingsgate and to the North of Aspen 
way will be examined.  

5.41 Further discussion of all the above elements will be detailed within the Land Use section of 
this report 

LBTH Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

5.42 The EIA has been reviewed by competent professionals and found sound subject to the 
mitigation identified within the council’s Final Review Report 002 being secured as part of 
any forthcoming consent. 

5.43 This will be further considered within the EIA section of the report. 

LBTH Public Health 

5.44 The detailed HIA submitted is considered to be sound, covering a broad range of potential 
health issues at various scales (housing, amenities, green infrastructure, transport, access) 
main considerations should be regarding the maximization of open space and biodiversity.  

5.45 There were questions over the inclusion of the McDonalds restaurant and how this adheres 
to local Policy considerations which will be covered in the relevant section of the report. 
Detailed conditions surrounding air quality and a healthier commitment catering standard will 
be secured to any forthcoming consent.  

5.46 Notwithstanding consultation, overall, the HIA demonstrates the intent of the scheme to 
contribute positively, within its remit, to healthier lifestyles within the borough. 

LBTH Infrastructure Planning 

5.47 The development does not meet Local/London Plan open space or child play space (12+) 
requirements. This cannot be offset by CIL moneys and is required to be directly mitigated 
by s106 contributions.   

External Consultees 

Environment Agency  

5.48 Based on a review of the submitted information the EA have no objections to the proposed 
development. 

Historic England 

Page 38



5.49 Advised that they have no comments to make, and to refer to LPA Conservation Officer for 
guidance in determining the application. 

 

Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service (GLAAS) 

5.50 The development could cause harm to archaeological remains and field evaluation is 
needed to determine appropriate mitigation. A two-stage archaeological condition could 
provide an acceptable safeguard.  

London City Airport 

5.51 No objection, subject to conditions, which will be attached to any forthcoming consent.  

Thames Water 

5.52 No objection, subject to conditions and informative requiring details of piling, ground water 
discharge and a housing and infrastructure phasing plan being submitted.  
 
DLR 
 

5.53 No comments. 
 

London Underground  
 

5.54 Initial concerns were raised that the main TA did not assess how the development would 
impact on the capacity of the train service or nearby stations. The applicant provided 
additional information detailing the impacts which were not considered to be significant by 
LU and in line with the predicted growth of the area identified in the Local Plan Site 
Allocations and the Lower Lea Valley OAPF. Following receipt of additional information 
London Underground have no objection to the application. 
 
Crossrail 

 
5.55 The application relates to land outside the limits of land subject to consultation by the 

Crossrail Safeguarding Direction 
 
TfL  
 
Healthy Streets 
 

5.56 In line with the Isle of Dogs OAPF, the development should facilitate good quality 
connections to the surrounding cycle network, with proposed cyclable routes from Prestons 
Road roundabout through Trafalgar Way and westwards towards Hertsmere Road. The 
existing public realm around the site, however, is highly car-dominated, does not encourage 
people to walk and cycle and is not welcoming to people from all walks of life.  
 

5.57 The applicant proposes improved permeability through the site through provision of a new 
walking route along the western boundary with the adjacent site at Billingsgate. This is 
strongly supported. The applicant should ensure that walking routes to this new route are at 
least 2m wide, and the new route has as shallow an incline as possible.  

 
5.58 Continuous footways should be provided over vehicular access routes, and corner radii 

should be as small as possible to ensure low vehicular speeds. All footways around the site 
should have a width of at least 2 metres. 

Page 39



  

Page 40



Active Travel Zone assessment 
 

5.59 An Active Travel Zone (ATZ) assessment has been submitted. The active travel routes to 
key locations that have been assessed are acceptable and appropriate, as previously 
agreed with TfL. 
 
Cycle parking  

 
5.60 Long-stay cycle parking is designed to have a prominent entrance to the front of the 

buildings, and that there is parking provision for a variety of cycle types at both ground floor 
and at podium level. This is welcomed. Short stay cycle parking must however be increased 
to at least Intend to Publish London Plan minimum standards 

 
5.61 Cycle parking for both residential and commercial uses should include dedicated cargo cycle 

parking in the public realm close to building entrances to encourage and enable active 
freight, deliveries and servicing. 

 
Car parking and vehicle use  

 
5.62 As the site is in an area of PTAL 5 in an inner London Opportunity Area, development should 

be car-free except for disabled persons parking. TfL strongly opposes provision of any 
general car parking at this site, including motorcycle parking.  
 

5.63 The site has been vacant for more than five years and therefore any vehicle trips and their 
consequent impacts will be additional to the network.  

 
5.64 There is no ‘pre-existing’ car parking on site as the applicant states. Two car and five 

motorcycle parking spaces are proposed to serve the restaurant, and two disabled persons 
parking spaces for the residential uses. Furthermore, the proposed drive-through element 
will result in a considerable increase in car trips. This results in a sustainable mode share for 
this site below 55% which is inconsistent with the OA target of 95% active travel. The 
applicant is therefore urged to reduce car parking and reconsider the drive-through element 
of the restaurant due to the impact of additional vehicles trips both within the site and 
beyond. 

 
5.65 TfL welcomes that future residential and business occupants will be restricted from applying 

for parking permits. 
 

Delivery and servicing  
 

5.66 The applicant proposes managed freight vehicle egress onto Trafalgar Way through the new 
public realm. TfL is concerned that this could create hazards for pedestrians and cyclists. 
This would also sever the new public realm and introduce further car dominance, reducing 
its amenity value and making it less attractive to walk and cycle. The applicant has not 
demonstrated that other design options have been considered and this is the optimal 
solution for freight egress. TfL recommends that freight vehicle routing be redesigned to 
egress at the roundabout on Trafalgar Way. 

 
5.67 A loading bay is proposed on Trafalgar Way. This will introduce new kerbside access and 

therefore additional freight movements on Trafalgar Way, which could increase likelihood of 
collisions, could create a hazard for people walking and cycling, and could also lead to 
reduced bus reliability. TfL’s preference is for loading to take place within the site, potentially 
reallocating parking or drive-through space. Otherwise, the applicant should review the 
operational hours with Tower Hamlets Council to minimise conflicts with cyclists and to 
ensure bus reliability. 

Page 41



 
5.68 The DSP should set out how sustainable freight will be encouraged and enabled, for 

example through provision of cargo cycle parking close to building entrances.  
 

Construction  
 

5.69 A draft Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) has been submitted. A full CLP should be secured 
by condition. The construction of the development should not require the full closure of 
Trafalgar Way for a prolonged period. Any full closure will require the cost of diverting bus 
routes and lost revenue to be agreed with TfL in advance and fully funded by the applicant. 
Occasional weekend closure may be acceptable and should be agreed with TfL in advance. 
 
Greater London Authority 

5.70 As highlighted within their Stage 1 response, the GLA is supportive of the principle of a high-
density student/residential-led mixed use development as it would contribute significantly to 
housing and student housing targets. 

5.71 The proposed office/commercial space is supported in the OAPF whilst providing affordable 
workspace in line with policy requirements. The proposed retail and hot food takeaway also 
raise no objections as it conforms with policies.  

5.72 As the housing element of the scheme does not meet the threshold of 35% affordable the 
scheme is required to be viability tested. As initially submitted the housing element is not 
acceptable as 0% affordable housing is proposed. The student accommodation proposed at 
35% adheres to policy and is supported and should be secured by one or more higher 
education providers so that it can be defined as purpose-built student accommodation 
(PBSA).  

5.73 They consider that whilst the proposed scheme represents a significant density increase, the 
design responds well to the local context and results in a well resolved, good quality, 
contemporary development. The public realm is generally supported although and 
pedestrian improvements are strongly encouraged 

5.74 The quality of the student accommodation is generally acceptable, subject to further 
information demonstrating that the ancillary and outdoor spaces proposed provide a 
sufficient quality and quantity of functional living spaces for students within the development. 

5.75 The quality of the residential accommodation is generally acceptable, although a secondary 
stair/core should be explored. The Council should also secure a financial contribution for the 
shortfall in open space and child play space. High quality landscaping features should be 
secured in all open/communal/public realm spaces.  

5.76 The fire strategy is somewhat limited in its scope; however, this can be secured by an 
appropriately worded condition. Environmental points on Noise, Energy, Air Quality, Flood 
Risk, Drainage, Water efficient, and Biodiversity are adequately addressed and can be 
secured via condition.  

5.77 The GLA consider that the proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to nearby 
heritage assets and further information should be submitted to address the impacts towards 
several LVMF’s and further testing on the affordable housing is required to test that the 
scheme proposed outweighs any such harm identified. This will be further discussed within 
the heritage section of this report. 

5.78 The GLA notes that the affordable housing provision would be subject to both late and early 
stage review mechanisms within the S106. 

Page 42



5.79 Following the submission of further details, the applicant is considered to have addressed 
the issues as raised by the Greater London Authority in their Stage 1 response. The GLA will 
have further opportunity to comment as part of their Stage 2 response. 

Metropolitan Police (Secured By Design) 

5.80 The police have made a number of recommendations with regards to further details which 
would be addressed at the detailed design stage. Subject to details required as part of any 
condition being acceptable officers are satisfied the scheme would represent a safe 
development. A condition requiring the development to meet Secure by Design standards 
will be attached to any forthcoming consent. 

London Fire Brigade 

5.81 No comments received.   

Canal and River Trust 

5.82 Clarification regarding financial contributions and any improvements on trust land should be 
discussed with the trust prior to them being secured. Habitat improvements to the waterways 
should be secured as the development will likely impact on the local environment. Should 
the development be approved relevant conditions/informatives should be secured. 

Natural England 

5.83 No comments to make. 

Gardens Trust 

5.84 The trust has considered the information provided in support of the application and on the 
basis of this confirm we do not wish to comment on the proposals at this stage 

National Air Traffic Services (NATS) 

5.85 The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding aspect and 
does not conflict with our safeguarding criteria. Accordingly, NATS has no safeguarding 
objection to the proposal.  

London Borough of Greenwich 

5.86 No comments received. 

London Borough of Hackney 

5.87 No Objections 

London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) 

5.88 No comments received. 

City of London (submitted by Deloitte) 

5.89 Given the significant quantum of student accommodation proposed, the development will 
need to comply with the ‘Agent of Change’ principle as set out in draft Policy D13 ‘Agent of 
Change’ of the Intend to Publish London Plan whereby ensuring the existing and future use 
of Billingsgate Market will not be a nuisance to the new student accommodation. 

Page 43



5.90 The scheme is broadly supported in design and layout terms, however, the site should be 
considered in terms of the current and future operation of the Billingsgate Market including 
its design and amenity impacts, notably daylight and sunlight. 

5.91 Recognised that the site was outside any allocation but should still contribute to local 
infrastructure through on-site provision and planning obligations as there would be additional 
pressure on existing infrastructure, specifically Trafalgar and Aspen Way. 

5.92 Delivery of the scheme including s278 works resulting in a road closure/disruption to the 
Billingsgate market would be unacceptable. The CoLC requests clarification of the proposed 
construction programme (i.e. how and what is being proposed when) from the Applicant prior 
to determination to ensure an assessment of the impacts can be undertaken. Subject to any 
impacts deemed to be unacceptable by the CoLC, preparation of a formal objection will be 
considered. 

5.93 Recommended conditions for; 

- Odour from McDonalds 

- Set back from the future development 

- Dust management plan 

- Western pedestrian link to the billingsgate site  

- Drive Thru queuing strategy 

- Delivery and Servicing Plan 

Port of London Authority (PLA) 

5.94 It is welcomed that the submitted Travel Plan includes a reference to nearby river bus 
services, including timetables. It is recommended that a condition is added to any 
forthcoming planning permission for the completion of the final Construction Management 
Plan which includes this consideration, which would be in line with current (7.26) and 
emerging (SI15) London Plan policy and policy D.TR4 (Sustainable delivery and servicing) of 
the boroughs Local Plan (2020) which seeks for development close to navigable waterways 
to maximise water transport for materials and waste, particularly during the demolition and 
construction phases. 

Others 

Conservation and Design Advisory Panel 

5.95 They commented in relation to the pre-application proposal on 11th November 2019 and 
again on 6th April 2020 prior to submission of the full planning application. The scheme went 
through substantial design change after the first meeting and the one presented at the 
second meeting was very similar to the submitted proposals.  

5.96 They supported the overall composition of the development including the height, layouts and 
use of the buildings and welcomed the significant changes from the first to second meeting, 
citing the ambition of the project. 

5.97 Sky gardens were welcomed although there were queries surrounding maintenance and 
long-term success.  Passivhaus was welcomes although not deemed essential with greater 
focus on reducing carbon through the design and construction.  

5.98 Greater consideration should be given to accessibility and solely providing indoor space did 
raise some concerns. Lastly members wanted to ensure sustainability, urban greening and 
long-term maintenance was captured through planning to avoid weakening the scheme 
during construction and building operation. 

Page 44



5.99 These comments have been addressed in the full submission application and the issues 
raised have been considered in full in the relevant sections. 

6 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND DOCUMENTS  

6.1 Legislation requires that decisions on planning applications must be taken in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise. 
 

6.2 In this case the Development Plan comprises: 

‒ The London Plan 2021(LP) 

‒ Tower Hamlets Local Plan 2031 (2020)  
 

6.3 The key development plan policies relevant to the proposal are: 
 
Growth (spatial strategy, healthy development) 

‒ London Plan policies: SD1, SD10 

‒ Local Plan policies: S.SG1, S.H1, D.SG3 
 
Land Use (town centre, social infrastructure, student, residential, employment, takeaway)  

‒ London Plan policies: SD6, SD7, SD8, SD9, S1, S2, S4, H1, E11, E9 

‒ -Local Plan policies: S.TC1, D.TC2, S.CF1, D.CF2, D.CF3, D.H6, S.H1, S.EMP1, 
D.EMP2, D.TC5, D.TC3 

 
Housing (housing supply, affordable housing, housing mix, housing quality, student housing, 
fire safety, amenity)  

‒ London Plan policies: D6, GG2, H1 H4, H5, H6, H8, H10, H15, S4,  

‒ Local Plan policies: S.H1, D.H2, D.H3, D.H6,  
 
Design and Heritage (layout, townscape, massing, height, appearance, materials, heritage)  

‒ London Plan policies: D1, D2, D3, D4, D5, D8, D9, HC1, HC3, HC4  

‒ Local Plan policies: S.DH1, D.DH2, S.DH3, D.DH4, D.DH6, D.DH7  
 
Amenity (privacy, outlook, daylight and sunlight, noise, construction impacts)  

‒ London Plan policies: D3, D6, D9, D14  

‒ Local Plan policies: D.DH8  
 
Transport (sustainable transport, highway safety, car and cycle parking, servicing)  

‒ London Plan policies: T1, T2, T4, T5, T6, T6.1, T7, T8  

‒ Local Plan policies: S.TR1, D.TR2, D.TR3, D.TR4  
 
Environment (air quality, biodiversity, contaminated land, flooding and drainage, energy 
efficiency, noise, waste, agent of change)  

‒ London Plan policies: G1, G4, G5, G6, SI1, SI2, S13, S14, SI5, SI7, SI8, SI12, SI13, 
D13 

‒ Local Plan policies: S.ES1, D.ES2, D.ES3, D.ES4, D.ES5, D.ES6, D.ES7, D.ES8, 
D.ES9, D.ES10, S.MW1, D. OWS3, D.MW3  

 
6.4 Other policy and guidance documents relevant to the proposal are: 

Page 45



‒ National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

‒ National Planning Practice Guidance (as updated)  

‒ LBTH Planning Obligations SPD (2021)  

‒ LBTH High Density Living SPD (December 2020) 

‒ LBTH Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2020)  

‒ LBTH Development Viability SPD (2017)  

‒ LBTH Isle of Dogs and South Poplar Opportunity Area Framework 

‒ LBTH Character Appraisal and Management Guidelines for Limehouse Cut, Langdon 
Park, St Annes Church, Landsbury, Balfron Tower, St Frideswide’s St Matthias 
Church, All Saints Poplar, West India Dock, Coldharbour and Naval Row 
Conservation Areas 

‒ LP Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (2017)  

‒ LP Housing SPG (updated 2017)  

‒ LP Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation SPG (2012)  

‒ Building Research Establishment’s Site Layout for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to 
Good Practice (2011)  

 
6.5 The following draft guidance is relevant, although it has limited weight: 

- LBTH Draft Central Area ‒ Good Growth SPD (Consultation draft January 2021) 

- LBTH Draft Refuse, Recycling & Waste (Consultation draft January 2021) 
 

6.6 The South Poplar Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted on 28 
July 2021 by the Tower Hamlets Council.  The SPD is a joint project undertaken in 
collaboration with the GLA and TFL. The SPD supports the Local Plan (2020) and Isle of 
Dogs and South Poplar Opportunity Area Planning Framework (GLA/Mayor of London - 
October 2019). In particular, the SPD looks to provide further guidance to the local plan site 
allocations of Aspen Way, North Quay and the Billingsgate Market. 
 

6.7 As the South Poplar Masterplan SPD has been adopted by the Council, it now has weight as 
a material consideration for planning applications within the designated masterplan area.  

 
6.8 The SPD provides guidance on key masterplan themes around character and identity, 

connections and movement, green and open spaces, massing and heights, uses and social 
infrastructure and liveability principles. The SPD also contains an Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan setting out how key infrastructure initiatives will be delivered 

7 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

7.1 The key issues raised by the proposed development are:  

i. Land Use  

ii. Student Housing 

iii. Housing 

iv. Design & Heritage 

v. Neighbouring Amenity  

vi. Transport and Servicing  

vii. Environment  

viii. Human Rights and Equalities   

Page 46



  

Page 47



LAND USE 

Student Housing Proposal 

7.2 The principle of providing purpose-built student accommodation in this location is supported 
by planning policy. At a national level NPPF highlights the importance of boosting the 
housing supply, with paragraphs 59 and 61 setting out the importance of providing for 
specific housing groups, such as students. 

7.3 LP Policy H15 states that strategic and local requirements for student housing which meet a 
demonstrable need are to be addressed by working closely with stakeholders in higher and 
further education in well-connected locations, promoting mixed and inclusive communities 
and without compromising capacity for the delivery of conventional homes.  

7.4 The LP acknowledges the significant demand for student accommodation, (paragraph 
4.15.2) with a potential requirement for some 3500 places annually over the plan period. It 
goes on to recognise that the provision student accommodation may reduce pressure on 
other elements of the housing stock currently occupied by students in the private rented 
sector. 

7.5 The London Plan provides further guidance on the consideration of student accommodation 
units. Of note is the specification that student accommodation units should count towards 
housing targets on a basis of a 2.5:1 ratio. Draft London Plan Policy H15 (Purpose-built 
student accommodation) provides detailed guidance on the development of purpose-built 
student accommodation (PBSA) units.  

7.6 The GLA support the principle of the student use (GLA Stage 1 response paragraph 26) 
stating that the site is well connected and that the scheme would support the creation of 
mixed and inclusive communities with the caveat that the use of the accommodation being 
secured for students and affordable student accommodation being provided, in accordance 
with Policy H15. 

7.7 The quantum of units would also provide a significant contribution to addressing identified 
student housing need across London and the borough and also meeting general housing 
needs as set out in LP Policy H1. 

7.8 In terms of a strategic and local need a Student Housing Demand & Supply Study (JLL – 
June 2020) has been prepared and submitted to justify the student accommodation led 
element of the proposal. This study provides insight into the shortfall of student 
accommodation units within London and the projected demand for such units. The subject 
site has a PTAL rating of 5 which demonstrates ‘very good’ access to public transport. The 
site is well located in relation to the Canary Wharf Underground Station for both the existing 
Jubilee Line and impending Elizabeth line. The Blackwall DLR station is also within walking 
distance. The GLA also recognise the role that student accommodation has to play within 
London and acknowledge the existing shortfall.  

7.9 Overall, the demand for the student accommodation units has been established and the 
submitted study appears sound.  

7.10 At a local level Policy D.H6 provides guidance on the consideration of new purpose-built 
student accommodation units. The policy sets out guidance that such proposals should be 
proximate to the Borough’s higher education institutions or in highly accessible locations. 
Additionally, this policy sets out the following guidance where proposals must: 

a) not compromise the supply of land for self-contained homes 
b) have an undertaking in place to provide housing for students at one or more specific 

education institutions, or otherwise provide an element of affordable student 
accommodation 

Page 48



c) respect existing residential amenity, and 
d) provide 5% of student rooms which are wheelchair accessible, including access to a 

wheelchair-accessible shower room for independent use. 

7.11 In terms of addressing policy guidance to not undermine the supply of self-contained homes 
(Part 1 a of Policy D.H6), it must be noted that the site currently benefits from an approved 
planning consent (PA/08/01321 – approved 2009), which has been implemented and is 
residential led, comprising the provision of 394 residential units. Nevertheless, through the 
initial permission and further planning amendments it can be seen that over time the site has 
been deemed unfit for family housing, in particular due to its location adjacent to the A1261 
and the Prestons Road Roundabout. Furthermore, the application initially secured the 
affordable rented units off-site through a payment in lieu whilst delivering the intermediate on 
site in the 1 and 2 bed units. Subsequently through an amendment all of the affordable 
housing tenures were removed from the scheme in favour of providing a payment in lieu 
which would offer an increased amount of affordable housing provision elsewhere in the 
borough. 

7.12 In addition to the above, using the 2.5:1 ratio specified within the London Plan Policy H15, 
the 1,672 student accommodation units would equate to 668 residential units in an overall 
contribution to the Borough’s housing target and whilst there is clear evidence base that the 
Borough has a shortage of traditional housing units and of affordable housing units in 
particular the student accommodation units would contribute to the Council’s housing targets 
using provided ratios. It is noted that these calculations would provide a significant uplift in 
comparison to the extant scheme. 

7.13 In terms of part b the scheme has been proposed in partnership with University College 
London (UCL) where the provided units would deliver accommodation for students at several 
UCL campuses. UCL’s School of Management is located on the 38th floor of One Canada 
Square and is in close proximity to the site. The student accommodation units would also be 
associated with additional UCL campuses located in Stratford (UCL Here East) and Central 
London (UCL Bloomsbury). The future regenerative benefits of the scheme are also noted 
where the site’s location may assist in facilitating future UCL expansion within Tower 
Hamlets. 

7.14 Through the viability tested route consistent with the London (Part 4b of Policy H15) and 
Local Plan (Part 1b of Policy D.H6) policies discussed above, 24.6% of the proposed student 
accommodation units would be provided as affordable and would be delivered in partnership 
with the University College London, a recognised higher education institution. This provision 
and partnership are welcomed and considered acceptable given the schemes deficit.  

7.15 In addressing amenity concerns raised as a policy consideration (Part 1c of Policy D.H6), a 
Student Management Plan has been submitted which details the management and operation 
of the student units. This has been carefully considered by the council and has been 
deemed sufficient with additional details being secured via a s106 agreement and planning 
conditions. The development would provide 3,650sqm of amenity space and other onsite 
ancillary spaces and communal facilities for residents to utilise spread across several areas 
and provide a number of mitigation measures for issues such as noise with the applicant 
also delivering successful student schemes across London. The quality of accommodation 
will be addressed later in the report. 

7.16 Objections have been received with regards to the impact on local services in the area. In 
review there are no similar proposals in the area and the scheme would not result in an over-
concentration which would unduly impact upon the wider housing mix in the area.  

7.17 With regards to part d of the policy, the development provides a minimum of 5% wheelchair 
accessible units which accords with the requirement and will be secured via condition.  

Page 49



 

 

C3 Housing Proposal 

7.18 Part 11 of the NPPF (2021) paragraph 118 states in relation to Making effective use of land 
planning decisions should give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield 
land within settlements for homes and other identified needs. 

7.19 London Plan Policy H1 also places a strategic expectation that the Borough will need to 
deliver 35,110 homes as a 10-year housing target (annualised to 3,511 per year) between 
2019/20 and 2028/29. As detailed in this policy, it is expected that much of this housing 
delivery is targeted within Opportunity Areas and areas identified by Local Planning 
Authorities for redevelopment and regeneration. 

7.20 The Local Plan Policy S.H1 outlines the need for the Borough to secure the delivery of 
58,965 new homes between 2016 and 2031, which equates to 3,931 new homes each year.  

7.21 As detailed in the above sections, there is a demonstrated need for housing and affordable 
housing within Tower Hamlets and at a regional level. The Borough is expected to deliver a 
significant quantum of new housing within London.  

7.22 The development would provide 80 traditional build to rent homes in the smallest of the three 
towers in addition to the 668 homes using the conversion of 2.5:1 student rooms. Overall, 
the development would contribute to the delivery of 748 homes across the borough’s targets. 
The traditional housing element would provide a payment in lieu equivalent to 35% 
affordable housing by habitable room and an overall increase of 24.8% when compared to 
the extant permission (and updates).  

7.23 Taking into consideration the need for housing and the targets set by The Local Plan it is 
considered that a high-density housing scheme is appropriate within this location. 
Furthermore, the previous planning application and subsequent amendments has 
established the principle of a payment in lieu from within the site (further policy 
considerations discussed within the Housing section of this report) and the proposal would 
deliver much needed market and affordable homes for the Borough and London. 

7.24 Paragraph 118 of the NPPF (2021) directs decision makers to give substantial weight to the 
provision of homes on brownfield land.  

7.25 Therefore taking into consideration the local and strategic policy designations as well as the 
NPPF (2021) the provision of housing in this location carries substantial weight in favour of 
the proposal. 

Employment Policy – Office land use 

7.26 The NPPF supports sustainable economic growth and building a strong, competitive 
economy and paragraph 80 states that “significant weight should be given to support 
economic growth and productivity, considering both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development”.  

7.27 LP Policy E1 encourages employment opportunities for all and supports initiatives to remove 
barriers to employment and tackle low participation in the labour market. It also requires 
strategic development proposals to support local employment, skills development and 
training opportunities. 

7.28 Policy S.EMP1 of the Local Plan provides a range of designated employment locations to 
support the borough’s target of 125,000 new jobs to 2031. Broader policies set out to 

Page 50



support opportunities to maximise and deliver investment and job creation within the 
Borough 

7.29 Policy D.EMP 2 provides further guidance on the provision of areas of new employment 
space. Outside of designated employment locations, new employment space should be 
directed towards town centres and accessible locations along major transport routes. Part 4 
of this policy requires at least 10% of new employment floorspace to be provided as 
affordable workspace. 

 
7.30 The site is not located in the CAZ nor within a town centre; however, as set out above, the 

site is located within the Isle of Dogs and South Poplar Opportunity Area, which the London 
Plan and the Mayor’s Intend to Publish London Plan indicate has an employment capacity of 
110,000 jobs 

 
7.31 The London Plan emphasises the importance of Opportunity Areas in supporting 

regeneration and their importance to accommodate large scale developments that provide 
jobs, housing and enhance placemaking. In October 2019, the Isle of Dogs and South 
Poplar Opportunity Area Planning Framework (OAPF) was adopted by the Mayor of London, 
which provides supplementary guidance for the future development and delivery of the 
Opportunity Area and presents a vision of comprehensive social, economic and 
environmental change in the area for all who live, work and visit. 

 
7.32 4127 square metres of commercial (B1) office space is proposed as part of the scheme. The 

site is not within a designated employment location or identified site allocation, however sits 
adjacent to a number of important policy controls. As previously raised, the Canary Wharf 
Secondary Preferred Office Location sits to the immediate west of the site and the Poplar 
Business Park (Local Industrial Location) is located to the north of the site. The 2 Trafalgar 
Way site location therefore has an important role in supporting these designated 
safeguarded areas. The site also should provide a suitable local offer supporting the 
commercial floorspace demand for small to medium sized enterprises. 

Affordable Workspace 

7.33 The scheme would provide 10% of the floorspace at a rate of 38% below the indicative 
market rate. This would equate to 412.9sqm of affordable workspace and go beyond The 
Local Plan policy D.EMP2 which requires at a minimum 10% of the floorspace to be at 10% 
below the indicative market rate. 

7.34 This reduction in rental costs above the policy requirement would strongly support small 
businesses and start-ups in the area and complement the proposed student accommodation 
use on site. It would promote SMEs and people wishing to start a business who may find 
rent prices challenging elsewhere in the borough.  

7.35 The affordable workspace would be secured as part of the S106 agreement and a 
management plan for the workspace would be required and secured via a planning 
condition. 

Mc Donald’s Restaurant/ Hot food takeaway  

7.36 The application proposes the provision of a 1036sqm McDonalds Drive Thru Restaurant. 
The use of the subject site for a takeaway restaurant (McDonalds) has been established and 
previously occupied the site for a period of 10 years prior to demolition and enabling works 
on the land. Furthermore, the extant planning permission includes consent to re-provide the 
facility and as such, the principle of the use has been established. There is no objection to 
the submission put forward and the re-provision of the restaurant would be acceptable as it 
also meets the criteria outlined in policy D.TC5.  

Page 51



7.37 In terms of London Plan Policy E9, the hot food takeaway would be located in excess of the 
400m walking distance requirement from the nearest primary/secondary school and 
compliance of the hot food takeaway operator with the Healthier Catering Commitment 
standard will be secured via condition. 

7.38 Looking to London Plan Policy E9 the Draft South Poplar Masterplan area indicates a school 
could be located on the site. Through working with Councils education colleagues, the need 
for a secondary school on the site has been questioned as current population projections 
and student demand do not indicate the need for such a school within the next 5-10-year 
period. The relocation of the billingsgate market to a new site is itself subject to its own 
necessary planning permissions whilst a planning permission for the Billingsgate market 
redevelopment would also be subject to determination. To reference the flexibility needed in 
approaching the school provision on the site, the document references that the need, type, 
size and design of any educational use on the site would need to be determined as part of 
the development management process. Therefore, it is considered that the Billingsgate 
Market site allocated secondary school is not ‘proposed’ for the purpose of Policy E9 and the 
re-provision of the McDonalds is acceptable in this regard.  

Other uses 

7.39 Following revisions, the scheme proposes an additional 135sqm of flexible retail space 
which could accommodate retail; and restaurant/bar uses (Within Use Classes A1 & A3). 

7.40 The development would provide a limited amount of retail floorspace at ground floor level 
within commercial units fronting onto the Trafalgar Way. The proposed range of uses would 
facilitate a well-balanced mix of commercial activity and local services across the site.  

7.41 It is recognised that flexibility is important to ensure the spaces are let and that there is 
activation along the ground floors of the development, particularly along Trafalgar way 
leading to canary Wharf and the future Billingsgate site. The proportion of spaces in the 
context of the overall development would be small and would not represent an oversupply of 
retail or restaurant space outside of a designated town centre.  

7.42 It is considered these uses would complement the workspace, student accommodation and 
housing as well as contribute to wider place making objectives. They would not harm the 
vitality or investment in any local centres. 

Land Use Conclusions 

7.43 In summary, the proposed student led mixed use scheme is acceptable in this location. With 
regards to the extant permission, the loss of the majority of the traditional residential units is 
on site would be acceptable given that the London Plan considers student accommodation 
to contribute towards the boroughs housing delivery targets. 

7.44 The scheme would deliver a considerable amount towards this target, whilst also providing a 
considerable amount of employment space. The proposed workspace and retail space 
would likely lead to an increase in jobs and support a more diverse range of business types. 
The affordable workspace provision (10% of employment floorspace at 38% below market 
rate) would further support SMEs and other creative industries emerging in this part of the 
Borough. 

7.45 The provision of housing in this location is strongly supported by strategic and local policies 
and the NPPF (2021) which seeks to make effective use of brownfield land. The draft South 
Poplar Masterplan supports mixed-use residential led development and the other proposed 
commercial uses would complement the overall land use mix.  

Page 52



7.46 The proposed student accommodation, housing and employment space carry substantial 
weight in favour of the proposal. 

 

STUDENT HOUSING 

Affordable Student Accommodation 

7.47 LP Policy H15 requires the majority of the student bedrooms, including all affordable, to be 
secured through a nominations agreement with one or more Higher Education Providers 
(HEP). At least 35% of the accommodation must be secured as affordable student 
accommodation to follow the “Fast Track Route.” Local Plan Policy D.H6 supports this 
approach and as stated above the applicant has committed to entering into a nominations 
agreement via a s106 obligation with one or more HEP, in this case University College 
London.  

7.48 In line with GLA policy, the applicant proposes that the initial rent (including all service 
charges) for the affordable student rooms will be no more than 55% of the maximum student 
maintenance loan for living costs available to a UK full-time student in London living away 
from home for that academic year. The most recent figure published in the GLA Annual 
Monitoring Report (October 2019) is £6,245, but this figure is likely to have risen for the 
academic year at the point of first letting. The rent setting formula for the affordable student 
accommodation will be secured in the Section 106 legal agreement. The S106 legal 
agreement will be subject to clauses that give the Council the ability, to require the applicant 
to provide details of occupancy and rent levels charged to ensure the above requirements 
are being complied with. 

7.49 Due to the mixed used nature of the scheme and the initial traditional affordable housing 
offer of 0%, the application was viability tested in line with the methodology and assumptions 
set out in Policy H5 and the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG. The Council had 
the submitted review (prepared by JLL) independently assessed and subsequently 
confirmed that the scheme proposed a deficit of £6,217,639. The GLA also reviewed this 
information and confirmed the soundness of the review and its findings.  

7.50 Ongoing negotiations surrounding the makeup of the scheme continued through the viability 
process, which resulted in the Affordable Student Accommodation offer reducing from 35% 
to 24.6% in favour of providing an increased traditional affordable housing offer (discussed in 
the housing section of this report). Considering the viability position, the proposed officer is 
on balance acceptable (subject to further provisions detailed within this report). 

7.51 Applying the 24.6% threshold, 411 units would be affordable which will all be provided as 
non-suite or half-suite rooms, but no definitive breakdown has been provided at this stage, 
as this will be influenced by demand at the time of future letting. There is no proposal to 
provide any of the en-suite or studio rooms as affordable housing. Whilst local plan policy 
does not specify what proportion of room types should be affordable, the London plan seeks 
to ensure that there is no difference in quality between the tenures and the LPA would seek 
to ensure there is a more even distribution of affordable accommodation across the range of 
unit types. The applicant states that the supporting schedule was indicative as the allocation 
of the affordable student accommodation will be subject to negations with the chosen HEP 
and part of the nomination(s) agreement. This final breakdown will therefore be subject to 
agreement as part of the S106. 

7.52 All students residing in the affordable rooms will have full access to all these facilities, with 
any associated costs included in the total rent payable for the rooms. There will be no 
additional charges specific to the affordable accommodation and the rent will include all 
services and utilities which are offered as part of the package for the market rate rooms. 

Page 53



7.53 As per LP Policy the development would be subject to an early and late stage viability review 
in order to ensure the maximum amount of affordable accommodation is being delivered on 
site.  

 

Quality of Accommodation 

7.54 LP Policy H15 also requires purpose-built student accommodation to provide adequate 
functional living space for students in terms of the design and layout of bedrooms. In policy 
terms there are no applicable space standards (including amenity space) for student 
accommodation, however, the spaces have been designed in accordance with the Tower 
Hamlets HMO Guidance. The applicants DAS sets out the range of unit types proposed, 
their size and access to communal facilities. The current layout proposes clusters of 
between 4 and 8 bedrooms built around shared communal kitchens looking out onto unique 
and distinctive sky gardens providing visual amenity for students and although the design of 
the kitchens does restrict natural light into the communal areas it is considered that the sky 
gardens and amenity provided by these would outweigh access to light which is generally 
acceptable across other areas of the scheme.  

7.55 The layout of the accommodation and orientation of the buildings has been designed to 
minimise single aspect bedrooms facing north onto Aspen Way.  Whilst the proportion of 
single aspect north facing units would not be acceptable within housing scheme, the 
arrangement proposed does not raise any particular planning concerns, given the short-term 
nature of student accommodation tenancies and the provision of communal amenity spaces 
with alternative aspects within the scheme. Levels of daylight to the student blocks are 
mostly in line with BRE guidelines, however the are failings in some of the rooms which face 
the towards each block and below the sky bridge. Nevertheless, the access to daylight of the 
student rooms is generally acceptable.  

7.56 The scheme has been developed in collaboration with UCL and will provide 2.2sqm of 
amenity space and 0.14sqm of laundry and post room facilities for each student, 
representing over 10% of the total student floorspace. When benchmarked against other 
Urbanest buildings constructed or under construction in London, the proposed development 
will provide the highest quantum of amenity space per student. 

7.57 With specific regard to the student amenity provision this is spread across various levels, 
with the majority being focused on the sky bridge at level 10 which provides various ancillary 
spaces and facilities including study spaces, a gym and yoga studio. The space will benefit 
from natural daylight, generous floor to ceiling height and is directly accessible from either 
student accommodation building. 

7.58 The maintenance and management of these spaces will be the responsibility of the 
developer and the details will be secured by condition. The remaining space at the top levels 
of each block is designated for PVs, plant and ancillary uses. It is considered that the 
scheme provides an acceptable level of amenity space for the range of uses provided. 

7.59 Lastly, information has been submitted stating that the affordable student accommodation 
would also have no discernible differences in quality with all rooms being finished to the 
same standard. 

7.60 Air quality in this location has been identified as an issue. However, suitable mitigation 
measures, such as mechanical ventilation, would be in place to address this. Sufficient 
separation distances would be retained from other buildings to maintain privacy. In line with 
Development Plan policies, 5% of the student rooms would be wheelchair accessible, which 
would be secured by condition. A Noise Assessment also recommends measures to ensure 
appropriate mitigation measures against road traffic noise. The noise and air quality 

Page 54



assessments have been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officers and are 
considered acceptable subject to conditions. 
  

Page 55



HOUSING 

Housing supply 

7.61 Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy S.H1 outlines the need for the Borough to secure the 
delivery of 58,965 new homes across the Borough between 2016 and 2031, which equates 
to 3,931 new homes each year. London Plan Policy H1 sets Tower Hamlets a housing 
completion target of 34,730 units between 2019/20 and 2028/29. The proposed 
development would result in a net increase of 748 new homes (including the student 
accommodation ratio), which would make an important contribution towards meeting the 
above target and is strongly supported. 

7.62 The 2020 Housing Delivery Test (HDT) results were published on 19 January 2021 and as a 
result Tower Hamlets Local Planning Authority is now a “presumption authority” and 
paragraph 11d of the NPPF is relevant. The Council’s delivery of housing over the last three 
years is substantially below its housing target and so paragraph 11d of the NPPF is engaged 
by virtue of footnote 7 of the NPPF. Nevertheless, the proposed development has been 
found to be in accordance with development plan policies and, therefore, consideration of 
para. 11(d) is not required where the recommendation is to grant planning permission (but 
would be if the application were to be refused).  

7.63 As stated in the Land Use section the development would provide 80 traditional build to rent 
homes in the smallest of the three towers in addition to the 668 homes using the conversion 
of 2.5:1 student rooms. Overall, the development would contribute to the delivery of 748 
homes across the borough’s targets, although only the traditional element will be subject to 
the further assessments below. 
 
Housing Mix and Tenure 

7.64 Pursuant to Policy H10 of the London Plan, new residential development should offer 
genuine housing choice, in particular a range of housing size and type. The Local Plan 
Policy D.H2 also seeks to secure a mixture of small and large housing that meet identified 
needs. Specific guidance is provided on particular housing types and is based on the 
Council’s most up to date Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2017). The required mix 
within each tenure is shown in the table below. 

7.65 Section 4.12.2 of Policy H12 of the New London Plan, “Housing Size Mix”, places 
importance on considering housing mix in a contextual basis in determining how it best 
meets a need. 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Table 4: Housing mix requirements from policy D.H2 

Page 56



7.66 The table below details the overall proposed mix of the scheme which shows that there is no 
on-site affordable housing, which will be discussed below: 
 

Tenure Studio  1-bed  
 

2-bed  
 

3-bed  
 

4-bed 
 

Total 

Market 24 0 40 15 1 80 

Intermediate 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Affordable 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 
As % 

 
30 

 
0 

 
40 

 
19 

 
1 

80 

 

 

Market Housing 

7.67 The table below details the market housing provision of the scheme against the 
requirements within policy D.DH2: 
 

  
 Table 6 – Market Housing Mix 

  

7.68 As detailed in the table above the scheme generally accords with the policy for market 
housing with the exception of providing studio units in favour of 1 bed units, which while not 
recognized as a unit typology within the housing mix table of the Tower Hamlets Local Plan, 
or the supporting Strategic Housing MA, are acknowledged as a unit typology in the 
Nationally Described Space Standards embedded within the London Plan and referenced 
within Policy D.H3.  

Affordable Housing 

Affordable housing policy 

7.69 The Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy S.H1 sets an overall strategic target of 50% of 
affordable housing, with a minimum of 35% provision sought, subject to viability. 

7.70 London Plan policy H4 (Delivering Affordable Housing) sets a strategic target of 50% of all 
new homes delivered across London to be genuinely affordable and highlights the need to 
meet the need for 43,000 affordable homes each year. Specific measures to achieve this 
aim include requiring major developments to provide affordable housing through the 

Market housing unit 
type 

No. of 
units 
proposed 

No. of hab 
rooms  

No. of units 
as a 
Percentage  

Policy Difference 
(+/-) % 

Studio 
 24 24  30 -  +30 

1-bedroom 
   30%  -30 

2-bedroom 
 40 120  50 50%  0 

3-bedroom 
 15 61  19 20%  0 

4-bedroom 
 1 6 1 

Total 
80 211 100%     

Table 5: Housing mix for proposed development 

Page 57



threshold approach and using grant to increase affordable housing delivery beyond the level 
that would otherwise be provided. 

7.71 Policy H5 states where an application does not meet the requirements set out in Part C for a 
‘fast tracked’ application it must follow the Viability Tested Route, where detailed viability 
evidence should be submitted and accessible as part of the application.  

7.72 Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.H2 sets the requirements of affordable housing provision 
within development in the borough, in terms of quantum, standard and provision. It states 
that development is required to maximise the delivery of affordable on-site except in 
exceptional circumstances where certain criteria are met. Beyond this it states that where no 
suitable sites are available for off-site affordable housing and payment in-lieu (PIL) is to be 
acceptable, developers must demonstrate that the payment will enable the construction or 
purchase of a minimum of 50% affordable housing in the borough and there is no financial 
advantage to the development of not providing affordable housing onsite.  

7.73 London Plan Policy H4 further outline the parameters where Cash in-lieu contributions are 
accepted stating that they should only be used in exceptional circumstances, where it would 
not be detrimental to the delivery of mixed and inclusive communities. It also states that to 
avoid incentivising off-site provision or in lieu contributions, agreements for this should 
provide no financial benefit to the applicant relative to on-site provision and should include 
review mechanisms in line with the Viability Tested Route. The policy target for schemes 
delivering off-site affordable housing or in lieu contributions is 50 per cent affordable housing 
provided across the main site and any linked sites when considered as a whole. 

7.74 Cash in lieu contributions should be held in a separate affordable housing pot, where 
resources can be pooled and ring-fenced to enable greater, or more appropriate, new 
provision to be made off-site. This should either be on an identified site or as part of an 
agreed programme, in compliance with the statutory tests for use of planning obligations. 

Viability 

7.75 The Council appointed an external consultant, BNP Paribas Real Estate (BNPP), to review 
the viability information provided by the Applicant’s assessor,  (JLL). The BPS initial April 
2020 report concerned a 1672 student-unit and 68 residential unit scheme providing 35% 
affordable student housing by habitable room and 0% affordable housing in the C3 
accommodation. 

7.76 Over the following months a series of discussions and negotiations took place involving all 
parties and appointed viability consultants. Further input was provided on behalf of each 
party by specialists in construction costs and construction programming, as well as CIL 
matters. The GLA were also involved in discussions.  

7.77 These discussions resulted in the scheme delivering a deficit of £6,217,639. 

7.78 Following these negotiations it was advised that the initial option to provide 0% affordable 
housing was unlikely to provide acceptable public benefit, particularly with the affordable 
housing not being delivered on site. As a result, a change in approach was taken and 
several different options were tested. 

- Option 1: 35% Affordable Student Accommodation, 0% Affordable Housing 

- Option 2: 24.3% Affordable Student Accommodation, 7 Intermediate units delivered on 
site, £7.76 million PIL 

- Option 3: 24.3% Affordable Student Accommodation, £10.16 million PIL (equivalent to 
35%) 

Page 58



7.79 Following negotiations, the applicant subsequently undertook to redesign the scheme to 
provide a policy compliant mix of 80 residential units, retaining the 1672 student units. 
Option 3 was subsequently taken forward and it was agreed that the reduced student 
affordable housing offer and PIL equivalent to 35% was the maximum technically viable 
provision, noting the fact that offsite affordable housing should secure 50%. 

7.80 Subject to approval, early stage (if after, an agreed period of time after the grant of planning 
permission, Substantial Works (2 years) have not been completed), mid stage (alongside 
reserved matters applications for both Phase 2 and Phase 3) and late stage (after 75% 
occupation of market units) viability reviews would be included, giving the opportunity for 
increased affordable housing provision if sufficient income growth and/or cost savings are 
realised. An agreed surplus identified at the any of the stages would result in an increased 
PIL. 

7.81 Whilst the amendments secured are welcome, they have served to worsen the viability 
position further. After some discussion about how the changes impact on the detail of the 
viability, the consultants reached an agreement that the deficit of the scheme extends to 
c.£6,217,639.  Whilst this is a significant deficit to overcome, it should be viewed in the 
context of the very large scheme, which has a gross development value (GDV) in excess of 
£350 million.  

7.82 The Council are satisfied that the scheme is deliverable as has been evidenced within the 
included sensitivity analysis which sets out changes to scheme profit with changes in values 
and costs. In particular, although the scheme was in deficit based on current inputs, it is 
potentially capable of being viable with relatively small changes to values and costs, for 
instance with a 2.5% increase in rents and 2.5% decrease in costs. 

7.83 In summary, the Viability Team is satisfied that the development has been robustly assessed 
and that the affordable housing provision is the maximum viable, with a deficit found in the 
final agreed appraisals. Nonetheless, it is considered that the development is deliverable for 
the reasons outlined above. Furthermore, review mechanisms are to be secured within the 
S106 legal agreement, subject to approval, in order to ensure that any improvement to 
viability is captured for the benefit of the Borough. 

Financial Contribution for off-site Affordable Housing  

7.84 Whilst there is no technical definition of an ‘exceptional circumstance’ in Policy, officers 
consider the proposed scheme would qualify under its unique circumstances. The previous 
case history outlines in detail that the site is not suitable for housing, in particular family and 
affordable housing. Over various applications and amendments to the s106 the affordable 
housing within the site has been stripped over time (as seen in section 3 of this report), 
supported by officers and members alike in order to deliver high quality housing in a better 
location. The location, being an island site immediately adjacent to significant road 
infrastructure, lack of access to open space as well as concerns surrounding it including its 
air-quality conditions were noted and have not changed since the proposals were approved 
in 2008-2014.  

7.85 For the current proposal, there is also the issue that due to the site constraints the residential 
element only contains a single core. A second core is a requirement for any registered 
provider willing to take units and this could not be provided within the building footprint 
without significantly reducing the number of units on site. Overall, in discussions with the 
Council’s housing team the decision was made to accept a full PIL rather than a hybrid 
approach, which would see the delivery of intermediate housing on the site. (option 2 
above). 

Page 59



7.86 To off-set the loss of affordable housing on-site, a financial contribution in-lieu 
(£9,465,760.00) is proposed for the off-site provision of the affordable housing rather than 
relying on the applicant to bring a site forward.  The proposal provides a contribution 
equivalent to 35% of the habitable rooms as per the submitted mix. This would provide the 
Council a substantial contribution towards delivering the very high local need in Tower 
Hamlets and a substantial contribution towards the Council’s programme to deliver new 
affordable homes for local people, rather than relying on the applicant to bring a site forward.  

7.87 In respect of securing an appropriate sum, the Council’s Housing and Viability Teams have 
considered the proposed viability information, along with its updates and found it to be 
acceptable.  Based on a policy compliant 70/30 split 74.2 (22.3 intermediate & 51.9 social) 
rooms out of the 212 habitable rooms on site would be secured as affordable and on this 
basis the contribution has been calculated. This would equate to providing £127,571 per 
habitable room. 

7.88 Securing a PIL instead of delivering the housing on site allows the Council to better deliver 
on mixed and balanced communities, targeting the capital programme which focuses 
increasing family housing particularly in the social rent tenure; and meeting the London Plan 
target for homes on an annual basis. The strategy expresses the Council’s housing agenda 
and commitment to delivering housing to meet the needs of residents including social 
housing for families by providing 1,000 new affordable homes for rent by 2023. 

7.89 In terms of the quantum of affordable housing nominated in H5, LBTH Planning and Housing 
colleagues are confident that the package of planning contributions has been maximised, 
having had the economic viability of the Trafalgar Way scheme independently assessed. 
Through the financial viability it has been confirmed that the development is not financially 
better off by providing affordable housing off site than on-site. 

Affordable housing conclusions 

7.90 It is noted that the scheme would fail to achieve the borough’s target affordable housing on 
site deliver, instead option for a PIL which would be equivalent to a 35% mix of 70:30 in 
favour of affordable rented units. 

7.91 Officers are aware that there is a tension between delivering onsite affordable housing and 
the required tenure split. It was considered that overall, securing a full PIL was best resolved 
through ensuring the scheme delivered 35% habitable rooms as affordable. Delivering 
affordable housing on the scheme would not allow the residential element to come forward 
considering the site constraints. The market housing would be broadly consistent with the 
developments. The over provision of provision studios would not raise concern considering 
these are in the market tenure. 

7.92 When considering the affordable housing offer it is considered that strong weight be equally 
given to the quality of the housing, as well as the quantum. It is noted that the contribution 
provided would provide a contribution in line with 35% of the housing on site, which would 
equate to 74 habitable rooms and enable the council to deliver on its capital programme 
providing genuinely affordable homes for residents and enabling the borough to better 
deliver on mixed and balanced/inclusive communities.  

7.93 The proposed development would secure the maximum viable amount of affordable housing 
as a payment in lieu and whilst there would be some tensions with respect it not being 
delivered on site, or the target of 50%, overall, the provision of a PIL equivalent to 35% 
affordable housing would carry substantial weight in favour of the proposal.  

7.94 Lastly, as per London Plan policies review mechanisms would be put in place to ensure the 
maximum contribution is secured as well as placing the moneys in a separate pot through 

Page 60



the s106 which would enable a greater provision to be made off site which has been 
identified in the Council’s capital programme.  
 
Wheelchair Accessible Housing 

7.95 London Plan Policy D3 seeks to ensure that proposals achieve the highest standards of 
accessible and inclusive design (not just the minimum). Any application should ensure that 
the development can be entered and used safely, easily and with dignity by all; is convenient 
and welcoming with no disabling barriers, providing independent access without additional 
undue effort, separation or special treatment; is designed to incorporate safe and dignified 
emergency evacuation for all building users; and as a minimum at least one lift per core 
should be a fire evacuation lift suitable to be used to evacuate people who require level 
access from the building.  

7.96 London Plan Policy D5 requires that at least 10% of new build dwellings meet Building 
Regulation requirement M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ (Regulation M4(3) (a) designed to 
be ‘wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users); and 
all other new build dwellings must meet Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible 
and adaptable dwellings’.  

7.97 The proposal would feature wide and clearly legible areas of public realm, which would be 
accessible by disabled people. The proposal would provide 10% of homes as wheelchair 
accessible, which is supported. The Council should secure M4(2) and M4(3) requirements 
by condition or obligation. As noted above, the applicant should provide fire evacuation lifts 
as required by Policy D5.  

7.98 All homes have been designed to comply with the Building Regulations Part M4(2) 
(‘accessible and adaptable) and 10% would comply with Building Regulations Part M4(3)(a) 
and (b) (easily adaptable or fitted out). Officers recommend that the delivery of wheelchair 
accessible homes is secured by condition. 
 
Quality of residential accommodation 

Policy 

7.99 London Plan policy D6 sets out the minimum internal space standards for new dwellings. 
This policy also requires the maximisation of dual aspect dwellings and the provision of 
sufficient daylight and sunlight to new dwellings. 

7.100 Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.H3 requires developments to meet the most up-to-date 
London Plan space standards and provide a minimum of 2.5m floor-to-ceiling heights. 

7.101 Private amenity space requirements are determined by the predicted number of occupants 
of a dwelling. Local Plan Policy D.H3 sets out that a minimum of 5sqm is required for 1-2 
person dwellings with an extra 1sqm provided for each additional occupant. In addition, 
London Plan Housing SPG reiterates the above standards and states that a maximum of 
eight dwellings per each core on each floor. 

Housing standards and guidance 

7.102 The tower would provide 4 units per floor around a central core which is in accordance with 
the GLA housing SPG and represent good design as there would be no long corridors.  

7.103 All of the proposed units would meet or exceed the internal floorspace standards. In line with 
guidance, the detailed floor plans submitted with the application demonstrate that the 
proposed dwellings would be able to accommodate the furniture, storage, access and 

Page 61



activity space requirements. All flats would be dual aspect and provide an appropriate level 
of private amenity space.  

7.104 The layouts of the units would maximise daylight to living areas and there would be sufficient 
distance between the buildings to ensure adequate privacy. Distances between the 
residential and student blocks would be a minimum of 14m and the nearest development to 
the south would be 27m. The orientation of the building ensures each of the residential units 
has open views across London. 

7.105 Overall, the proposed flats would represent a high standard of residential quality and accord 
with the Local Plan and London Plan policies. 

Noise & Vibration 

7.106 The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment. This concludes that the 
proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact on nearby homes and that 
the proposed housing would have an acceptable noise environment. Noise was scoped into 
the Environment Statement, and the chapter was part of rigorous assessment by LBTH 
noise officers and Temple Group acting on behalf of the Council. 

7.107 Within the scope of the ES, concerns were raised with respect to noise impacts as related to 
additional road traffic from the development. It is noted that these concerns were resolved 
with the clarification of the façade system as well as the implementation of an acoustic wall 
at podium level. 

7.108 LBTH Noise Officers separately recommend the inclusion of conditions relation to 
restrictions on demolition and construction activities, mechanical plant, and noise and 
vibration mitigation. 

7.109 Subject to securing the above mitigation by way of planning conditions, officers agree that 
the proposed new homes would have an acceptable noise environment and that the 
proposed development does not cause unacceptable noise impacts on existing surrounding 
homes. 

Air Quality 

7.110 Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.ES2 requires development to be at least ‘Air Quality 
Neutral’ and calls on air quality impacts to identify any necessary mitigation for 
developments that would cause harm to air quality. 

7.111 The site is within the borough-wide Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) (NO2 objective 
and 24-hour mean PM10 objective). The northern part of the site is also partly within ‘area of 
sub-standard air quality’ as identified on the Proposals Map. 

7.112 Noting the increased traffic generated by the development as well as the hot foot takeaway 
on site a number of clarifications were sought from the GLA’s air quality consultant as a 
result of the Stage 1 technical appraisal. Following the submission of these the appraisal 
found that the proposed development was unlikely to have significant adverse impacts on 
local air quality and was broadly in line with London Plan policies on air quality, subject to 
securing the relevant conditions.  

7.113 LBTH Air quality officers were also consulted on the scheme and raised no immediate 
concerns with final details to be secured via condition. 

Amenity space 

7.114 Private amenity space requirements are determined by the predicted number of occupants 
of a dwelling. Policy D.H3 of the Tower Hamlets Local Plan sets out that a minimum of 5sqm 

Page 62



is required for 1-2 person dwellings with an extra 1sqm provided for each additional 
occupant. If in the form of balconies they should have a minimum width of 1500mm.  

7.115 Part 5c and d of D.H3 requires communal amenity space and child play space for all 
developments with ten or more units. The child play space requirement is 10sqm per child as 
determined by the Tower Hamlets Child Yield Calculator.  

7.116 The proposal provides private amenity space in the form of balconies to all flats, this has 
been considered within the residential quality section of the report. Communal amenity 
space and child play space is provided across the ground levels and towers as shown on the 
map below.  The yellow shading is communal amenity space at podium level and the green 
shading is open space at ground floor level. 

 

Figure 3: Map showing communal amenity and open space 

 

7.117 It is important to note that there are no standards for the student element on communal 
space, however, using the 2.5-1 conversion ratio the development would be required to 
provide communal space for 748 units. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

7.118 The site has been identified in an area of Open Space deficiency and the due to density of 
the site from the student use the development would be required to open space, shown in 
the table below: 
 

 

 

 
  

Required  Proposed 

798sqm 770sqm 

Required  Proposed 

2.21ha 917sqm 

Table 7: Communal amenity space 

Table 8: Open space 

Page 63



7.119 In using the Tower Hamlets Child Yield Calculator, the below requirements for child play 
provision are generated: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Table 

9: Child yield calculator  

Communal Amenity  

7.120 The proposed communal amenity space would be located at podium level and would slightly 
underprovide on the required area when using the residential conversion, by 28sqm. It is 
also noted students would have exclusive access to 3650sqm of amenity space spread 
across the rest of the development. Considering the constrains of the site and that there 
aren’t any set standards for students the proposed space is acceptable. Notwithstanding the 
above the residential element alone would only need to provide 130sqm, which the 
development adequately provides.  

Play space 

7.121 As detailed above the development is predicted to generate 18 children and therefore 
225sqm of child play space is required; split across the different age groups set out in the 
GLA’s Play and Informal Recreation SPG (2012). The GLA’s Play and Recreation 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012) provides detailed guidance on the appropriate 
distances to local play spaces as well as guidance on the needs of the different age groups 
in terms of equipment and scale.  

7.122 The proposal provides play space in excess of the policy requirement for 0-4 and 5-11 years 
of age, however all of this is located indoors. Following updates, the dedicated space at 
ground floor level was removed as this was located between the Drive-Thru entrance, the 
service route and main road, which is not a safe space for children to play. Through 
discussion with officers and in recognition of the challenges of meeting the total required 
outdoor space to meet the GLA required level, the above policy requirement level of indoor 
space is considered to be accepted, noting that the scheme would not provide onsite 
affordable housing and limited levels of family sized housing. The indoor area would be 
subject to a condition requiring a management plan as well as secured within the S106 
agreement.  

7.123 Nevertheless, for children aged 12 and above, the applicant has identified open/play spaces 
which accommodate the requirements of this age group within 800m walking distance of the 
site. Namely, the Poplar Recreation Ground located outside Poplar DLR railway station 
(650m) provides significant piece of open space which provides a fully inclusive playground 
designed for children aged 5 – 18, a bowls green, tennis courts, netball, basketball and 
multi-use games pitch. 

Open Space 

Age Group Child yield Area Required 
(sqm) 

Area proposed 

Years 0 – 4 8 82 82 

Years 5 – 11 6 59 143 

Years 12 – 18  4 40 0 

Total 18 children 180 225 

Page 64



7.124 The development was found to be in an area of open space deficiency and the Health 
Impact Assessment identified a lack of open space as key issue for the development. As the 
site area is only 0.4ha it is not possible to provide the necessary London Plan requirement 
on site, however, areas of open space have been maximised as much as possible within the 
site constraints. Discussions with the Council’s parks team have been undertaken and 
confirmed that the shortfall in open space could be captured by a financial contribution 
(£1,490,131.08) secured via the s106 agreement which would go towards improving or 
providing nearby facilities.  

7.125 Furthermore, there will be a considerable financial open space and play space contribution 
delivered through the application and more broadly the nearby South Poplar Masterplan 
which includes the Billingsgate Site Allocation is earmarked to deliver a combined 1.8ha of 
open space.  

7.126 Overall, the scheme would be in accordance with the relevant policies for communal amenity 
space and play space. The existing nearby open spaces would provide good play space for 
all ages within walking distance and the future developments would further enhance the 
open space provision within the area.  

 

Figure 4: Location of Open space within the South Poplar Masterplan Area 

 
 Daylight/Sunlight – for proposed new development 
 
7.127 Policy D.DH8 requires the protection of the amenity of future residents and occupants by 

ensuring adequate levels of daylight and sunlight for new residential developments. To 
assess daylight to the new development the Environmental Statement uses the new 
British/European standard BS EN 17037 ‘Daylight in buildings’. BS EN17037, which is an 
acceptable practice. 

 
7.128 To assess sunlight provision, the ES uses the recommendation in the old British Standard 

Code of Practice for daylight, BS 8206 Part 2 and the BRE Report 'Site layout planning for 
daylight and sunlight: a guide to good practice'. This is based on a room achieving 25% of 
annual probable sunlight hours year-round and 5% in the winter. The new BS EN 17037 has 
different recommendations based on the hours of possible sunlight that can be achieved on 

Page 65



a specific date. The use of the older recommendation is still common practice, and it can be 
argued that it represents a better metric because it assesses the sunlight received year-
round, rather than on a specific date. The use of the older standard is therefore acceptable. 
 

7.129 The applicant has submitted a Daylight and Sunlight Review of the scheme, undertaken by 
Point 2, in support of the application.  

 
 Daylight 

 
7.130 With regards to daylight the submitted assessment uses the method in the new 

British/European standard BS EN 17037 ‘Daylight in buildings’. The assessment has 
analysed a sample of the proposed residential rooms, focusing on worst case locations. This 
approach raises no objections as has been confirmed by the independent review. 
 

7.131 Within the residential block there would be a good level of compliance. The assessment 
have analysed 48 of the 246 habitable rooms in this block. Two of the 48 would not meet the 
minimum recommendations; these are both bedrooms which would still receive some 
daylight over at least a third of the room. The other 46 rooms would all meet the 
recommendations. 
 

7.132 Overall, this would represent a very high level of compliance for a high-density development, 
and this would ensure adequate daylight to all the proposed dwellings. 
 
Sunlight   
 

7.133 In housing the main requirement for sunlight is in living rooms, where it is valued any time of 
the day but especially in the afternoon. In terms of the sunlight results for the proposed units 
the all the main living rooms that face within 90° of due south will receive good levels of 
sunlight as per the guidance. 

DESIGN  

Design Policy 

7.134 Development Plan policies require high-quality designed schemes that reflect local context 
and character and provide attractive, safe and accessible places that safeguard and where 
possible enhance the setting of heritage assets. 

7.135 Development Plan policies require high-quality designed schemes that reflect local context 
and character and provide attractive, safe and accessible places that safeguard and where 
possible enhance the setting of heritage assets.  

7.136 London Plan (2021) policy D3 promotes the design-led to optimise site capacity. The policy 
requires high density development to be in locations well connected to jobs, services, 
infrastructures and amenities, in accordance with London Plan (2021) D2 which requires 
density of developments to be proportionate to the site’s connectivity and accessibility.  

7.137 Tower Hamlets Local Plan policy S.DH1 outlines the key elements of high-quality design so 
that the proposed development is sustainable, accessible, attractive, durable and well-
integrated into their surroundings. Complementary to this strategic policy, Local Plan policy 
D.DH2 seeks to deliver an attractive, accessible and well-designed network of streets and 
spaces across the borough.  

Density  
 

Page 66



7.138 London Plan Policies D2 and D3 require optimising site capacity through a design-led 
approach, whilst taking account of existing and proposed infrastructure. Explanatory text to 
Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.DH7 makes clear that proposed tall and dense 
developments are required to consider the criteria set out in Policy D.DH6. The Council’s 
High-Density Living SPD (December 2020) provides guidance on designing for high density. 
 

7.139 Taking account of the proposed non-residential uses, the proposed development would have 
a density of 1,410 u/ha (3,799 hr/ha). London Policy D4 requires that all proposals exceeding 
30m high and 350 units per hectare must have undergone a local borough process of design 
scrutiny. The applicant has engaged extensively with officers and an emerging scheme for 
the site was considered by the Conservation and Design Advisory Panel (CADAP), which 
has informed the current scheme and design layout. The application scheme generally 
reflects guidance in the High-Density Living SPD, which was in draft at the time that the 
application was submitted. The London Plan (para. 9.4.9) requires applications for higher 
density developments (over 350u/ha) to provide details of day-to-day servicing and 
deliveries, longer-term maintenance implications and the long-term affordability of running 
costs and service charges (by different types of occupiers). 

 
Site Layout 

 
Overall layout 

 
7.140 The proposed development comprises three tall buildings (Building 1, 2 and 3 read from west 

to east), covering the majority of the plot linked across various podiums. The ground floor is 
deliberately split into two halves with the general arrangement of the site proposing a 
defensive approach along Aspen Way where the McDonalds Drive Thru is located, and a 
more engaging interface along Trafalgar Way with the various building entrances, retail units 
with active frontages and public realm/landscaping. 

 

Figure 5 - Ground floor Layout 

 
7.141 Levels 1-3 across all the building are linked via a shared podium in a similar layout to the 

ground floor which contains the McDonalds restaurant, the commercial floorspace and a 
significant portion of the ancillary facilities such as the cycle store, changing rooms, 
management office and residential play & communal space. 

 

Page 67



7.142 At level 10, Buildings 2 & 3 are linked via a Sky Bridge which will provide a variety of ancillary 
spaces associated with the student accommodation, including study spaces, social gathering 
spaces and a gymnasium, emphasising the scheme as a campus.  
 

7.143 A condition is recommended to secure the implementation of the proposed retail frontage 
improvements. 

 

Figure 6 - Main Student accommodation entrance along Trafalgar Way 

Townscape, Massing and Heights 

7.144 London Plan Policy D9 provides a strategic guidance for tall buildings in the London area. 
The policy also sets out criteria which against which development proposals should be 
assessed and these include visual, functional and environmental impacts.  

7.145 Tower Hamlets Local Plan policy D.DH6 seeks to guide and manage the location, scale and 
development of tall buildings in the borough. The policy identifies five tall buildings clusters in 
the borough and sets out principles of each of them.  

Tall Building Policy 

7.146 London Plan Policy D9 states that boroughs should determine if there are locations where 
tall buildings may be an appropriate form of development, subject to meeting the other 
requirements of the Plan. It also requires proposals for tall buildings to address their visual, 
functional, environmental and cumulative impacts.  

7.147 Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.DH6 directs tall buildings to designated Tall Building 
Zones (Aldgate, Canary Wharf, Millwall Inner Dock, Blackwall and Leamouth). Outside of 
these zones, Part 3 of the policy makes clear that tall building proposals will only be 
supported provided they meet the general criteria set out in Part 1 of the policy and can 
demonstrate how they will:  

a. be located in areas with high levels of public transport accessibility within town 
centres and/or opportunity areas;  
b. address deficiencies in the provision of strategic infrastructure;  
c. significantly strengthen the legibility of a Major, District or Neighbourhood Centre 
or mark the location of a transport interchange or other location of civic or visual 
significance within the area, and  
d. not undermine the prominence and/or integrity of existing landmark buildings and 
tall building zones. 

Page 68



7.148 Explanatory text for Policy D.DH6 makes clear that tall buildings outside of Tall Building 
Zones will be expected to serve as landmarks and unlock strategic infrastructure provision 
(specific examples include publicly accessible open space, new transport interchanges, river 
crossings and educational and health facilities serving more than the immediate local area) 
to address existing deficiencies and future needs (as identified in the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan and other relevant strategies). The height of these buildings should relate to their role 
as a local, district or metropolitan landmark and the surrounding context height (as 
categorised in the Tall Buildings Study). In addition, proposals should ensure that there is 
adequate distance between the proposed and existing tall buildings in the area to ensure 
that the positive aspects of the existing local character and legibility are maintained and/ or 
enhanced.  

7.149 The previous planning permission allowed two tall buildings of 34 storeys (127m AOD) and 
28 storeys (108 AOD). 

The proposed tall buildings 

7.150 The proposed 46, 36, and 28 storey buildings, with its distinct bottom, middle and top 
elements, has been designed to provide a legible new marker for the regenerated South 
Poplar area and gateway to Canary Wharf. It would be taller than the existing development 
directly to the south along Boardwalk Place and Hornley Walk when seen from the east, and 
taller than the recent developments at Blackwall Reach and Poplar Business Park to the 
north.  It would be comparable in height and scale to New Providence Wharf schemes, the 
tallest element being Charrington Tower a 44-storey residential building. Further to the south 
and west lies comparable schemes at Wood Wharf, north Quay and the Canary Wharf.   

 

Figure 7  - View looking north 

7.151 The tall buildings are to be located at a key entrance into Canary Wharf and on an important 
street east to west route into Central London, adjacent to the CAZ and within the South 
Poplar Master Plan Area.  The tallest element would be lower than New Providence Wharf 
and considerably lower than tall buildings the centre of Canary Wharf. 

Page 69



7.152 The proposed buildings are curved-rectangular in plan which results in an organic and 
sculptural from.  This deliberate design decision evolves on the original ‘helix’ permission 
and helps the scheme blend into the backdrop of the Canary Wharf whilst proving a marker 
point for the entrance into the Major Centre. The height ranges of the three towers with the 
tallest in the middle is considered to provide elegant roofline variations, an appropriate 
differentiation between the towers, and an appropriate image as an arrival point from the 
east along Aspen Way and on the DLR train 

7.153 The design of the tall building has evolved over time and has been influenced by discussion 
with officers and the Conservation Advisory Design Panel (CADAP). Changes include a re- 
reduction in height to be lower than New Providence Wharf, rotating and shaping the 
building to avoid presenting a wall of development and increasing distances between the 
buildings, adopting a more organic building form to create landmark architecture on a 
gateway site, and maximising active frontages at ground floor level by incorporating retail 
units.  

Acceptability of a tall building outside of a Tall Building Zone 

7.154 The site sits between Canary Wharf tall building zone (immediately adjacent but outside) and 
also close to the Blackwall TBZ (40m away). It should also be noted that the previously 
approved and implemented permission has established the principle of tall buildings on the 
site.  

7.155 The proposal is not located in a tall building zone.  Addressing criteria in Tower Hamlets 
Local Plan Policy D.DH6 Part 3 (tall buildings outside of TBZ’s) in turn: 
a) The site has ‘excellent’ public transport accessibility and is a London Plan Opportunity 

Area and directly adjacent to the Canary Wharf Major Centre;  
b) The proposed tall buildings would help deliver strategic infrastructure improvements to 

the Preston’s Road roundabout and nearby underpass which will help improve the north-
south pedestrian/cyclist permeability between Poplar and Blackwall 

c) The proposed tower would strengthen the legibility of the nearby Major Centre and 
transport interchange and nearby Thames path by providing a significant visual marker; 

d) It would not undermine the prominence and/or integrity of existing landmark buildings 
and tall building zones. This surrounding area has a number of tall buildings, including 
the nearby 44 storey New Providence Wharf development, 22 storey poplar Business 
Park and 20 storey Blackwall Reach development as well as the wider Canary Wharf 
cluster. Due to the physical barrier and inhuman-scaled nature of Aspen Way as well as 
the definitive Canary Wharf TBZ boundary along Trafalgar Way the buildings would 
better integrate into the Canary Wharf Cluster. The submitted HTV IA document 
(Heritage, Townscape & Visual Impact Assessment), confirms the site appropriately 
visually grouped with Canary Wharf, and it will be further grouped with Canary Wharf 
through potential development at the adjacent Billingsgate Market site and the North 
Quay Site. The long-range views shown do not appear to show that the proposed towers 
will create a merging of the two clusters of Canary Wharf TBZ and Blackwall TBZ. In 
addition, there is an approved scheme for two towers (29 and 35 storeys) as a baseline. 
The new scheme is not considered to have more of a ‘merging of TBZs’ issue than the 
approved one.  

 
 

Page 70



 
 
Figure 8: Proposed massing. View from Greenwich Park 

  

Page 71



Acceptability of the proposed tall building (general criteria) 

7.156 The general criteria set out in Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy D.DH6 Part 1 that all tall 
building proposals must meet can be summarised as follows: have a proportionate scale, be 
of exceptional architectural quality, enhance character of the area, provide a positive skyline, 
not prejudice development potential, ensure a high quality ground floor experience, 
demonstrate public safety requirements, present a human scale to the street, provide high 
quality private communal open space/play space, avoid adverse microclimate impacts, 
ensure no adverse impacts on biodiversity/open space, comply with civil aviation 
requirements and not have unacceptable impact on telecommunications.  

7.157 The proposal would introduce a prominent visual addition to the local townscape.  The   
Heritage Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (HTVIA) that forms part of the ES is 
based on 30 verified views that were agreed with officers. These demonstrate that the tall 
building would have a distinct cohesive and elegant design divided into a base, middle and 
top. In terms of addressing the policy; 

a)   The proposed development uses the previously implemented scheme as a baseline 
and having gone through several iterations of design reviews is of an appropriate 
height, scale and volume that is proportionate to its location and immediate context 
as the gateway site and marker point into the Canary Wharf. 

b)   Seen from the east along Trafalgar Way, the four-storey podium base would ground 
the building and activate the southern edge of the street. In views from the east and 
west the broader east and west-facing elevations would be read as a group with a 
single cohesive executable quality design. The facades of the two larger student 
accommodation buildings would be sub-divided vertically with sky gardens and the 
materials used are robust and durable so that the quality of the scheme does not 
degrade over time. Incorporation of Passivhaus principles and BREEAM Outstanding 
ensures the Proposed Development includes the highest sustainability design 
credentials. 

c)   As stated above the proposal has been comprehensively assessed and scoped 
through the HTVIA. The findings are that the development would sit well within the 
character of the existing townscape and not adversely detract from other local 
landmarks, heritage assets, key views and other historic skylines, and their settings.  

d)   The distinctive, high quality design through its use of robust materials, sustainability 
measures and lighting scheme would create a landmark scheme that reflects the 
local context and would be a positive contribution to the skyline.  

e)   The site is a peninsula bound by roads to the north, east and south, with generous 
the separation distances between the nearest buildings. This creates limited potential 
for the proposed development to impact on the development of neighbouring sites. A 
small section to the west adjoins the site currently occupied by Billingsgate Market 
which has a site allocation in the Local Plan promoting its redevelopment for offices 
and housing. The scheme has been designed in a way to future-proof the 
Billingsgate redevelopment by providing an appropriate set-back to the western 
portion of the site and a transformative public realm layout which promotes new 
pedestrian and cycle links. 

f)   The development has been designed to maximise distances between nearby 
residential development and through the course of pre-applications was significantly 
amended including rotating the buildings to improve the residential environment. The 
ground floor has also been significantly improved when compared to the 
implemented permission activating the ground floor with entrances to the 

Page 72



accommodation and retail units whilst pushing the drive through element to the north 
of the site which fronts Aspen Way. Furthermore, the significantly improved public 
realm along Trafalgar Way helps promote a human scale along Trafalgar Way. 

g)   The scheme has been designed with security and safety elements in mind providing 
a detailed lighting/surveillance strategy as well as a fire strategy. As a student led 
scheme security can be managed and controlled through the use of a student 
management plan with the Met Police proposing the use of planning conditions. In 
terms of the fire strategy whilst the GLA have commented that the submitted fire 
statement is relatively limited in terms of addressing the requirements of Policy D12 
there are no particular concerns with the development and sufficient revisions could 
be sought via planning condition.  

h)    As stated above the 4-storey podium which covers a large portion of the site will 
provide a human scale to the Proposed Development at street level.  The proposed 
design intends to move pedestrians/cyclists onto the more human scale Trafalgar 
Way with retail units, an enhanced public realm residential/student entrances and a 
bespoke signage scheme further highlighting this offering.  

i)   The site is heavily constrained in terms of its size and location and a result the 
public/communal/open space strategy reflects this. The majority of space is located 
at ground floor with a communal offering spread across the multiple podium levels. 
There is a shortfall in the space provided, however, this has been addressed by way 
of financial contribution which will secure funds to enhance nearby facilities. In terms 
of private amenity space this is in accordable with the minimum requirements. 

j)   The potential wind and microclimatic impacts of the Proposed Development have 
been modelled and tested as part of the Environmental Statement and reviewed by 
the Councils EIA officer. This concluded that there would be no likely significant wind 
effects as a result of the Proposed Development, including where the nearby future 
developments are considered. 

k) .  The development does not adversely impact on biodiversity and nearby water 
spaces which will be addressed later in the report. 

l)    Potential effects on aviation were scoped out of the EIA as the proposed tall building 
would be significantly below the 1,000 ft (approx. 300 metre) zone threshold within 
which the Civil Aviation Authority would support an objection to a planning 
application.  Likewise, potential effects of electronic interference on nearby 
residential properties were scoped out of the EIA given that the additional ‘shadow’ 
that would be generated by the proposed tall building would fall primarily over the 
same area created by tall buildings at Blackwall and Canary Wharf and significant 
effects are not anticipated.  

 

Page 73



 

Figure 9 - View from Poplar Dock Marina 

Conclusion 

7.158 Whilst it would be located outside of Tall Building Zone, the proposed tall building would 
meet all four ‘exception’ criteria set out in Part 3 of Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy 
D.DH6. Whilst the development would only be taller than the 29 and 35 storey building 
previously permitted, officers consider that the proposed building would contribute to an 
existing diverse townscape, comprise high-quality architecture, relate well to its surroundings 
and help deliver improvements to the public realm. Officers recommend that significant 
weight should be given to the regenerative benefits of the proposals and the role of the tall 
building in supporting the viability of the scheme.  Officers consider that the principle of a tall 
building in this location is acceptable and that the proposed building form and heights would 
deliver a suitably high-quality scheme.  

Impact on Designated Strategic Views 

7.159 The submitted HTVIA generally indicates that the scale and form of the towers will relate 
positively to the emerging skyline in longer range views and would appear as a family of 
well-proportioned buildings in close range views. 

7.160 The GLA and Greenwich requested further information on LVMF View FA.11B.1 (London 
Bridge towards Tower Bridge) and LVMF 5A (Maritime Greenwich World Heritage Site). 
Updated views have been provided and in all views the development would either not be 
visible from the LMV’s or hidden behind cumulative development for which the impact would 
be negligible. Heritage matters are addressed below. 

Appearance and Materials 

7.161 The facades of all three buildings express a strong horizontal language with spandrel panels 
clad in glass reinforced concrete (GRC) and metal of varying depths articulating the form at 
each floor. Curved glass helps soften the buildings and sky gardens on the two taller towers 
help articulate these building vertically and provide a layer of contrast in addition to 
differentiating the residential and student towers. The atypical floors of the podium and sky 

Page 74



bridge promotes an additional a sense of verticality and openness with large sections of 
glazing and metal cladding. A greater degree of solidity is applied to the lower levels of the 
building serving to appear as a robust base which supports the buildings above.  

7.162 The character and appearance of the proposed development would promote a single 
cohesive and homogenous design which ties together well with the proposed public realm. 
Overall, the proposed architectural quality and materiality of the scheme is broadly 
supported. It is recommended that details of external materials are secured by planning 
condition. 

Landscaping & Public Realm  

7.163 London Plan Policy D8 requires development proposals to ensure that public realm is well-
designed, safe, accessible, inclusive, attractive, well-connected, and easy to understand and 
maintain.  

7.164 Tower Hamlets Local Plan policy D.DH2 requires developments to positively contribute to 
the public realm through the provision of active frontages and multi-usable spaces that can 
cater for social gathering and recreational uses.  

7.165 The site is surrounded on all sides by some significant road infrastructure, particularly to the 
north and to provide residents with a safe and vibrant space, interventions above ground and 
outside the redline are required. The scheme provides three distinct landscaped areas 

 

 The landscaping/public realm within the redline fronting Trafalgar way with planters and 
trees 

 The public realm/highways improvements outside the redline including Trafalgar way 
resurfacing and underpass access 

 Communal amenity space at podium level 

7.166 The submitted Landscape strategy sets out a considered approach to landscaping and 
imaginative play opportunities would be integrated into all the proposed spaces above 
ground floor. After extensive highways discussions the public realm inside the redline would 
be paved and Trafalgar way would no longer be a shared space but a more typical highway 
with an increased dedication to pedestrians and cyclists leading down to the entirely 
regenerated underpass which provides improved access to the north. 

7.167 Typical landscaping features from within the site incorporate granite & pedestal paving, 
poured surfaces, and raised/anti-slip decking. A rich variety of soft landscaping features 
including hedges, shrubs, and trees will be located across the site encouraging a diverse 
range of species contributing to the varied character of the different spaces.  

Page 75



 

Figure 10: Landscape Character Areas 

Lighting 

7.168 The strategy for lighting within the scheme is to illuminate the road and public realm to 
create a safe and welcoming environment whilst also creating a sense of place and 
providing a visual hierarchy and includes multi fixture lighting posts and bollards in the public 
realm, LED lighting on street furniture and fixtures and linear feature lighting. A full lighting 
strategy will be secured via condition.  

Trees 

7.169 As the site has been cleared there are no existing trees. To promote biodiversity and 
ecology 49 trees are proposed within the redline boundary across all areas (not including the 
sky gardens). It is recommended that a condition reserves the detailed specification of the 
proposed new trees and requires that any that die within five years of planting are re-
provided.  

Summary 

7.170 Officers support the proposed landscaping and enhancement of natural features and 
lighting. It is recommended that details of the landscaping management are secured by 
planning condition to ensure a high quality of landscape design and maintenance.  

Safety & Security 

7.171 The site has been boarded up and unoccupied for some years and therefore the crime 
figures from around the site are relevant. The provided statistics from the Met Police are still 
significant and considering the number and type of users on site safety and security 
measures will be imperative.   

7.172 The proposed scheme has been developed in consultation with the Met Police Designing 
Out Crime Officer (DOCO) and Counter Terrorism Security Advisor (CTSA). Design features 
incorporated into the design include: 
 

 25/7 staff presence and comprehensive CCTV system across the scheme 

Page 76



 Access control system to control access to designated building areas based upon 
identification credentials 

 Design of facade avoids any recesses which could encourage loitering and maintains 
linear sight lines across site to aid passive surveillance. 

 Vehicle attack mitigation, including bollards and landscaping features designed to 
protect outdoor public realm areas and prevent ramming of the facade. 

 An uprated glazing and facade system designed to reduce the potential for 
fragmentation injuries in the event of a blast. 

 Structural system designed to resist vehicle impact and to maintain overall structural 
integrity in the case of a blast. 

7.173 Outside of the site a transformative regeneration of the entrance to the underpass to the 
south east of the site is proposed. This will vastly improve upon the dimly lit, poorly designed 
space which descends in a corkscrew with few dire lines to a well-lit open space with 
separate access for pedestrian and cycle users.  

7.174 The Metropolitan DOCO supports the proposed overall layout and has made specific 
comments on the need for detailed design of the proposed communal open spaces and 
street furniture are carefully designed to design out anti-social behaviour. It is recommended 
that planning conditions relating to Secured by Design are attached to any decision.  

Inclusive Design 

7.175 Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (2016) and policy S.SG2 of the Local Plan seek to ensure that 
developments are accessible, usable and permeable for all users and that a development 
can be used easily by as many people as possible without undue effort, separation or 
special treatment.  

7.176 The ground floor entrances are set at grade level and offer step free wheelchair access. 
Where the ground floor is elevated for the maisonettes there are ramps internally to ensure 
the ground floor is fully accessible. Furthermore, the proposed development will provide 27 
accessible car parking spaces which will be reserved for use by blue badge holders. The 
landscaping is step free which will allow users to enjoy the riverwalk regardless of their 
accessibility levels. Lifts would be provided within both the office and residential dwellings 
with all cores to dwellings featuring two lifts. 

7.177 The scheme proposes that 10% of units across the development, comprising a mix of unit 
sizes will be delivered as wheelchair user dwellings, the remaining units will be delivered to 
Building Regulation M4(2) specifications. This is supported and will be secured by condition, 
along with Building Regulations standards M4(2) and M4(3) in line with London Plan Policy 
3.8 and Policy D5 of the Draft New London Plan. 

7.178 It is considered that the proposal would result in a scheme that would be well connected to 
its surroundings and would provide accommodation that can be used easily and with dignity 
by all. 

Design Conclusion 

7.179 To conclude it is considered that the scale, height, and massing of the proposal would 
respond appropriately to the site’s strategic role within the Borough and London more 
broadly.  

7.180 The form and layout of t-he proposed buildings would create a strong relationship with the 
street and greatly enhance the existing townscape. The architecture is well considered and 
responds directly to extant permission and wider surrounds. The materials and appearance 

Page 77



of the buildings would be of an exceptional quality and the design would appear as a vibrant 
addition marking the gateway into the Canary Wharf.   

7.181 The landscaping of the scheme is viewed as a considerable public benefit of the scheme 
due to activating Trafalgar Way and the opening up of the southern subway entrance. The 
introduction of soft landscaping and plantings will contribute positively to the biodiversity of 
the area. 

7.182 In apportioning weight to these benefits it is considered the scheme design and landscaping 
carries significant weight in favour of the proposal. 

HERITAGE  

7.183 Statutory tests for the assessment of planning applications affecting listed buildings and 
conservation areas are found in Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Section 66(1) relates to applications that affect a listed 
building or its setting.  It requires the decision maker to: “have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses”. Section 72(1) relates to applications affecting a 
conservation area.  It states that “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area”.  There is a presumption 
that development should preserve or enhance the character or appearance of conservation 
areas. 

7.184 London Plan Policy HC1 and Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy S.DH3 require developments 
affecting heritage assets and their settings to conserve their significance, by being 
sympathetic to their form, scale, material and architectural detail.  

7.185 London Plan policy HC4 seeks to protect strategic views identified in the London View 
Management Framework. Tower Hamlets Local Plan D.DH4 reiterates this requirement and 
requires developments to preserve and positively contribute to the skyline of strategic 
importance. 

7.186 The Townscape Heritage Visual Impact Assessment (THVIA) that forms part of the ES 
considers and assesses the likely significant effects on above ground heritage assets within 
a 500m radius of the site in relation to conservation areas and Listed Buildings.  The THVIA 
also considers and assesses the likely significant effects on townscape within 500m of the 
site, identifying the following three Townscape Character Areas (TCAs): 

- Canary Wharf Character Area 

- Blackwall Character Area 

7.187 The identified designated heritage assets within these areas are the Limehouse Cut, 
Langdon Park, St Annes Church, Landsbury, Balfron Tower, St Frideswide’s St Matthias 
Church, All Saints Poplar, West India Dock, Coldharbour and Naval Row Conservation 
Areas and the following  statutory listed buildings which have been divided into 7 groups 
based upon their location 

 
Group 1: Poplar Dock 

 Accumulator Tower on west side of Poplar Dock (Grade II) 

 Poplar Dock, original eastern part (Grade II) 

 Accumulator Tower to south-east corner of Poplar Dock (Grade II) 

 Bridge House (Grade II) 
 
 

Page 78



Group 2: West India Dock and Blackwall Basin 

 Warehouse and general offices at western end of north quay, West India Dock 
(Grade I) 

 Walls, copings and buttresses to import dock and export dock, 

 West India Dock (Grade I) 

 Blackwall Basin (Grade I) 
 
Group 3: St. Matthias 

 Poplar Technical college (Grade II) 

 St Mattias’s Vicarage (Grade II) 

 Church of St Matthias (Grade II*) 

 Old Poplar Town Hall and Council offices (Grade II) 

 Coroner’s Court and 3 Piers immediately in front (Grade II) 
 
Group 4: Poplar Baths 

 Poplar Baths (Grade II) 

 Statue of Richard Green (Grade II) 
 
Group 5: All Saints 

 All Saints Rectory (Grade II) 

 Gate Piers at Children’s Playground (Grade II) 

 Railed wall and gate piers at All Saints Church with St Frideswide (Grade II) 

 All Saints Church with St. Frideswide (Grade II) 

 45-51 Bazely Street (Grade II) 

 Nos.5-,6,7,8,9,10,11 Mountague Place (Grade II) 

 Nos.1-3 and 24 Bazely Street 
 
Group 6: East India Dock 

 Northern portal and parapet to the Blackwall Tunnel (Grade II) 

 Embankment Wall, Railings and Steps (Grade II) 

 East India Dock Boundary Wall (Grade II) 

 East India Dock House, former Financial Times Print Works (Grade II*) 

 East India Dock Pumping Station (Grade II) 
 
Group 7: Blackwall 

 Northern Ventilation Shaft to the Blackwall Tunnel Southbound (Grade II) 

 Dry Dock at Blackwall Engineering (Grade II) 

 Virginia Quay Settlers Monument (Grade II) 

 Blackwall Pier and Entrance Lock to Former East India Dock (Grade II) 
 

7.188 As discussed under Design above, none of the Designated Borough Views or strategic views 
identified in the London Plan would be affected by the proposed tall buildings. 

7.189 In terms of heritage assets, the buildings would be visible in the setting of a number of 
identified heritage assets. In terms of the setting of the neighbouring conservation areas 
there would an increased change to include a more varied taller modern character of those 
settings, particularly to the Coldharbour Conservation Area, All Saints Church and All Saints 
Church, Poplar Conservation Area, although this is not uncommon in the area and is indeed 
established through previous development and the previous permission. The HVTIA 
concludes that there would be no impacts whereas the GLA have identified that there would 
be some impact, although this would be less than substantial.  

Page 79



7.190 With regards to other neighbouring heritage assets, whilst the submitted HVTIA states that 
there would be no harm officers and the GLA conclude that the proposed tall buildings would 
cause some harm to the setting of nearby heritage assets, namely the Poplar Dock Marina.  

7.191 Whilst the tallest building proposed would be visible above the church when viewed from the 
north side it would not be visible in the most prominent or important views of the Church. 
From the front the Church building can still be appreciated without the new development 
being visible. The setting of the church is mainly informed by the surrounding church yard 
and cluster of older retail and commercial buildings on the northern side of Bow Road.  The 
harm to the setting is therefore considered to be less than substantial. 

7.192 Whilst the tallest building would also be visible in the setting of other listed buildings it is 
officers view that the setting of these heritage assets already consist of a varied and modern 
built form which includes tall buildings similar in scale to the proposed in the application.  
The proposed development would result in a change to the setting of these buildings in 
certain views and would cause some limited, less than substantial harm to their significance 
as heritage assets.   

7.193 Where a decision maker considers there is harm, the NPPF requires decision makers to 
distinguish between ‘Substantial’ or ‘Less than substantial’ harm.  If a proposal would lead to 
substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, consent 
should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm (paragraph 202). 
Where a development would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal (paragraph 202).  

7.194 The likely overall public benefits of the proposed development can be summarised as 
follows: 
 

 Bringing stalled site forward and regeneration of the area 

 Landmark building with high architectural quality to mark the entrance into Canary Wharf 

 Equivalent of delivering 748 new high-quality homes helping to meet housing targets 

 PIL of 35% affordable housing (uplift of 8% compared to extant permission) 

 Providing meaningful contribution to student accommodation sector including affordable 
student accommodation 

 All spaces built to be accessible and adaptable and 10% to be wheelchair accessible; 

 Significant 38% discount on Affordable Workspace  

 Wider improvements to the public realm and connections with surrounding area which 
includes a total re-vitalisation of the subway entrance and links to Poplar High Street 

 Biodiversity and ecologic benefits; 

 Significant reduction in car parking spaces from 97 to 6 (including 4 disabled) 

 A ‘car-free’ development, providing for 1494 new cycle parking spaces; 

 New sustainable drainage measures, including green roofs on all buildings; 

 All student floorspace space to meet BREEAM ‘Outstanding’ rating; 

 All floorspace to meet Passivhaus criteria 

 59% reduction in total onsite carbon, significantly above London Plan requirement; 

 1672 new student residents (approx. £7.8m per annum additional spend in the local 
economy) 

 Significant number of jobs including local residents 

7.195 Officers consider that, on balance, the likely overall planning benefits of the proposed 
development would outweigh the ‘less than substantial harm’ to the heritage assets identified 
above. 

Page 80



Maritime Greenwich World Heritage Site  

7.196 The Development is circa 2.6km due north/north-east and would be glimpsed in the 
background of some views of the World Heritage Site (WHS). The proposed development’s 
form, appearance, and location within such views would be consistent with their existing 
character.  

7.197 It would clearly belong to the background 'layer' of tall buildings which already exists within 
such views and it is considered to have no effect on the ability to recognise and appreciate 
the WHS, and the various elements within it, in the foreground of the views. 

7.198 The Development would be consistent with the requirements of the Statement of 
Outstanding Universal Value and the 'London's World Heritage Sites - Guidance on settings' 
SPG. In accordance with the London Plan (2016), although it would represent a change to 
the setting of the WHS, this change would not in any way compromise a viewer's ability to 
appreciate its Outstanding Universal Value. 

7.199 The Development would not adversely affect the visual integrity of the WHS and would have 
no effect on its Outstanding Universal Value. 

 

Figure 11: LVMF 5A.1 – Greenwich Park (cumulative view) 

Archaeology 

7.200 Development plan policies require measures to identify record, protect, and where 
appropriate present the site’s archaeology. The site lies within an Archaeological Priority 
Area and has been referred to the Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service 
(GLAAS) – although no response has been received.  

7.201 The ES (Chapter 13) identifies a likely moderate adverse effect and identifies archaeological 
undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation, and it is recommended 
that this is secured by condition. 

Neighbour Amenity 

Page 81



7.202 Development Plan policies seek to protect neighbour amenity safeguarding privacy, not 
creating allowing unacceptable levels of noise and ensuring acceptable daylight and sunlight 
conditions. 
  

Page 82



Privacy & Outlook  

7.203 The proposed buildings largely follow the existing footprint of the approved application with 
the addition of a third tower to the western end of the site which is set back from the 
southern edge of the red line boundary. All elements of the scheme have been designed 
such that the privacy and outlook of people living in existing homes would be safeguarded 
and this includes rotating the buildings so that primary viewing angles for the residential 
tower face south west onto the roundabout and not directly into neighbouring properties or 
north across Aspen Way, whilst the student accommodation buildings do not have external 
balconies and sit in place of the established buildings from the extant permission. The 
design has also taken the future development at the Billingsgate Market into consideration, 
being set back from the western edge of the site. Particular adjacencies of note are as 
follows: 

 

- 1-11 Boardwalk Place (44m away with main elevation fronting the marina) 

- 322-331 Boardwalk Place (27m away with main elevation facing marina 

- Blocks A, B &C Poplar Business Park (consented scheme minimum 63m away with 
Aspen Way dividing the schemes) 

- Wharfside point South (65m away with Aspen Way dividing the schemes) 

- Block H Blackwall Reach (112m away) 

- 13-25 Gaselee Street (113m away) 

 

Figure 12: Distance between nearby properties  

 

7.204 Objections have been received with specific regards with the loss of privacy and overlooking 
from the amenity space at podium level, however, the nearest properties are 27m away 
which is well in excess of the Council’s 18m guideline and an acceptable distance between 
viewpoints from properties.  

Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing 

7.205 Guidance relating to daylight and sunlight is contained in the Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) handbook ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ (2011).  

Page 83



7.206 To calculate daylight to neighbouring properties, the BRE guidelines, referenced in the 
Council’s Local Plan policies, emphasise that vertical sky component (VSC) is the primary 
assessment together with the no sky line (NSL) assessment where internal room layouts are 
known or can reasonably be assumed.  For sunlight, applicants should calculate the annual 
probable sunlight hours (APSH) to windows of main habitable rooms of neighbouring 
properties that face within 90˚ of due south and are likely to have their sunlight reduced by 
the development massing.  For Sun Hours on Ground (SHoG) assessment, the requirement 
is that a garden or amenity area with a requirement for sunlight should have at least 50% of 
its area receiving 2 hours of sunlight on 21st March.   

7.207 The ES assesses the likely significant impact of the proposal on the daylight and sunlight on 
44 surrounding residential properties (sensitive receptors) identified in Figure 13 below: 

 

Figure 13 - Daylight, sunlight and overshadowing sensitive receptors 
  

Page 84



1 - 11 
Boardwalk 
Place  

311 - 321 
Boardwalk 
Place  

5 St 
Lawrence 
Cottages, 
St 
Lawrence 
Street  

4 
Gaselee 
Street  

9 
Gaselee 
Street  

1-15 
Alberta 
Court South  

Jessop 
Building  

262 - 264 
Poplar 
High 
Street 
(Wharfside 
Point 
North)  

240 Poplar 
High Street 
(Caraway 
Heights)  

12 - 22 
Boardwalk 
Place  

295 - 298 
Boardwalk 
Place  

4 St 
Lawrence 
Cottages, 
St 
Lawrence 
Street  

5 
Gaselee 
Street  

10 
Gaselee 
Street  

1-17 
Alberta 
Court North  

Block H, 
Blackwall 
Reach, 
Ditchburn 
Street  

260 Poplar 
High 
Street 
(Mikardo 
Court)  

Poplar Dock 
Marina 
(houseboats)  

23 - 33 
Boardwalk 
Place  

299 - 309 
Boardwalk 
Place  

1 
Gaselee 
Street  

6 
Gaselee 
Street  

11 
Gaselee 
Street  

9 Province 
Square 
(Streamlight 
Tower)  

Block G, 
Blackwall 
Reach, 
Ditchburn 
Street  

258 Poplar 
High 
Street  

Poplar 
Business 
Park, Block 
B (phase 2)*  

322 - 331 
Boardwalk 
Place  

290 - 291 
Boardwalk 
Place  

2 
Gaselee 
Street  

7 
Gaselee 
Street  

12 
Gaselee 
Street  

101-103 
Blackwall 
Way 
(Southern 
Block, 
Michigan 
Building)  

Wharfside 
Point 
South  

256 Poplar 
High 
Street  

Poplar 
Business 
Park, Block 
C (phase 3)*  

310 
Boardwalk 
Place  

6 St 
Lawrence 
Cottages, 
St 
Lawrence 
Street  

3 
Gaselee 
Street  

8 
Gaselee 
Street  

13 - 25 
Gaselee 
Street  

99 
Blackwall 
Way 
(Northern 
Block, 
Michigan 
Building)  

Poplar 
Business 
Park, Block 
A 
(Manhattan 
Plaza)  

246 - 254 
Poplar 
High 
Street 
(Wickes 
House)  

 

Table 10: List of Daylight, sunlight and overshadowing sensitive receptors 

 

7.208 There is no industry-standard categorisation for impacts that exceed BRE guidelines. 
However, for VSC, NSL and ASPH, the Council consistently uses the following categories: 

 

 Reduction less than 20% - Negligible 

 Reduction of 20% or more but under 30% - Minor Adverse;   

 Reduction of 30% or more but under 40% - Moderate Adverse; and 

 Reduction of 40% or more - Major Adverse 

  

7.209 The ES adopts the above significance criteria for VSC, NSL and ASPH assessment and also 
adopts them for its SHoG assessment. However, where defining a ‘minor adverse’ effect for 
daylight only, the following criteria has been used:  
 

 Despite small VSC alterations to the windows serving the room, the NSL alteration to the 
room is fully BRE compliant; or  

 Despite small absolute VSC alterations to the windows serving the room, the NSL 
alteration to the room is fully BRE compliant; or  

 Despite NSL alterations to the room, the VSC alteration to all windows serving the room 
is fully BRE compliant or at least 20% VSC is retained by the main window/s.  

7.210 Daylight effects considered to be ‘moderate’ or ‘major’ in scale are determined using 
professional judgement. The ES considers that a significant effect is either ‘moderate 
adverse’ or ‘major adverse’ in scale (i.e. ‘negligible’ or ‘minor adverse’ effects are considered 
not to significant in EIA terms). In addition, the ES identifies a reasonable alternative target 
VSC value of “the mid-teens.” 

Page 85



Daylight and sunlight summary 

7.211 A summary of the results is set out below. 
 

 VSC 
 

NSL APSH 

No. of windows tested No. of rooms tested 

2986 1944 Other Winter 

 1509 1509 

Negligible 2614 1925 1397 1374 

Minor adverse 111 8 30 1 

Moderate adverse 96 5 13 15 

Major adverse 165 6 69 119 
Table 12: Daylight and sunlight summary 

 
 
Daylight – likely significant effects 
 

 
 
Table 13: Councils independent review assessment results  

 

7.212 Officers acknowledge that there are differences between the categorisation levels between 
submitted DLSL review and independent review. For the purposes of the assessment a 
balanced judgement has been made when assigned the higher magnitude values to those 
which are noted in the above table as providing different results in terms of relative 
magnitudes of change. Only those properties mentioned above require further discussion as 
per the independent BRE report.  

1-11 Boardwalk Place – Minor-Moderate adverse 

7.213 The VSC assessment 46 shows that of the 52 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 6 windows all have major impacts, however, only 3 
are main windows and whilst they would have a large relative loss of daylight, this is partly 
due to the balconies above the windows. Loss of sunlight would not be an issue for the 

Page 86



Boardwalk Place properties as the new development would be to the north of them. In this 
instance it could be argued that the development as a whole received a minor adverse 
impact due to the number and type of windows affected and officers have applied a dual 
categorisation to this property. 

12-22 Boardwalk Place - Minor adverse.   

7.214 The VSC assessment shows that 46 of the 52 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 6 windows, 2 would be minor, 2 would be moderate 
and 2 would have major impacts. This property has a similar layout to 1-11 but has less 
impacts as the property is further away.  

23-33 Boardwalk Place - Minor adverse 

7.215 The VSC assessment shows that 46 of the 52 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 6 windows all would receive minor impacts. As with 
12-23 the properties share similar layouts but receive even less impacts as the property is 
further away.    

322 - 331 Boardwalk Place – Moderate-Major Adverse 

7.216 The VSC assessment shows that 12 of the 36 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 24 windows, 2 would experience moderate impacts 
and 22 would experience major impacts. 20 of the remaining 26 windows would receive VSC 
levels below the mid-teens and the remaining windows which see adverse impacts would 
retain VSC values of over 14.0% which is not uncommon for an area such as this. In relation 
to the 20 remaining windows only 4 have VSC levels reduced to single digits. The NSL 
assessment shows 11 of the 25 rooms assessed would be fully compliant with the BRE 
Guidelines. Of the remaining 15 rooms, 3 would be kitchens, 12 would be bedrooms and 0 
would be Living areas. Impacts to this property’s daylight is largely due to the location of 
windows and proximity to the site as well as the existing balconies above them. The councils 
independent review has stated that impacts would be moderate-major as a whole, however 
all main living spaces retain good levels of daylight.  

310 Boardwalk Place – Major Adverse 

7.217 The VSC assessment shows that 5 of the 10 windows assessed would be compliant with the 
BRE Guidelines. The remaining 5 windows would experience impacts beyond 40% and 
these would be on the northern elevation of the site. Remaining VSC’s would be within 8%-
16% and only one would be within single digits. The NSL assessment shows that 8 out of 10 
rooms assessed would be fully compliant with the BRE Guidelines. Floor layouts were 
unable to be accessed for this property, however, windows/rooms within this property are 
likely to serve habitable and main areas.  

311 - 321 Boardwalk Place – Moderate adverse 

7.218 The VSC assessment shows that 12 of the 41 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 29 windows, 3 windows would demonstrate alterations 
of between 20-30%, 23 windows would demonstrate alterations of between 30-40% from the 
existing condition (a moderate impact) and 3 would demonstrate alterations beyond 40%, 
with the majority of these being north facing onto the development. Only 3 windows would 
have their VSC’s reduced to single digits with 2 of these already at single digits. The majority 
of windows would retain VSC’s in the mid to high teens which is not uncommon for an urban 
location such as this with several high-rise developments in the area. The NSL assessment 
shows that all rooms assessed would be fully compliant with the BRE Guidelines.  

 

Page 87



295 - 298 Boardwalk Place - Minor adverse 

7.219 The VSC assessment shows that 3 out 21 windows assessed would be compliant with the 
BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining windows, all would demonstrate alterations of between 
20-30% from the existing condition which are minor impacts with properties still receiving 
good levels of daylight in the high teens and early 20’s. The NSL assessment shows that 11 
out of 13 rooms assessed would be fully compliant with the BRE Guidelines with minor 
impacts to two rooms. 

299 - 309 Boardwalk Place - Minor adverse 

7.220 The VSC assessment shows that 23 of the 35 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining windows, all would demonstrate alterations up to of 
between 20%-30% and retain relatively high levels of daylight, the majority of which would 
have over 20% VSC. None would be single digits. All rooms would pass the NSL 
assessment test.  

290 - 291 Boardwalk Place - Minor – Moderate adverse 

7.221 The VSC assessment shows that 41 of the 46 windows would be compliant with the BRE 
Guidelines. Of the remaining windows, all would demonstrate alterations of between 20-30% 
from the existing condition which are minor impacts with properties still receiving good levels 
of daylight in the high teens and early 20’s. Two kitchen have windows which have VSC’s 
reduced into their early teens, however both have additional windows which pass the tests.  
The NSL assessment shows that most of the rooms assessed would be fully compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines with minor impacts to two rooms.  

Block H & G, Blackwall Reach, Ditchburn Street – Minor adverse 

7.222 The VSC assessment shows that of the 426 windows assessed across the blocks 411 would 
be complaint with the BRE Guidelines. Of the windows that do receive losses outside of the 
guidelines all would be within the 20%-30% range and retain good levels of daylight in the 
20’s. All rooms would pass the NSL assessment test. 

Wharfside Point South – Moderate – Major adverse 

7.223 The VSC assessment shows that 213 of the 305 windows assessed would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 92 windows, 3 windows would demonstrate alterations 
of between 20-30%, 14 windows would demonstrate alterations of between 30-40% from the 
existing condition and 75 would demonstrate alterations beyond 40%. The biggest relative 
losses would be on the fifth floor and above where the windows have overhangs above 
them; but even without the overhangs the loss of VSC would generally be outside the 
guidelines. Two flats on each floor are affected, with the living rooms at the corner of the 
building. Most of these living rooms have another window facing either east or west which 
would be relatively unaffected, however several are solely lit from the south facing window 
which would have large relative losses of light. The flats which have an extra window would 
experience moderate impacts to their daylight, whilst the ones which wouldn’t experience 
major impacts. Six flats with balconies above them and solely lit from the south side would 
also have losses of sunlight to their living rooms well outside the BRE guidelines. Without 
the balconies they would meet the guidelines, so this would count as a moderate adverse 
impact. All rooms would pass the NSL assessment test.  

Poplar Business Park, Block A – Minor adverse 

7.224 The VSC assessment shows that of the 687 windows assessed 632 would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 55 windows, 6 windows would demonstrate alterations 
of between 20-30%, 11 windows would demonstrate alterations of between 30-40% from the 

Page 88



existing condition and 38 would demonstrate alterations beyond 40%.The windows which do 
suffer relatively substantial losses of light are recessed behind inset balconies. These 
predominantly light bedrooms but a small number are windows to living rooms that are 
principally lit by other, less affected windows. Without the balconies above these recessed 
windows, nearly all would comply with the BRE guidelines. All rooms would pass the NSL 
assessment test. 

262 - 264 Poplar High Street (Wharfside Point North) – Minor-Moderate adverse 

7.225 The VSC assessment shows that of the 137 windows assessed 110 would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 27 windows, 4 windows would demonstrate alterations 
of between 20-30%, and 23 windows would demonstrate alterations of between 30-40% 
from the existing condition. The windows which do suffer the more substantial losses of light 
are again recessed behind inset balconies and overhangs. With the alternate tests and the 
overhangs removed losses would be within or marginally outside the guidelines, resulting in 
minor impacts to these development as a whole. All rooms would pass the NSL assessment 
test. 

260 Poplar High Street (Mikardo Court) – Minor - Moderate adverse  

7.226 The VSC assessment shows that of the 90 windows assessed 40 would be compliant with 
the BRE Guidelines. Of the remaining 24 windows, 4 windows would demonstrate alterations 
of between 20-30%, 16 windows would demonstrate alterations of between 30-40% from the 
existing condition, and 10 would demonstrate alterations beyond 40%. Windows which 
suffer. The windows which do suffer the more substantial losses of light are recessed behind 
inset balconies and overhangs with some bedrooms set behind deeper recesses. With the 
alternate tests and the overhangs removed only 9 of the windows would receive losses 
outside the guidelines, resulting in minor to moderate impacts to these development as a 
whole. All rooms would pass the NSL assessment test. 

246 - 254 Poplar High Street (Wickes House) – Minor adverse 

7.227 The VSC assessment shows that of the 34 windows assessed 1 would be compliant with the 
BRE Guidelines. The window which did suffer losses beyond the guidelines would be 
between 30-40% and contains an overhang above. Without the overhang the window would 
comply. All rooms would pass the NSL assessment test. 

Future developments (cumulative impacts) 

7.228 The submitted statement has tested for future properties to be constructed at Poplar 
Business Park and Blackwall Reach which gives rise to three different issues: 

 This, together with the proposed development at Trafalgar Way, might have a 
cumulative daylight/sunlight impact on existing properties nearby 

 The development at Trafalgar Way might restrict daylight and sunlight to the 
consented future Poplar Business Park development. The new parts of Blackwall 
Reach are probably too far away to be significantly affected. 

 The Poplar Business Park and Blackwall Reach developments might limit daylight 
(though not sunlight, as they lie to the north) to the Trafalgar Way development. 

7.229 To assess the cumulative impact on existing buildings the report calculates daylight and 
sunlight with the Poplar Business Park development in place, and both with and without the 
Trafalgar Way development in place. For most of the surrounding receptors the cumulative 
scenario is not too different to the existing v proposed scenario. The main differences are for 
Wharfside Point North and South, Block A at Poplar Business Park, and Mikardo Court 
which are closest to the development and saw the more significant reductions in the existing 

Page 89



scenarios. There would be additional impacts to these properties, but none would impact the 
results in such a way that would increase their magnitude of change reported above. 

Sunlight – likely significant effects 

Block G, Blackwall Reach, Ditchburn Street – ‘minor adverse.’   

7.230 The APSH assessment shows that 72 of the 90 rooms assessed would be fully compliant 
with the BRE Guidelines. 18 bedrooms located on south facing elevation experience 
alterations beyond the guidelines.  Ten of these only experience alterations for Winter 
Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH), these alterations are modest with the rooms experiencing 
3% to 4% WPSH versus a target of 5%.  The remaining 8 bedrooms also experience 
alterations of Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH), however these are also minor with 
the rooms experiencing 22% to 24% APSH versus a target of 25%. With the balcony effect 
removed all rooms pass the guidelines. 

7.231 Wharfside Point South – ‘minor adverse.’ 

7.232 The APSH assessment shows that 167 of the 248 rooms assessed would be fully compliant 
with the BRE Guidelines. 46 alterations are associated with APSH with figures of 5% to 8%.  
These rooms are impacted by the presence of balconies when an assessment without 
balconies is conducted only subsequently 2 derogate for APSH with figures of 23% to 24% 

APSH. All rooms which derogate for APSH are compliant for WPSH. This highlights 

that the design of this particular development with large recessed balconies is largely the 
reason for the poorer results.  

Poplar Business Park, Block A – ‘minor adverse’ 

7.233 The APSH assessment shows that 85 out of 134 rooms assessed would be fully compliant 
with the BRE Guidelines. 49 alterations are associated with APSH, of which 47 also alter for 
WPSH.  These alterations are primarily a result of the presence of balconies and when these 
rooms are assessed without the balconies in place, only 2 bedrooms alter for both APSH 
and WPSH with WPSH values of 2% versus a 5% target, and APSH values of at 21% and 
22% versus a target of 25%. Again, this highlights that the building itself is culpable for the 
poorer results and with the alternative tests applied the majority of rooms would pass the 
guidelines.  

262 - 264 Poplar High Street (Wharfside Point North) – ‘minor adverse’ 

7.234 The APSH assessment shows that 97 out of 110 rooms assessed would be fully compliant 
with the BRE Guidelines. Thirteen rooms alter for APSH, with levels of 17% to 23% APSH 
versus a target of 25%.  All rooms pass the WPSH targets when a no balcony analysis is 
conducted for this property all rooms are compliant for APSH & WPSH. 

260 Poplar High Street (Mikardo Court) – ‘minor adverse’ 

7.235 The APSH assessment shows that 40 of the 65 rooms assessed would be fully compliant 
with the BRE Guidelines. 25 alterations (23 bedrooms and 2 living rooms) are associated 
with APSH and WPSH. Of the 25 APSH alterations, 3 are very minor as these rooms 
achieve 20% to 23% APSH. These rooms are impacted by the presence of balconies, thus 
when a no-balcony analysis is conducted, only 10 derogate for WPSH (figures of 2% to 4%) 
and 7 for APSH with figures ranging from 14% to 22%; all of these derogations are 
associated with bedrooms. 
  

Page 90



Daylight and sunlight conclusion 

7.236 Officers note the discrepancies between the categorisation of the submitted review and the 
independent review. To summarize, a number of homes that are predicted to suffer ‘minor’ 
or ‘moderate’ or ‘major’ adverse effects would do so partly because of their design with 
existing self-shading balconies, which restrict sky visibility. Therefore, existing balconies, in 
theory, hinder development potential, as any reasonable proposed massing on the site has 
the potential to cause disproportionate percentage alterations.   

7.237 The impacts to the majority of the properties would not generally be significant and the 
rooms within the existing developments would be adequately daylit with good light 
distribution. The proportion of VSC results in the major adverse category is not of significant 
concern given the high NSL scores and reasonable ADF results for the properties. Several 
of these are south of the development and do not have sunlight levels impacted. Whilst 
some of the properties closest to the development would see their daylight conditions 
substantially affected, in the context of other tall buildings emerging in the area it would be 
consistent with daylight levels for developments of this type. Given the site is a vacant site it 
is likely that any form of development in the area would significantly impact upon the 
conditions of the closest properties and it is considered the development has gone to 
reasonable lengths in order to reduce its impacts towards neighbouring and proposed future 
properties, and whilst there are some Moderate to Major impacts on some properties these 
are limited in number and when looking at alternate tests these values improve significantly 
in almost all areas. 

7.238 In addition to the above the BRE Guide recommends that a room with 27% VSC will usually 
be adequately lit without any special measures, based on a low-density suburban model.  
This may not be appropriate for higher density, urban London locations. The NPPF 2021 
advises that substantial weight should be given to the use of ‘suitable brownfield land within 
settlements for homes…’and that LPAs should take ‘a flexible approach in applying policies 
or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making 
efficient use of a site’. Paragraph 2.3.47 of the Mayor of London’s Housing SPG supports 
this view as it acknowledges that natural light can be restricted in densely developed parts of 
the city. Officers consider that retained VSC values in in the mid-teens (that the applicant 
puts forward as a reasonable alternative target) are deemed acceptable and in most 
instances, this is the case.  

7.239 Overall, officers consider the likely significant effects of the proposed scheme on nearby 
homes and amenity spaces would be acceptable. It should also be noted that, in all cases, 
the ES finds that the overall likely daylight and sunlight effects of the proposed development 
would not be substantially different to those that were assessed in relation to the scheme 
that was granted planning permission in 2008, which has been implemented (although not 
built out).  

Overshadowing 

7.240 BRE guidance suggests that for a space to appear sunlit throughout the year, at least 50% 
of the amenity area should receive at least 2 hours of direct sunlight on 21st March. It states 
that the “availability of sunlight should be checked for all open spaces”, which usually 
includes gardens, sitting-out areas, parks or playgrounds.  

7.241 The submitted assessment demonstrates that each space retains more than 50% of the total 
area receiving 2 hours or more sunlight on 21st March and, in accordance with the BRE 
Guidelines, will be adequately sunlit throughout the year. The effect on these amenity areas 
are therefore negligible and not significant. 

Page 91



 

Table 14 – Existing vs Proposed condition on overshadowing of surrounding amenity spaces 

Noise and Vibration 

7.242 Council Environmental Health Officers have reviewed the submitted material. They have 
concluded that the completed development would not have any unacceptable impacts on 
neighbouring amenity from noise and vibration. The ES outlines that a 2m acoustic wall 
located on the external amenity area at level 2 along the northern boundary near Aspen Way 
should be secured via condition 

7.243 Nonetheless, officers have requested several conditions be attached to the planning 
permission. These will be attached to any forthcoming consent.  
 
Construction impacts 

7.244 Demolition and construction activities are likely to cause some additional noise and 
disturbance, additional traffic generation and dust. In accordance with relevant Development 
Plan policies and with regard to likely significant effects identified within the ES a number of 
conditions are recommended to minimise these impacts. These will control working hours 
and require the approval and implementation of Construction Environmental Management 
and Logistics Plan. 

Conclusion and overall amenity balance 

7.245 In a number of dwellings within Boardwalk Place, Poplar High Street, and Poplar business 
park there would be an appreciable reduction in daylight. It can be said that the design of 
these buildings is not optimal with respect to daylight; some windows feature privacy screens 
and balconies or overhangs above and are also recessed. The biggest losses with respect to 
daylight would be at the lower levels level, although in actuality many windows would be 
covered by blinds or curtains to ensure privacy between other developments.    

7.246 The proposed development has taken measures to reduce its impacts in the form of carefully 
locating and the reorientating the buildings. Nonetheless, as outlined above it is considered 
that this harmful impact on neighbouring properties daylight carries minor-moderate weight 
against the proposal, and is in conflict with D.DH8 (d), which seeks to ensure adequate 
levels of daylight and sunlight. 

Page 92



7.247 With respect to sunlight the proposed development would have a limited impact on 
neighbouring properties and the majority of which would accord with the BRE Guide levels 
for annual and winter sunlight hours with the proposed development in place. 

7.248 Daylight and Sunlight are two of many factors when considering living conditions and should 
not be considered in isolation when weighing up the balance of harm. Outlook is of 
comparable importance. Currently the worst affected windows – at Boardwalk place are 
some 27m from the proposed development – well in excess of the Council’s guideline.  

7.249 Under the chapter titled ‘Achieving appropriate densities’  in the NPPF paragraph 123 (c) 
states that for housing applications, a flexible approach to applying daylight and sunlight 
policies or guidance should be applied where they would otherwise inhibit an efficient use of 
the site (as long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards).  

7.250 Given the quality of design and conclusion on the amenity balance with regard to living 
conditions, the scheme would comply with paragraph 123 of the NPPF.  

TRANSPORT AND SERVICING 

7.251 Development Plan policies promote sustainable modes of travel and limit car parking to 
essential user needs. They also seek to secure safe and appropriate servicing. 

7.252 As described under Site and Surroundings, the site has a PTAL rating of 5 (‘high) and is well 
connected with surrounding services. It is in close proximity to the Blackwall DLR station, a 
number of local bus services as well as the future Canary Wharf Crossrail station.  

Background 

7.253 The site has extensive transport history, with particular regard to the wider Preston’s Road 
Roundabout improvement and connectivity strategy. There have been several studies over 
the past 13 years looking at wider enhancement to pedestrian and cycle movements north-
south through Preston’s Road Roundabout conducted by Applicants and LBTH with the most 
recent study undertaken in 2016 by JMP consultants.  

7.254 Currently there is not a fixed long-term scheme for the roundabout to improve this 
connection as the issues are complex between dealing with the traffic movements and 
ensuring a safe pedestrian (from traffic and also personal safety) and cycling environment. 
Previous iterations of the future upgrades involved filling in the subway and providing several 
alternatives at grade level, however, the northern entrance to the current subway has been 
enhanced by the Blackwall Reach development, leaving the southern side in need of 
significant improvement. It is noted that pedestrian movements outlined in the JMP study 
(prior to the enhancement of the 2016 subway improvements) were 21% at-grade and 79% 
within the subway. There are no formal provisions or at-grade crossing movements.  

Vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access  

7.255 With the reprovision of the Drive Thru McDonalds, in order to encourage walking, cycling 
and a generally pedestrian friendly environment the drive thru entrance and exit are both 
located towards the western edge of the site where it tapers back towards the north. Beyond 
the blue badge spaces vehicle access into the site from the street will be limited to visitor 
access to the McDonalds and Drive Thru facility, servicing vehicles and refuse collection, 
which has a separate egress between buildings 1 and 2. Whilst a significant proportion of the 
ground floor has been dedicated towards the drive thru route this is also pushed towards the 
northern edge of the site behind the buildings, thus promoting a generous public realm on 
the southern edge of the site towards the buildings entrances and a transformed Trafalgar 
Way. 

Page 93



7.256 Significant amendments have gone into improving the pedestrian quality on the street with a 
transformative scheme of highway works being promoted, which reduces the available width 
of vehicle lanes and increasing available footpath and cycle lane widths outside the site. A 
service bay on Trafalgar way has been removed and is supported by LBTH Highways and 
TfL officers. 

7.257 The details of the public highway works would be agreed by condition and implemented 
through a Section 278 agreement with the Council and TfL as the local highway authorities.  
To help improve safety and accessibility and encourage walking, it is recommended that 
planning obligations secure financial and non-financial contributions towards improving 
Trafalgar Way, the southern subway entrance and the Preston’s Road Roundabout which 
are discussed below. 

Vehicle/pedestrian conflicts and safety 

7.258 Due to the use, density, and location of the site pedestrian safety within and around 
development has been a key consideration. During the course of the application a Risk 
Assessment Review (RAR) was submitted which intended to identify: 

 

 Assessment of risk of collision between occupants and visitors to the proposed 

development and other road users of Preston’s Road Roundabout. 

 Assessment of current traffic conditions including speed, flow and driver behaviour. 

 Review of the last 5 years personal injury/collision data on the roundabout. 

 Assessment of potential pedestrian and cycle demand across the roundabout as a 

result of the development as well as knowledge of the local constraints. 

 

7.259 The submitted Risk Assessment has been independently reviewed by the Council and it 
found that whilst there were issues over the quantification of the predicted movements of 
pedestrians and cyclists, it would be unlikely to alter the conclusions of the RAR study in the 
way that it has approached the issues. A number of key findings and recommendations were 
identified following the RAR which revolve around the necessity for a phased set of 
improvements to resolve the poor quality of the connections between either side of Preston’s 
Road Roundabout, which have been identified for a number of years over various planning 
applications.  

7.260 In terms of addressing any risk/safety issues the scheme proposes the following 
enhancements, which will be secured by way of a s278 agreement: 

- Opening up of underpass 

- Widening of pedestrian cyclist footpaths 

- 2 pedestrian crossings along Trafalgar way 

7.261 In order to come up with the most robust solution, several alternatives were discussed with 
Highways officers and TfL including the delivery of at grade crossing across the slip roads to 
the north and guard railings to discourage pedestrian movement at grade. However, these 
options were seen to have adverse effects onto the wider highway network, TfL Healthy 
Streets Approach and require highway adoption boundaries to be amended. In addition to 
this, the RAR found that by providing a more attractive option at street level this would in turn 
increase the safety concerns within the subway.  

Page 94



7.262 Ultimately it was imperative that the works to address any form of risk associated with the 
development did not prejudice the wider improvements coming forward in the future and by 
providing an enhanced connection via the subway, this would be seen to reduce the 
proportion of pedestrian movements occurring at-grade, rather than increase it. 

7.263 The proposed improvements have the approval of the LBTH highways officers whilst also 
being seen as an appropriate step to take to adequately address any risk the scheme 
proposes as confirmed by the independent RAR.  

7.264 In terms of addressing safety from within the site the ground floor plan below shows an 
elliptical (‘8’-shaped) circulation system for the drive through facility with vehicles entering 
and leaving the site at the western end, further from the building entrances. Including 
pushing this system back behind the buildings, removing the drop off on Trafalgar way, 
increasing the available width of pedestrians and significantly reduced parking levels are 
also proposed, thus reducing potential levels of conflict.  

7.265 In respect of the pedestrian interface, pedestrian thoroughfares and entry points to the tower 
and ground floor commercial activities are located on the southern and eastern edges of the 
site. These are pedestrian only areas, not accessible by vehicles. Consequently, there is no 
safety concern as there is no interaction with vehicle traffic. Where there is the possibility of 
interaction, it is in the area to the rear of site in the Macdonald’s parking area and drive-thru 
loop as well as the service egress through the site. Over the course of the application the 
proposed child play space at ground floor level by the egress has been omitted in favour of 
general open space as not to direct activity towards an area of potential conflict. 

7.266 Overall, the ground floor layout is considered acceptable, having addressed pedestrian 
access and safety which such that it has priority. 

 

Figure 14 - Ground floor plan and Drive Thru route 

Car Parking 

7.267 London Plan Policy T6 states that car parking should be restricted in line with levels of 
existing and future public transport accessibility and connectivity and that appropriate levels 
blue badge parking should be provided within the development. Tower Hamlets Local Plan 
policy D.TR3 requires all residential developments to be permit free and that all parking 
associated with the development should be provided off-street.  

7.268 97 car parking spaces are proposed under the existing consent. The current scheme 
proposes 6 spaces, 4 of which are blue badge spaces with two additional spaces being 
reserved for the Drive Thru McDonalds and ad hoc deliveries form small vehicles. There is 

Page 95



no requirement for car parking for the student use and the residential element of the scheme 
will be car free.  

7.269 The proposed car parking arrangements are acceptable subject to the recommended 
conditions and s106 planning obligations. Given the car-free nature of the proposed scheme, 
it is recommended that planning obligations remove the right of future residents to obtain a 
permit to park in the CPZ (‘Blue Badge’ holders excluded). 

Cycle Parking and Facilities 

7.270 The proposed long-stay cycle parking is designed to have a prominent entrance to the front 
of the buildings, and that there is parking provision for a variety of cycle types at both 
basement floor and podium levels. The amount and type of long stay cycle parking proposed 
would meet Local Plan and London Plan minimums across all uses and is welcomed in that 
respect. Following updates, additional short stay parking has been provided throughout the 
public realm, and this is welcomed. Any shortfall in short stay spaces will be captured by a 
s106 obligation to provide them in a nearby location as to not dilute the immediate area of 
public realm. 

7.271 Initially officers raised concerns surrounding the stair access with ramped access being the 
preferred option. Additional information was submitted stating that ramped access could not 
be provided due to site constraints and as a result an automated system will be provided 
which allows cyclists to manoeuvre their bicycles up and down stairs with little effort. 
Furthermore, 2 dedicated cycle lifts are located at ground floor to enable access to larger 
cycle spaces. Details of the automated system will be secured via condition.  

7.272 Improvements to the cycle highway directly to the north on Trafalgar Way are proposed to be 
delivered under the wider package of s278 works.  

Deliveries & Servicing 

7.273 Following initial objections to the layby/drop off along Trafalgar Way the proposed delivery 
and servicing for the site will be conducted within the site only via the dedicated service 
route through the site, entering through the main vehicle entrance at the western edge of the 
site, stopping between buildings 1 & 2. There are also two car-parking spaces which can be 
used for ad-hoc deliveries.  

7.274 The on-site servicing route will be limited to use by authorised delivery and refuse vehicles. 
This would accommodate a maximum vehicle size of an 11m rigid lorry for the McDonalds. 
The internal service route is one-way, with egresses onto Trafalgar Way to facilitate an 
efficient servicing loop that does not require any turning manoeuvres or reversing within the 
development or on the public highway. Loading/unloading can take place along the service 
route and will be controlled and managed to ensure servicing activity is undertaken efficiently 
and with no detriment to other site users or the public highway. Final details and 
management will be secured via condition.  

7.275 Refuse will be stored at basement depending on the use within the development, which will 
be managed by an on-site management team, who will manage refuse storage for all site 
users. It is envisaged that the residential refuse will be collected by the Council and the 
Commercial & Student waste at the site will be collected by a private refuse collection 
company, with collections undertaken from the on-site servicing route. Further details of the 
waste strategy are provided separately in a document prepared by WSP as part of the 
planning application with final details being secured via condition due to the use of rotary 
compactors.  

 

Page 96



Trip generation  

7.276 The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) breaks down the different uses for which the 
methodology is generally acceptable. The student use is estimated to generate 166 and 187 
two-way person trips in the AM and PM peaks, and 2,309 across a typical day. The 
residential use is estimated to generate 37 and 34 two-way person trips in the AM and PM 
peaks, and 296 across a typical day. The commercial floorspace (not McDonald’s) is 
estimated to generate 100 and 13 two-way person trips in the AM and PM peaks, and 807 
across a typical day. 

7.277 The TA allocates these trips across various modes of travel, with the proposed ‘car free’ 
development expected to see a significant reduction in vehicle traffic, with very few (less 
than 1%) movements over the course of the day dedicated to these uses. In contrast, there 
is expected to be an increase in Underground/DLR/Crossrail, pedestrian, and cyclist 
movements. None of these are expected to have a material impact on public transport 
capacity as confirmed by TfL. 

7.278 With regards to the Drive Thu element, highways officers and TfL do not support this facility 
as it is contrary to the Vision and Outcomes of the LBTH Transport Strategy and Local Plan 
policies. It is by nature a car-based form of development that will generate additional vehicle 
trips (c1311 car trips between 7am and 9pm according to the TA) onto an area of the 
highway network which is already heavily congested at certain times of the day. It is noted 
that this will result in an overall mode share for the development of 55% sustainable modes. 
This falls short of the 90% target contained in the Isle of Dogs and South Poplar OAPF and 
the LBTH Transport Strategy.  

7.279 Notwithstanding the above the Drive Thru element has only been assessed by way of 
Vehicle Trips which is an accepted position. It is noted that the previously implemented 
permission was estimated to generate 106 and 113 vehicle arrivals in the AM and PM peaks, 
with 186 across the Saturday peak. These figures incorporated Eat In visitors as there was 
greatly expanded car parking capacity on the scheme. The proposed Trip Generation is 
estimated to generate 90 and 93 vehicle arrivals in the AM and PM peaks which is slightly 
less due to the reduced parking facilities, although it is noted in the TA that this will be a like-
for-like replacement in terms of the extant permission and proposed facility.  

7.280 The ES recommended a queue management strategy should be secured and following 
updated drawings being provided regarding queuing capacity, officers are satisfied that the 
site can accommodate vehicle movements in the event of significant queuing for the Drive 
Thru McDonalds so that it does not impact on the surrounding road network. At the busiest 
times of the day a maximum of 13 Vehicles would be expected which has been tested 
against other similar facilities with a typical average of 10 vehicles during busy periods. The 
proposed development could accommodate up to 15 therefore providing sufficient space. 
Nevertheless, a queue management strategy will be secured via condition 

7.281 It is acknowledged that the vehicle generation and mode share of the development as whole 
falls significantly short of the objectives and aims of local and regional policy, however the 
Drive Thru element of the scheme is a historic use and extant facility which could be 
delivered at any point. Whilst the facility is not supported in policy the scheme has gone to 
reasonable lengths to reduce car trips associated with Eat In visitors and on the overall 
planning balance the benefits of the scheme outweigh the harm of Drive Thru facility.  

Healthy Streets and Vision Zero 

7.282 It is noted that TfL has launched the Healthy Streets Approach, which aims to improve air 
quality, reduce congestion and make attractive places to live, work and do business. There 
are ten Healthy Streets indicators, which put people and their health at the heart of decision 

Page 97



making, and aim to result in a more inclusive city where people choose to walk, cycle and 
use public transport. Alongside the Healthy Streets Approach, the Mayor’s Vision Zero 
aspiration, which aims to eliminate death or serious injury on London’s roads, supports 
changes to our road network to improve the safety of vulnerable road users. 

7.283 As requested by both GLA and TFL, the applicant undertook an Active Travel Zone (ATZ) 
assessment that covers the key walking and cycling corridors within a 20 minute radius of 
the site in order to identify deficiencies and appropriate improvements along routes that 
should be improved with this proposed development.  

7.284 The active travel routes to key locations that have been assessed are acceptable and 
appropriate, as previously agreed with TfL and the GLA. This assessment highlights 
changes which could be made along these routes in line with the Healthy Streets Approach.  
 
Demolition and Construction Traffic 

7.285 The Construction Environmental Management Plan secured via a planning condition would 
need to consider the impact on pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles as well as fully 
considering the impact on other developments in close proximity. Subject to the details being 
acceptable to TfL and LBTH Highways consider there would not be an unacceptable impact.  

Travel Planning 

7.286 The submitted Framework Travel Plan identifies measures to encourage sustainable travel 
and it is recommended that he approval and implementation of detailed Travel Plans is 
secured by planning obligation. 

Highway works 

7.287 Extensive works are proposed to Trafalgar Way and the southern entrance to the 
underpass/subway which comprise the following and would be secured by way of a s278 
agreement: 

Trafalgar Way Works  

 Widening and resurfacing of the cycleway; 

 Widening and resurfacing of the footways; 

 Removal of guard railing within the median; 

 Narrowing and resurfacing of the carriageway including the provision of new kerbs; 

 Provision of graduated raised Toucan pedestrian/cycle crossing at the eastern end of 
Trafalgar Way; 

 Provision of graduated raised crossing at the western end of Trafalgar Way; and  

 All necessary alterations to street lighting, drainage, road markings and landscaping. 

Underpass Entrance Works 

 Provision of a new pedestrian and cycle ramp; 

 Provision of new stairs to the underpass from Trafalgar Way and Preston’s Road; 

 A new lighting strategy; 

 A new wayfinding signage; and, 

 Landscaping strategy. 

 

Page 98



 

Figure 15: Extent of the highway works 

Environment, Health and Sustainability 

Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.288 The planning application represents Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) EIA 
development under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) 
co-ordinated by Trium.  

7.289 Regulation 3 prohibits the council from granting planning permission without consideration of 
the ‘environmental information’ that comprises the ES, including any further information 
submitted following request(s) under Regulation 25 and any other information, any 
representations made by consultation bodies or by any other person about the 
environmental effects of the development. 

7.290 The Council issued an EIA Scoping Opinion (PA/20/00137) on 01/05/2020.  The submitted 
Environmental Statement (ES) accords with this Opinion and assesses the environmental 
impacts of the development under the following topics: 

 Socio-economics and Health  

 Traffic and Transport  

 Air Quality  

 Greenhouse Gas Emissions  

 Noise and Vibration  

 Daylight, Sunlight Overshadowing and Solar Glare  

 Wind Microclimate  

 Archaeology  

 Townscape and Visual Impact  

 Built Heritage  

7.291 The ES has been reviewed in accordance with The Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended) (the EIA Regulations). 

7.292 The application has been supported by an ES and Non-Technical Summary (NTS) (June 
2020), an ES Interim Review Report Response (October 2020), an ES Final Review Report 
Response (December 2020), and a Statement of Conformity (April 2021).  None of the 
additional ES information was considered to be ‘further information’ under Regulation 25 

Page 99



7.293 The Council’s Appointed EIA Consultants independently examined the ES, to preparing an 
Interim Review Report (IRR) and to confirm whether the ES satisfies the Regulations.  This 
is supported by reviews by the authority’s internal environmental specialists.  The IRR dated 
16 September 2020 identified clarifications and potential ‘further information’ required under 
Regulation 25. 

7.294 In response to the IRR, the applicant submitted an ES review response note document 
dated 13 October 2020 and again on 14th December 2020. Following several updates on 14 
January 2021, Temple issued a Final Review Report (FRR) 002 that took account of the 
applicant’s identified clarifications and did not require any additional information required 
under Regulation 25 or as clarifications.  

7.295 Following amendments to the makeup of the scheme the applicant submitted an EIA 
Statement of Conformity dated April 2021 considering some minor changes to the residential 
unit mix, commercial floorspace. It was considered that the changes do not generate any 
additional or different residual significant effects to those reported upon within the July 2020 
ES. 

7.296 The Council’s EIA Officer and the Councils Appointed EIA Consultants have confirmed that 
the submitted ES (including the subsequent ES submissions as set out above) meets the 
requirements of the EIA Regulations.   

7.297 The ‘environmental information’ has been examined by the Council and has been taken into 
consideration by officers to reach a reasoned conclusion of the significant effects of the 
Proposed Development, which forms the basis of the assessment presented in this report. 

7.298 Mitigation / monitoring measures as proposed in the ES would be secured through planning 
conditions and/or planning obligations. The environmental information comprises the ES, 
including any further / other information, any representations made by consultation bodies 
and by any other person about the environmental effects of the Proposed Development. 

Health Impact Assessment 

7.299 Local Plan Policy D.SG3 states that developments that are referable to the Mayor require to 
be supported by a Health Impact Assessments (HIA). Whilst Policy D.SG3 normally requires 
the submission of a detailed HIA, given the scale and nature of the proposed development, 
officers agreed that a full HIA was appropriate in this case. The submitted HIA has been 
assessed by the bough HIA officer and concludes that the methodology is sound identifying 
the following: 

 Housing Quality and Design: 80 high quality new homes of varying size as well as 
providing much needed student accommodation which positively contributes to annual 
housing targets as well as helping to meet local demand for various types of 
accommodation, encouraging a vibrant resident community. Residents would benefit 
from functional, comfortable and energy efficient living including accessible units for 
mobility impaired  users; 

 Open Space: Identifies that lack of open space is a key issue of the development with 
the scheme providing as much biodiversity and open space in varying types as possible 
within the constrained area. Recommends securing a financial contribution which after 
discussing with the LBTH parks department will focus on improving links between open 
spaces in the area which would benefit the development and surrounds.  

 Crime Reduction and Community Safety: multi-use of public spaces and natural 
surveillance that would help to reducing fear of crime. The proposals have been 
developed in consultation with a Designing Out Crime officer and community 
engagement has taken place which help foster a sense of ownership and empowerment;  

 Access to Work and Training: flexible retail and commercial space generating up to 30 
FTE jobs providing opportunities for employment, including for residents. In addition, 

Page 100



during the demolition and construction phase, temporary employment opportunities 
would be generated; 

 Pedestrian and Cycling Activity: strong public transport links and prioritises pedestrian 
and cycling modes of travel, both in terms of accessing the site and within the site itself 
thereby encouraging and promoting active travel and exercise; 

 Minimising the use of natural resources: The site meets the principle of paragraph 11 of 
the NPPF by reusing land that has previously been developed for a mix of uses and 
would enhance the amenity value of the site for occupiers and the local community. It 
incorporates sustainable design and construction techniques and will be highly energy 
efficient; and 

 Incorporation of Renewable Energy: inclusion of Air Source Heat Pumps and Photo 
Voltaics helping to mitigate against climate change impacts and reduce potential for fuel 
poverty.  

 Fast food takeaway: Takeaway is more than 400m from the nearest school and 
acknowledges that McDonalds has undergone substantial changes in its menu and 
business operations over time with a focus on accessing nutritional information and 
diversifying the menu.   

7.300 Officers agree that the proposed development would result in the above positive health 
comes, which would be secured by several the proposed planning conditions and planning 
obligations.  

Energy & Environmental Sustainability 

7.301 Local Plan Policy D.ES7 requires developments (2019-2031) to achieve the following 
improvements on the 2013 Building Regulations for both residential and non-residential 
uses: Zero carbon (to be achieved through a minimum 45% reduction in regulated carbon 
dioxide emissions on-site and the remaining regulated carbon dioxide emissions to 100% - 
to be off-set through a cash in lieu contribution). 

7.302 Local Plan Policy D.ES10 requires new development to ensure that buildings (both internally 
and externally) and the spaces around them are designed to avoid overheating and 
excessive heat generation, while minimising the need for internal air conditioning systems. 

7.303 London Plan Policy SI 2 also calls for major development to be zero-carbon by reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions by improvements on the 2013 Building Regulations, but by 35% 
(with at least 10% for residential and 15% for non-residential coming from energy efficiency 
measures), in accordance with the Mayor of London’s energy hierarchy. This policy also 
calls for developments referable to the Mayor to include a Whole Life-Cycle Carbon 
Assessment and demonstrate actions taken to reduce life-cycle carbon emissions. 

7.304 London Plan Policy SI 3 requires development within Heat Network Priority Areas to have 
communal-low temperature heating system, with heat source being selected in accordance 
with a hierarchy (connect to heat networks, use zero carbon or local heat sources (in 
conjunction with heat pumps, if required), use low-emission CHP. 

7.305 London Plan Policy SI 4 calls for development to minimise overheating in accordance with a 
cooling hierarchy. 

7.306 The principal target is to achieve a reduction in regulated CO2 emissions in line with the 
LBTH Local Plan that requires all residential development to achieve the ‘Zero Carbon’ 
standard with a minimum 45% CO2 emission improvement over Part L 2013 Building 
Regulations. This exceeds Policy 5.2 of the London Plan that requires the ‘lean’, ‘clean’ and 
‘green’ stages of the Mayor of London’s Energy Hierarchy to be followed to achieve a ‘Zero 
Carbon’ Standard targeting a minimum onsite reduction of 35%. All surplus regulated CO2 

Page 101



emissions must be offset at a rate of £95 for every ton of CO2 emitted per year over a 
minimum period of 30 years. 

7.307 The application is supported by a Sustainability & Energy Statement, Residential 
Overheating report, and the ES (Chapter 9) reports on an assessment of the likely significant 
effects on greenhouse gas emissions. 

Energy 

7.308 The Mayor of London’s Energy Hierarchy is as follows: 

 be lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation; 

 be clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply energy 
efficiently and cleanly; 

 be green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and using 
renewable energy on-site; and 

 be seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance. 

7.309 ‘Be Lean.’ The Mayor’s hierarchy prioritises a ‘fabric first’ approach, including building 
orientation and shading, high performance glazing, reduced air permeability and good 
insulating fabric, together with active and passive measures such as use of high-efficiency 
LED lighting, Mechanical Ventilation and Heat Recovery (MVHR) and smart meters to 
reduce energy demand. These proposed measures are expected to save 69 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide per year (a 17% saving above the Building Regulations 2013).  

7.310 ‘Be Clean.’ There is no viable existing or proposed District Energy Network (DEN) nearby. 
However, the proposed on-site communal heat network is to be designed so that it could 
connect to an offsite DEN.  In respect of site wide heating networks, the proposals include 
an ‘ambient loop’. This distributes low temperature water around the scheme which is then 
upgraded to provide heat and hot water locally, when and where it’s required. This system 
will vastly reduce CO2 emissions and reduce internal gains, which can contribute to internal 
overheating. 

7.311 ‘Be Green.’ The proposed ambient loop system would be located site wide with heat pump 
chillers at roof level of building 2. These chillers will be piped to the basement to connect into 
a thermal store. The thermal store shall then pipe energy via a water to water system storing 
energy within pump calorifiers. Each residential unit and student accommodation cluster will 
be provided with heat pumps which can access the store to in order to provide heating, 
cooling, and hot water to the rooms. Solar photovoltaic panels are also proposed, these are 
to be located on the roof of each tower, and where appropriate, on the roofs of the link 
bridge and podium. On-site renewable energy technology is expected to save 696 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide per year (a 57% saving in residential and 53% saving in non-residential 
above SAP 10). 

7.312 ‘Be Seen.’ Extensive metering, use of energy management software and FM management 
training will enable post construction monitoring to be undertaken.  

7.313 The measures implemented as part of the Be Lean, Be Clean and Be Green assessment 
result in a saving of 52 tCO2/year for the residential element of the scheme and 713 
tCO2/year for the non-residential, which equate to a 68.4% and 58.5% reduction from the 
baseline respectively, when the SAP 10 emission factors are applied. The total on-site site 
wide CO2 emission reduction is anticipated to be 59% against the building regulation 
baseline utilising the SAP10 carbon factors. 

7.314 Carbon Offsetting. The above measures are expected to save approx. 765 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide per year (a 59% saving above the Building Regulations 2013).  However, despite the 
use of the above measures, this falls short of the zero-carbon policy target for proposed 

Page 102



domestic and non-domestic uses. As a result, it is recommended that planning obligations 
secure the payment of a cash-in-lieu payment of £1,507,650 (based on £95 per tonne of 
carbon over a 30-year period). 

7.315 Overheating. The residential overheating report demonstrates that the proposed orientation 
and design of the proposed homes (when coupled with solar control glass with a g-value of 
0.33, MVHR, LED lighting, reduced heating pipework and the use of blinds) means that 
compliance with CIBSE TM59 overheating criteria is achieved. This meets London Plan 
Policy SI 4. 

7.316 Likely significant Carbon Greenhouse Gas environmental effects. The ES (Chapter 9) 
identifies a number of proposed mitigation measures for the construction phase 
(Construction Environmental Management Plan and Construction Logistics Plan) and 
operational phase (cycle parking, car parking restrictions, Travel Plan, Framework Delivery 
and Servicing Management Plan, the proposed Energy Strategy, carbon offsetting, 
Passivhaus accreditation and BREEAM ‘outstanding’ standard for the student element and 
excellent for the residential floorspace). These are discussed in more detail in other sections 
of this report and it is recommended that they are secured by way of planning conditions and 
obligations.   

7.317 Assuming that these mitigation measures are in place, the ES identifies residual 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions in the opening year of 3,519 tonnes of carbon dioxide. It 
goes on to state that the proposed scheme would contribute a small amount of emissions 
and would employ commensurate mitigation measures to ensure policy compliance and 
minimise its contribution to climate change where possible. However, as part of the wider 
cumulative effects of GHG emissions from all local, regional, national and global sources, 
the emissions are nonetheless judged to be significant. 

Environmental sustainability 

7.318 Policy D.ES6 requires new residential development achieve a maximum water use of 105 
litres per person per day, to minimise the pressure on the combined sewer network and to 
demonstrate that the local water supply and public sewerage networks have adequate 
capacity both on and off-site to serve the development, taking into consideration the 
cumulative impact of current and proposed development. 

7.319 Local Plan Policy D.ES7 requires development to maximise energy efficiency based on the 
following relevant standards: BREEAM ‘excellent’ rating and the Home Quality Mark. 

7.320 Movement and transport, Landscape and ecology, air quality, noise, daylight and sunlight, 
flood risk and drainage are addressed in detail in other sections of this report. 

7.321 Building Performance. The Sustainability Statement includes a BREEAM pre-planning 
assessment (BREEAM New Construction 2018) which demonstrates that the proposed new 
student units could achieve an ‘Outstanding rating and Passivhaus. It is recommended that a 
planning condition secures this. 

7.322 Internal water use. There is a mandatory requirement under Building Regulations Part G of 
achieving a predicted average household potable water consumption of no greater than 125 
Litres per person per day and the applicant proposes to use water efficient sanitaryware and 
white goods specification. Local Plan Policy D.ES6 seeks to achieve a maximum water use 
of 105 litres per person per day and a planning condition is recommended to secure this 
policy objective. 

7.323 Construction waste. The applicant’s Sustainability Statement states that it would put in place 
waste management systems during the (demolition) and construction phase to minimise 
waste, including the sorting and recycling of waste and diverting it from landfill. The ES 

Page 103



recommends the implementation of an approved Site Waste Management Plan and It is 
recommended that this is secured by planning condition. 

7.324 Considerate Constructors Scheme. The applicant’s Sustainability Statement states the site is 
to be registered under the Considerate Constructors Scheme prior to the commencement of 
the construction phase, with a set target to help achieve BREEAM ‘ Outstanding and 
Excellent.’ It is recommended that this is secured by a s106 planning obligation. 

Waste 

Operational waste and recycling 

7.325 All proposed homes have been designed to include separate refuse and recycling storage in 
kitchens, to allow residents to separate refuse and recycling at source.  

Construction waste and recycling 

7.326 As discussed under Environmental Sustainability above, it is recommended that a Site 
Waste Management Plan and It is recommended that this is secured by planning condition. 

Biodiversity 

7.327 London Plan Policy G6 states that ‘development proposals should manage impacts on 
biodiversity and aim to secure net biodiversity gain’ and Tower Hamlets Local Plan Policy 
D.ES3 require developments to protect and enhance biodiversity. The site does not form 
part of any statutory or non-statutory nature conservation site and is not located within a 
preferred location for biodiversity under the Local Plan’s Green Grid Network.  

7.328 The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Net Gain 
Report. 

7.329 The site has been previously cleared for development and consists of bare ground with 
areas of ruderal vegetation. This will support common wild plants and invertebrates, and its 
loss will be a minor negative impact on biodiversity. 

7.330 The proposals include biodiverse roofs on all the new buildings. While the detailed design of 
these is not provided, there is sufficient information to make it clear that they will contribute 
to a LBAP target. The submission documents outline a large number of nest boxes for 
various bird species, including peregrine, swift, house sparrow and black redstart, as well as 
bat and bee boxes. All of these will contribute to LBAP targets. 

7.331 There is also significant ornamental and amenity planting proposed, including new trees, rain 
gardens, climbers and flower beds. If at least three native tree species are planted, that 
would contribute to a LBAP objective. Inclusion of a good range of nectar-rich perennials and 
shrubs in the ornamental planting would contribute to a LBAP target to increase forage for 
bees and other pollinators. The proposals will lead to a net gain in biodiversity. Full details of 
biodiversity mitigation and enhancements should be secured through a condition 

Flood Risk & Drainage 

7.332 Tower Hamlets Local Plan policies D.ES4 and D.ES5 seek to manage flood risk and 
encourage the use of Sustainable Urban Drain is protected to a very high standards by the 
Thames tidal flood defences up to a 1 in 1000 (0.1%) change in any given year.  Policy 
D.ES6 requires new development to minimise the pressure on the combined sewer network. 

7.333 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy. The 
FRA identifies the site as being in Flood Zone 3a (high risk) and concludes that all the 
proposed uses are appropriate. The Environment agency have commented that the site is 

Page 104



protected to a very high standard by the Thames tidal flood defences up to a 1 in 1000 
(0.1%) chance in any year flood event 

7.334 Furthermore, the proposal does have a safe means of access and/or egress in the event of 
flooding from all new buildings to an area wholly outside the floodplain, and following the 
receipt of EA and GLA comments amendments have been made to the height of the 
perimeter wall which will be constructed above the 2100 breach flood level (4.626m AOD). 

7.335 In addition to this only ‘less vulnerable’ uses such as retail and back of house spaces have 
been located below this level and spaces below the breach level will be of a flood resilient 
construction in accordance with the EA’s guidance. Basement waterproofing is also required 
to be designed in accordance with BS 8102 to mitigate the risk of flooding from groundwater. 

7.336 The proposed new surface water drainage strategy would maintain the current flood risk on-
site for rivers, tidal, groundwater, surface water, overland flows, canals, reservoirs, sewers 
and water mains whilst allowing for the increased rainfall potential associated with climate 
change. The proposed incorporation of SuDS and reduction in surface water discharge rates 
to the public sewers would be beneficial in contributing to a reduction of flood risk in the 
area. Neither the Environment Agency nor Thames Water have raised no objections to the 
proposals and after some clarification the GLA have also accepted the proposal and agreed 
that the FRA has had regard to the London Plan Drainage hierarchy.  

7.337 Proposes Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) measures include: 

 Areas of blue roof on all proposed Blocks (approx. 1260sqm); 

 Raingardens and tree planting (with sub-surface collection pipes). 

7.338 The proposed scheme is designed to connect its foul water drainage network to the public 
combined sewer. Whilst there would be an increase in foul sewerage entering the system it 
is recommended that planning conditions secure the details of proposed SuDS measures, 
together with a Drainage Management Strategy (to cover both management and 
maintenance of approved measures). 

7.339 To minimise water use on site, a number of water reduction measures are included within 
the proposal including low flow/flush fittings, efficient water supply (leak detection, smart 
meters, etc.) and grey water harvesting. In addition to the measures outlined in this section, 
a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan (FWEP) will be required during detailed design to 
manage the residual risk of flooding posed to less vulnerable people at lower levels of the 
development (e.g. commercial users) in the event of flood event or breach to the existing 
defences. The plan will be required to consider closure of parts of the site during such an 
event, evacuation of vulnerable persons, and a methodology to establish how the flood 
levels are monitored and what/ when actions are taken on Site. 

Land Contamination 

7.340 Geo-environmental (Ground Conditions, Groundwater and Land Take and Soils) was scoped 
out of the EIA. However, the application is supported by a Geoenvironmental Desk Study 
Report based on a conceptual site model, this sets out the characteristic ground conditions 
and elements of the surrounding environment and identifies potential sources of 
contamination, potential receptors of the contamination and potential pathways between 
them. It does conclude that there are potential sources of contamination and recommends a 
Phase 2 ground investigation to allow an assessment of the underlying ground conditions. 
Given this, it is recommended that the Council’s standard land contamination remediation 
and verification report conditions are attached to any planning permission. This would 
ensure that the application accords with Tower Hamlets Local Plan policy D.ES8  

Noise & vibration, air quality and wind/microclimate 

Page 105



7.341 These topics are discussed in detail under Housing (Quality of Residential Accommodation) 
and Neighbour Amenity above. In summary, subject to the recommended conditions, no 
unacceptable adverse construction-related or long-term noise, air quality or 
wind/microclimate effects for future residents or existing neighbouring residents or 
businesses were identified. 

INFRASTRUCTURE IMPACT 

7.342 It is estimated that the proposed development would be liable for Tower Hamlets Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments of approximately £18,380,672 (inclusive of social housing 
relief and exclusive of indexation) and Mayor of London CIL of approximately £4,685,742 
(inclusive of social housing relief and exclusive of indexation). 

7.343 This would result in a total of £23,066,414. This figure is approximate from the information 
submitted and will be scrutinised again once CIL is payable upon commencement following 
planning permission being granted. 

7.344 Alongside CIL, Development Plan policies seek financial contributions to be secured by way 
of planning obligations to offset the likely impacts of the proposed development. 

7.345 The applicant has agreed to meet all of the financial contributions that are sought by the 
Council’s Planning Obligations SPD and TfL which are as follows: 

 
‒ £231,416.00 towards construction phase employment skills training 
‒ £37,202.88 towards end-user phase employment skills training  
‒ £1,507,650.00 towards carbon off setting  
‒ £10,00.00 towards child play space 
‒ £1,490,131.08 towards open space 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS & EQUALITIES 

7.346 The proposal does not raise any unique human rights or equalities implications. The balance 
between individual rights and the wider public interest has been carefully considered and 
officers consider it to be acceptable.  

7.347 The proposed new residential accommodation meets inclusive design standards and over 
530 of the new homes will be wheelchair accessible, 154 within the affordable tenures, and 
27 disabled car parking spaces provided. These standards would benefit future employees 
and residents, including disabled people, elderly people and parents/carers with children. 
The proposed affordable housing would be of particular benefit to groups that are 
socially/economically disadvantaged. It is also considered that the application has 
undergone the appropriate level of consultation with the public and Council consultees. 

7.348 The proposed development would not result in adverse impacts upon equality or social 
cohesion. 

8  RECOMMENDATION 

8.1 That conditional planning permission is GRANTED subject to the prior completion of a 
legal agreement to secure the following planning obligations 

 
8.2 Financial Obligations  

 
a) £9,465,760.00 towards affordable housing 
b) £231,416.00 towards construction phase employment skills training 

Page 106



c) £37,202.88 towards end-user phase employment skills training  
d) £1,507,650.00 towards carbon off setting  
e) £10,00.00 towards child play space 
f) £1,490,131.08 towards open space improvements  
g) £1000 per heads of term 

 

 
8.3 Non-Financial Obligations  

 
a. 24.3% affordable student accommodation 
b. Compliance with the student management plan 
c. Affordable workspace strategy (10% space at 38% discount) 
d. Access to employment 

 
‒ 20% local procurement 
‒ 20% local labour in construction 
‒ 43 construction phase apprenticeships 

 
e. Transport  
‒ Approval and implementation of Travel Plan  
‒ Implementation and funding of highway works (as covered in s278) 
‒ Provision of 38 short stay cycle facilities in the nearby vicinity  

 
f. Biodiversity rafts for surrounding Poplar Dock  
g. Compliance with Considerate Constructors Scheme  
h. Car free development 
i. Architect retention 

 
8.4 That the Corporate Director of Place is delegated the power to impose conditions and 

informatives to address the following matters:  
 

9  PLANNING CONDITIONS 

 

1. 3 years deadline for commencement of development 

2. Development in accordance with approved plans 

3. Noise emitted from new fixed building plant 

4. Inclusive Access Standards 

5. Smart meters 

6. Accessible parking  

 

 Pre-commencement 

7. Archaeology: Written Scheme of Investigation in consultation with GLAAS 

8. Construction Environmental Management Plan, including an Air Quality and Dust 
Management Plan (AQDMP) Construction Logistics Plan in consultation with TfL 

9. Construction Waste Management Plan 

10. Crane methodology in consultation with London City Airport 

11. Energy Strategy 

Page 107



12. Highways Improvement Works  

13. Land Contamination Remediation  

14. Odour from fixed plant and equipment  

15. Piling 

16. Wheelchair housing detailed plans (student and residential)  

17. Delivery, Servicing, and Waste Management Strategy 

 

 Pre-commencement of above ground works 

18. Biodiversity enhancements 

19. Details of fixed plant and machinery (air quality) 

20. Extraction system for the McDonalds 

 

Pre-superstructure works 

21. Affordable Workspace Management Plan 

22. Details of external facing materials and architectural detailing 

23. Details of hard and soft landscaping of all public realm and open spaces including 
details relating to play equipment, street furniture, biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancements and wind mitigation. 

24. Detailed studies of shopfronts 

25. Details of cycle parking  

26. Lighting Strategy  

27. Play Space Management Plan 

28. Secure by Design 

29. Surface Water Drainage Strategy 

30. Solar glare report. 

31. Details of PV panels (in consultation with London City Airport) 

32. Details of Acoustic Wall 

 

Prior to Occupation (of relevant use) 

33. BREEAM Certificate for relevant accommodation and workspace to be ‘Outstanding’ 

34. Contamination verification 

35. Updated Transport Assessment (in consultation with TfL) 

36. Queue management strategy  

37. Noise Verification Report for Residential 

38. Secured by design compliance 

39. Water Infrastructure 

40. Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan 

41. Healthier catering commitment for the McDonalds 

42. Passivhaus 

Page 108



43. Landscape maintenance Strategy (including sky gardens) 

 

 

 

Compliance 

44. Compliance with the NRMM Low Emission Zone for London standards during the 
construction phase. The standards should be those applicable to the Central Activities 
Zone and Canary Wharf, as the development is located in an Opportunity Area. 

 

Informatives 

1. Thames Water (Surface Water Drainage) 

2. Thames Water (Underground Assets) 

3. Thames Water (Water Mains) 

 

  

Page 109



APPENDIX 1 – List of Plans for Approval 

Schedule of Drawings 
 
TW_A_PL_010 Rev P00 – Location Plan 
TW_A_PL_011 Rev P00 – Site Layout Plan 
TW_A_PL_098 Rev P00 – Basement Level 02  
TW_A_PL_099 Rev 00– Basement Level 01 
TW_A_PL_100 Rev P02 – Ground Floor Plan  
TW_A_PL_101 Rev P01 – Podium Level 01 
TW_A_PL_102 Rev P01 – Podium Level 01 
TW_A_PL_103 Rev P01 – Podium Level 02 
TW_A_PL_104 Rev P01 – Podium Roof  
TW_A_PL_105 Rev P01 – Level 05, 07 Plan 
TW_A_PL_106 Rev P01 – Level 06, 08 Plan 
TW_A_PL_109 Rev P01 – Level 09 Plan 
TW_A_PL_110 Rev P01 – Level 10, 11 Plan  
TW_A_PL_112 Rev P01 – Level 12 Plan  
TW_A_PL_113 Rev P01 – Level 13, 15, 17 Plan 
TW_A_PL_114 Rev P01 – Level 14, 16 Plan 
TW_A_PL_118 Rev P01 – Level 18, 20 Plan 
TW_A_PL_119 Rev P01 – Level 19, 21 Plan 
TW_A_PL_122 Rev P01 – Level 22, 24 Plan 
TW_A_PL_123 Rev P01 – Level 23, 25 Plan 
TW_A_PL_126 Rev P01 – Level 26 Plan  
TW_A_PL_127 Rev P01 – Level 27 Plan  
TW_A_PL_128 Rev P00 – Level 28 Plan 
TW_A_PL_129 Rev P00 – Level 29 Plan  
TW_A_PL_130 Rev P00 – Level 30, 32 Plan 
TW_A_PL_131 Rev P00 – Level 31, 33 Plan 
TW_A_PL_134 Rev P00 – Level 34 Plan 
TW_A_PL_135 Rev P00 – Level 35 Plan 
TW_A_PL_136 Rev P00 – Level 36 Plan 
TW_A_PL_137 Rev P00 – Level 37, 39, 41, 43 Plan 
TW_A_PL_138 Rev P00 – Level 38, 40, 42 Plan 
TW_A_PL_143 Rev P00 – Level 43 Plan  
TW_A_PL_144 Rev P00 – Level 44 Plan  
TW_A_PL_145 Rev P00 – Level 45 Plan  
TW_A_PL_146 Rev P00 – Roof Plan  
 
TW_A_PL_201 Rev P01 – East/West Section 
TW_A_PL_202 Rev P00 – North/South Section Building 2 
TW_A_PL_203 Rev P00 – NS Section Building 1 
TW_A_PL_204 Rev P00 – NS Section Building 3 
 
TW_A_PL_301 Rev P00 – Site Context Elevations North  
TW_A_PL_302 Rev P00 – Site Context Elevations East 
TW_A_PL_303 Rev P00 – Site Context Elevations South 
TW_A_PL_304 Rev P00 – Site Context Elevations West 
 
TW_A_PL_400 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Student Rooms 
TW_A_PL_401 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Sky Garden 
TW_A_PL_402 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Residential 
TW_A_PL_403 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Top of Building 
TW_A_PL_404 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Sky Bridge 

Page 110



TW_A_PL_405 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Podium South - L00 to L02 
TW_A_PL_406 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Podium South - L02 to L04 
TW_A_PL_407 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Podium North - L00 to L02 
TW_A_PL_408 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Podium North - L02 to L04 
TW_A_PL_409 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Drive-Thru Entrance 
TW_A_PL_410 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Retail Entrance 01 
TW_A_PL_411 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Retail Entrance 02 
TW_A_PL_412 Rev P00 – Typical Facade Detail - Restaurant Entrance 
 

Schedule of Documents 
 
Design & Access Statement, prepared by Apt; 

Design & Access Addendum, prepared by Apt;  

Draft Construction Management Plan, prepared by Balfour Beatty; 

Framework Delivery and Servicing Plan, Caneparo Associates; 

Framework Workplace Travel Plan, prepared by Caneparo Associates 

Outline Construction Logistics Plan, prepared by Caneparo; 

Parking Design Management Plan (appended to Transport Assessment), prepared 

by  Caneparo; 

Transport Assessment, prepared by Caneparo Associates; 

Geotechnical Desk Study Report, prepared by CGL; 

Aviation Safeguarding Assessment, prepared by Eddowes Aviation Safety; 

Financial Viability Assessment, prepared by Gerald Eve LLP; 

Town Planning Statement, prepared by Gerald Eve LLP; 

Student Housing Demand and Supply Study, prepared by JLL; 

Statement of Community Involvement, prepared by LCA; 

Circular Economy Statement, prepared by MTT; 

Residential Overheating Report, prepared by MTT;  

Student Accommodation Overheating Report, prepared by MTT; 

Sustainability and Energy Statement Addendum, prepared by MTT; 

GLA Energy Spreadsheet, prepared by MTT; 

Energy Statement Addendum, prepared by MTT;  

Utilities Statement, prepared by MTT; 

Ventilation and Extraction Statement, prepared by MTT; 

Internal Daylight Report, prepared by Point 2 Surveyors;  

Overshadowing Report, prepared by Point 2 Surveyors; 

Internal Daylight Report Addendum, prepared by Point 2 Surveyors; 

Biodiversity Net Gain Report, prepared by Schofield Lothian; 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, prepared by Schofield Lothian; 

Student Management Plan, prepared by Urbanest; 

Economic Statement, prepared by Volterra; 

Flood Risk Assessment, prepared by Walsh  

Operational Waste Management Strategy, prepared by WSP 

Fire Statement, prepared by WSP. 

 

ES Volumes 

Environmental Statement - Volume 1: Main Text, prepared by Trium; 

Environmental Statement - Volume 2: Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact 

Page 111



Assessment, prepared by CityDesigner; 

Environmental Statement - Volume 3: Technical Appendices, prepared by Trium 

Environmental Statement - Non-Technical Summary, prepared by Trium 

ES Review Response Note, prepared by Trium 

ES Final Review Report Response Note, prepared by Trium 

ES Statement of Conformity, prepared by Trium 

  

Page 112



APPENDIX 2 – Proposed Drawings 

 

 
Proposed ground floor plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Proposed first floor plan 

 

 

Page 113



 
Proposed second floor plan 

 

 

 

 

 
Typical floorplan 

Page 114



 
Proposed north elevation 

 

Page 115



 
Proposed west Elevation 

 

Page 116



 
Proposed Overview Plan 

 

 
View from Poplar Dock Marina 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97) 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THE REPORTS UNDER THE ITEM OTHER 
PLANNING MATTERS 

 
Brief Description of background papers: Tick if copy supplied for register: Name and telephone no. of holder: 

See individual reports  See individual reports 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

18 August 2021 

Report of the Corporate Director of Place          Classification: Unrestricted    

 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning matters other than planning applications 
for determination by the Committee. The following information and advice applies to all 
those reports. 

2. PRE-APPLICATION BRIEFINGS AND PRESENTATIONS 

2.2   Presentations will be held in accordance with the attached protocol. 

3. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

3.1 The Council’s Constitution only provides for public speaking rights for those applications 
being reported to Committee in the “Planning Applications for Decision” part of the agenda. 
Therefore reports that deal with planning matters other than applications for determination 
by the Council do not automatically attract public speaking rights. 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

TOWER HAMLETS 

 

PROTOCOL FOR PRE-APPLICATION BRIEFINGS AND PRESENTATIONS  

TO THE DEVELOPMENT AND STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEES 

 

NOVEMBER 2019 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 It is common for pre application discussions take place before a planning application is 
submitted, particularly if the development is of a large scale, would be complex or is likely to 
attract significant public interest. The Council offers a pre-application planning advice service 
aimed at anyone who is considering making a planning application or wishes to carry out 
development in Tower Hamlets. 

1.2 Early engagement in the planning process is encouraged and supported by the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019):  

 “Early engagement has significant potential to improve the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the planning application system for all parties. Good quality pre-application 
discussion enables better coordination between public and private resources and 
improved outcomes for the community. (para. 39) 

 The more issues that can be resolved at pre-application stage, including the need to 
deliver improvements in infrastructure and affordable housing, the greater the 
benefits.” (para. 41) 

1.3 Early elected member engagement in the planning process is also encouraged and 
supported by the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) which says: 

“Democratically elected members are strongly encouraged to participate at the pre-
application stage, where it is appropriate and beneficial for them to do so. Section 25 
of the Localism Act 2011 confirms that elected members do not have a ‘closed mind’ 
just because they have historically indicated a view on a matter relevant to the 
proposal.”   

1.4 Planning applications for larger scale major development or proposals which generate 
significant public interest are decided by the Council’s Development Committee and 
Strategic Development Committee (the Committees) in accordance with their published 
terms of reference.  

1.5 A briefing or presentation to the committee at an early stage in the design process (before 
an application is submitted) can help to shape proposals so that they are more likely to 
comply with development plan policies and be more  responsive to local interests, issues or 
concerns.  Briefings and presentations can assist in the Committees being aware of 
significant development proposals that are evolving and support informed decision making 
on future planning applications. 

1.6 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), adopted by the Mayor in 
Cabinet in April 2019 highlights the importance of good quality pre-application engagement. 

Page 121

Agenda Item 6.1

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/25
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/25


2 
 

1.7 A number of London Council’s (e.g. Hackney, Croydon, Haringey and Camden) have 
introduced a protocol for planning committee member engagement at the pre-application 
stage. The updated terms of reference for the Committees includes: “To consider any 
application or other planning matter referred to the Committee by the Corporate Director, 
Place including pre-application presentations (subject to the agreed protocol)”. 

1.8 The protocol and procedures were presented in draft form to the Strategic Development 
Committee on 28 March and Development Committee on 1 April 2019.  Comments received 
from Committee members have been incorporated. 

1.9 The protocol and procedures to support pre-application engagement with the Committees is 
set out below. 

 

2. PROTOCOL FOR COMMITTEE MEMBER ENGAGEMENT 

What sort of development is covered by the protocol? 
 
2.1 The Committees make decisions on applications referred to them under the terms of 

reference outlined in the Council’s Constitution (2019), relating to scale, significance and 
extent of public interest. 

2.2 It is unlikely that the Committees will be able to accommodate briefings or presentations on 
all proposals that may be determined by them in the future.  Within this context, the following 
criteria provide a guide for the types of development that may be suitable for pre-application 
presentations: 

 development that meets or exceeds the criteria for referral to the Mayor of London; 

 development on sites allocated in the Council’s Local Plan; 

 development that would contribute to the Council’s regeneration programmes, 
including the Council’s own development; 

 significant infrastructure development by the Council’s strategic partners, such as 
health authorities, infrastructure providers or higher education institutions; 

 Other significant developments as identified by the Chair or members of the 
appropriate committee.  

2.3 To help manage the impact on the committee agendas and time available the Divisional 
Director for Planning and Building Control (or their nominee) will work with the Chair of the 
relevant Committee to decide whether a particular proposal would benefit from a briefing or 
presentation. 

 When should pre-application engagement take place? 

2.4 Officer briefings and developer presentations should take place at the pre-application stage, 
to optimise the opportunities for issues raised to be responded to by the developer through 
the design process.  When this is not possible, engagement should take place early in the 
formal application period.   

2.5 Pre-application discussions are discretionary and there is no set rule as to the point in the 
process when a briefing or presentation should take place.  Timing will vary depending on 
the nature of the proposed development, complexity of the planning issues and level of 

Page 122



3 
 

public interest.  As a general guide a presentation to the relevant Committee is likely to be 
beneficial when: 

 At least one pre-application meeting has been held with officers, so that a briefing on 
the planning issues can be prepared; 

 A presentation to the Council’s Conservation and Design Advisory Panel (CADAP) 
has taken place (if appropriate), so that their views can be reported; 

 Pre-application community engagement has taken place so that the views of local 
residents and other interested parties can be shared.   

Developer presentations 

2.6 This protocol allows for a developer presentation to the Committees as part of the briefing 
process.  No formal decisions will be taken at such meetings and any subsequent planning 
applications will be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the appropriate Committee.  

2.7 The purpose of the pre-application presentations are:  

 to ensure committee are aware of significant development proposals prior to an 
application being submitted and formally considered by them; 

 to make the Committee consideration of planning applications more informed and 
effective;  

 To allow the Committees and developers to understand which development plan 
polices will be relevant to the proposals. ; 

 to ensure issues are identified early in the application process and improve the 
quality of applications;  

 To foster a collaborative working approach that avoids potential delays (e.g. fewer 
deferred applications or office recommendations that cannot be supported).   

 
 

3. PROCEDURES FOR PRE-APPLICATION BRIEFINGS AND PRESENTATIONS 
 

3.1 Briefings and presentations will be scheduled as part of the public agenda for the relevant 
Committee, normally under the existing heading “Other planning matters”.  A short report 
summarising the development proposals, the progress made and the issues identified at the 
pre-application stage will be prepared by officers.  The report will not contain an assessment 
or commentary on the planning merits of the proposal. 

3.2 The meeting will be open to members of the public and will be chaired by the Chair (or Vice 
Chair in their absence). The Developer will supply all presentation materials including any 
models or digital material, to be agreed in advance with planning officers.   

3.3 The Development Procedure Rules, including public speaking, which apply to the 
determination of planning applications, will not apply to pre-application briefings or 
presentations as the Committee will not be making a formal decision. However the Planning 
Code of Conduct will still apply.  

3.4 Ward councillors will be invited to attend the meeting and will be notified in writing (usually e-
mail) at least 7 days in advance.  Ward Councillors will have the opportunity to register to 

Page 123



4 
 

speak at the meeting to articulate their views and any local issues that the Committee should 
be aware of. 

3.5 The procedure for briefings and presentations will be as follows: 

 Officers to introduce the proposal, update on the progress of pre-application 
discussions and set out the main planning issues that have been identified. 

 The developer and their architects, planning agents or other representative will 
present the proposals for up to 15 minutes. 

 Ward Members who have registered to speak will have the opportunity to give their 
views for up to 3 minutes each.   

 Members of the Committee will be able to ask questions to the developer and officers 
and highlight any planning issues (development plan policies or material 
considerations) that they would expect to be taken into account by the developer 
prior to an application being submitted. 

 The lead officer will summarise the comments raised and provide a note of the 
meeting.  

3.6 Whilst Committee members are encouraged to participate fully, to provide comments or 
raise questions, they should ensure that they are not seen to pre-determine or close their 
mind to any such proposal, to avoid being precluded from participating in determining a 
future planning application. 

3.7 Ward members who are also members of the Committee that will determine a future 
application and who register to speak and express a view on the proposed development will 
be disqualified from determining a future planning application. 

3.8  Officers may provide subsequent interim briefings to update the Committee as the pre-
application process progresses, or following the submission of an application.  A site visit 
may be arranged so that members can familiarise themselves with the site and surroundings 
before receiving the pre-application presentation. 

 

4. IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

4.1 The protocol will be introduced under the current provisions of the committee terms of 
reference which allow the Corporate Director to report any other matters to the Committee 
that she or he considers appropriate.  A future review of the Council’s constitution will allow 
for a formal incorporation of the protocol into the terms of reference. 

4.2 The operation of the protocol will be monitored in terms   ensuring it is operating effectively 
for members, developer and officers.  The effect of the protocol on planning outcomes, 
including greater certainty in decision making and reduction in the number of overturned 
recommendations and appeals will be monitored over time. 

Page 124



 

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

18/08/2021 

Report of the Corporate Director of 
Place          

Classification: Unrestricted    

 

Pre-application presentation 

 

 

Reference PF/20/00108  

Site Aberfeldy Estate, Abbott Road, Land to the north of East India Dock 
Road (A13), London, E14.  

Ward Lansbury  

Proposal Redevelopment of site to provide circa 1600 new homes, new 
employment space, a new high street, repurposing of the Abbott Road 
underpass and new and improved open space. 

 
 

Applicant Poplar Harca and EcoWorld London (Aberfeldy Village LLP/The LLP) 

Architect Levitt Bernstein – Masterplan 

Morris and Co – Phase A 

Landscape Architects – LDA Design 

Agent 

Case Officer 

DP9 

Nelupa Malik   

Key dates Pre-application request submitted May 2020  
Pre-app discussions began in May 2020 
CADAP 1 review (Masterplan) 12th July 2021 
CADAP 2 review (Phase A) 9th August 2021. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125

https://development.towerhamlets.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=DCAPR_129104
https://development.towerhamlets.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=DCAPR_129104


 
 
 
SITE PLAN 

 

 
 

 

Planning Applications Site Map 
PF/20/00108 
 
This site map displays the Planning Application Site 
Boundary and the extent of the area within which 
neighbouring occupiers / owners were consulted as part of 
the Planning Application Process 

London 
Borough of 
Tower Hamlets 

 Date: 10 August 2021 

 
 
 
   
 
 

Page 126



 
 
1.  BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework and the National Planning Practice Guidance 

promote early engagement between developers and Local Planning Authorities at the pre-
application stage, prior to submitting a planning application.  The Council welcomes pre-
application discussions and has a well-established process to facilitate this.   In March 2019 
the Council’s Development and Strategic Development Committees considered a draft 
protocol for pre-application presentations. The protocol is now incorporated in the 
Committee Terms of Reference. The Council’s updated Statement of Community 
Involvement also highlights the importance of pre-application engagement and the role of 
elected members and local communities in this stage of the planning process. 
 

1.2 This report updates the Strategic Development Committee on progress made and issues 
identified in respect of pre-application discussions for the proposed redevelopment of the 
Aberfeldy Estate..   
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

2.1 Pre-application advice is being sought for the emerging masterplan for the estate 
redevelopment of the Aberfeldy Estate consisting of the demolition of existing buildings and 
the erection of 23 buildings/plots to provide 1608 residential units, new employment space, a 
new high street, repurposing of the Abbott Road underpass and new and improved open 
space. 

 

 
 

Figure 1 – Proposed Masterplan. 
 

Page 127



2.2 The pre-application scheme initially proposed upto 2000 units and the possible relocation of 
Culloden Primary School, however the proposed number of units have been reduced to circa 
1600 units as a result of on-going pre-application discussions.  It is also no longer proposed 
to include Culloden Primary School within the application boundary however this, is likely to 
be revisited in the future.  

2.3 Outline planning permission was granted in 2012 under planning permission PA/11/02716 
for the comprehensive mixed-use redevelopment of the Aberfeldy Estate to provide a 
maximum of 1176 new homes in 15 new blocks ranging between 2 and 10-storeys in height 
and the provision of 1743sqm of retail space (Use Classes A1, A2, A3 and A5) and 1,786 
community and cultural uses (Use Class D1) together with a temporary marketing suite 
(407sqm), energy centre, new and improved public open space and public realm, semi-
basement, ground and on-street vehicular and cycle parking and temporary works or 
structures and associated utilities/services.  This consent was subsequently amended in 
2015 under planning permission PA/15/00002.  It was anticipated that the consent would be 
built out in 6 phases. 

 
2.4 Phases 1 and 2 of the extant planning permission have been completed and phase 3 is 

currently under construction.  It is anticipated that Phase 3 would be completed by May 
2022.  On completion of Phase 3 a total of 901 units would have been delivered with 275 
units of the extant planning permission yet to be delivered in Phases 4-6.  Phases 4-6 which 
included 134 existing residential units to be demolished will not be implemented and will be 
replaced with the new emerging masterplan.  Figure 2 below provides an aerial view of the 
site which identifies Phases 1-3 and unimplemented Phases 4-6 of the extant planning 
permission and the application boundary for the emerging masterplan. 

  

Page 128



Figure 2 – Aerial View of the Site. 

2.5 The emerging masterplan for the Aberfeldy Estate incorporates a new red-line boundary 
which excludes Phases 1-3 of the extant planning permission.  Notwithstanding the 
exclusion of the built out phases, a notable difference in the red-line boundary between the 
proposed emerging masterplan and extant planning permission is the inclusion of the Nairn 
Street Estate and part of the Bromley Hall School site.  Subsequently there are 330 existing 
homes comprising a mixture of Tenanted (255 homes) and Leasehold (75 homes) that would 
be demolished as part of the proposals. 

2.6 The new masterplan will be a standalone hybrid planning application to be delivered in 4 
phases comprising Phases A-D.  In addition to the residential component, it is proposed to 
deliver 2767m2 of new retail space to be provided as part of a revitalised Aberfeldy High 
Street, 1921m2 of new workspace, 3757m2 of new public open space, the pedestrianisation 
and repurposing of the Abbott Road vehicular underpass and upgrades to existing public 
open spaces; Millennium Green, Leven Road Open Space and Braithwaite Park.  The 
phasing plan and construction programme for each phase is indicated in Figure 3 below: 

 

 
 

Figure 3 – Phasing Strategy.  

2.7 Phase A is expected to be the detailed element of the proposal and will include the 
redevelopment of Aberfeldy Street Neighbourhood Centre.  Phase A is anticipated to deliver 
280 homes and comprise of four plots; Plot F, H, I and J.  An overview of Phase A is 
indicated in Figure 4 below: 

Page 129



 

Figure 4 – Phase A Overview. 

 

2.8 Underpinning the layout for the emerging masterplan are six ‘threads’ which are summarised 
as follows: 

 Healthy Street – Focuses on Abbott Road as being a green spine that connects 
outdoor spaces and encourages a healthy lifestyle and prioritises pedestrians and 
cyclists over the motor vehicle. 

 Aberfeldy High Street – Replacement of the existing High Street and Neighbourhood 
Centre with a new pedestrian friendly High Street with residential above.  Landscaping 
would be integrated into the streetscape and it is intended for non-residential uses at 
street level to activate the public realm.  

 Enterprise Yard – Taking inspiration from Poplar Works, Enterprise Yard is proposed 
to be a hard surfaced route with a yard character with low rise new workspace 
buildings providing opportunities for businesses to spill out onto the street.  Where 
residential buildings face onto the yard, it is proposed to provide these buildings with 
double height space at the ground floor to allow further activation.  Enterprise Yard will 
be located along the far western part of the site and directly adjacent to the A12. 

 Community Lane – A new route through the site that will sit between Enterprise Yard 
and Aberfeldy High Street.  It is intended to be domestic and family orientated in 
character comprising residential units including family homes with entrances along the 
lane activating the street. 

 East West Links – The masterplan seeks to improve east-west links throughout the 
masterplan by tree-lining east-west streets to improve permeability. 

 Blue Loop – The masterplan seeks to improve connection to the River Lea to 
encourage its use as a leisure route. 

2.9 The remainder of the site will incorporate the repurposed pedestrianised Abbott Road 
underpass, upgraded Dee Street underpass, new areas of public realm, areas comprising 

Page 130



designated and informal children’s play provision,  new public open space identified as 
‘Highlands Place’ and a Civic Square identified as ‘All Hallows Square’. 

 
3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 
3.1 The pre-application site comprises the Aberfeldy Estate, which is bound by the A12 to the 

west, the A13 (East India Dock Road) to the south and Abbott Road to the north east.  
Further east and beyond Abbott Road lies the River Lea which is designated as a Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation.  Abbott Road is the principal link through the site, 
connecting the A12 and A13.   
 

3.2 The estate is predominantly residential in character with post war housing and 1970’s infill 
council homes across the estate, most of which range between 2-4 storeys in height.  
Phases 1-3 of the extant planning permission is nearing completion with buildings heights 
ranging between 5-11-storeys. The designated Aberfeldy Street Neighbourhood Centre acts 
as an active spine through the estate, where the main social, community and retail provision 
is situated. 

 
3.3 To the west of the site lies Culloden Primary School and the underground subway crossing 

under the A12 towards the Brownfield Estate and Grade II* listed building Balfron Tower. 
 

3.4 The area contains a number of green spaces, notably, Millennium Green, Leven Road Open 
Space and Braithwaite Park.   

 
3.5 The immediate surrounding context is expected to undergo significant regeneration and 

transformation with several residential-led mixed use developments coming forward 
following the grant of planning permission.  Namely, Ailsa Wharf which has consent for 785 
new homes, Islay Wharf which has consent for 133 new homes, the Former Poplar Bus 
Depot at Leven Road which has consent for 530 units and the Leven Road Gasworks site 
which has consent for up to 2,800 new homes.   

 
3.6 The site has the following planning designations and site constraints. 

 

 Lower Lea Valley Opportunity Area (Poplar Riverside Opportunity Area) 

 Sub-Area 3: Lower Lea Valley 

 Aberfeldy Street Neighbourhood Centre 

 Poplar Riverside Housing Zone 

 Flood Zones 2 and 3 

 Green Grid Buffer Zone 

 New Green Grid Buffer Zone 

 Archaeological Priority Area Tier 3 

 Area of Deficiency of Access to Nature: East India and Lanbsbury 
 

3.7 Nearby Borough Designated Views include the following: 
 

 East India Dock Road (E) towards Balfron Tower. 

 Langdon Park towards Balfron Tower. 
 

3.8 The site also lies within close proximity of the following designated heritage assets: 
 

  Balfron Tower – Grade II* listed building and Borough Landmark. 

  Carradale House – Grade II listed. 

  Glenkerry House – Grade II listed. 

  Former Bromley Hall School – Grade II listed. 

  Balfron Tower Conservation Area 

Page 131



  Church of St Michael and All Angels – Grade II listed. 

  East India Dock House, Former Financial Times Printworks – Grade II* listed. 

  Plaque on Modern Dock Wall Facing West – Grade II listed. 

  War Memorial, St Leonard’s Road – Grade II listed.   
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (Notable Applications Only) 
 
4.1 PA/15/01826/P3 - Submission of reserved matters pursuant to Condition 1 (details of siting, 

layout, scale, design and external appearance of the buildings, the means of access thereto 
and landscaping of the site), and partial approval of details pursuant to Condition 43 - (titled 
reserved matters further information) Sub-sections (a), (b) , (c), (d) (e), (f), (h) and (i) and 
partial discharge of Condition 25 (land contamination) Sub-Sections (a), (b), and (c) for the 
development of Phase 3 of the Aberfeldy New Village Outline Planning Permission 
(PA/15/00002) approved in June 2015 comprising demolition of Arapiles House, Athenia 
House, Jones House, Adams House, Sam March House, Theseus House and Trident House 
and creation of four residential blocks between 3 to 10 storeys, with a total of 344 new 
dwellings (21 x studio, 122 x 1 bed, 162 x 2 bed, 30 x 3 bed, 4 x 4 bed, 3 x 5 bed and 2 x 6 
bed), a health centre facility, a pharmacy, a community/youth centre facility, retail spaces 
(618sq.m) and energy centre, public open space, car parks, cycle parking and new public 
open space, car parks, cycle parking and temporary works or structures and associated 
utilities/services required by the development.  Permitted 13/11/2015. 

 
4.2 PA/15/0002/S - Minor Material amendment through variation of conditions No 3 (Approved 

Parameters Plans), 4 (Phasing Plan), 5 (Total Floor Space Areas) and 6 (Phase-by-phase 
Floor Space Areas), of Outline Planning Permission granted 20th June 2012 (Ref: 
PA/11/02716) "For the mixed-use redevelopment of the existing Aberfeldy estate 
comprising: 

 
Demolition of 297 existing residential units and 1,990 sqm of non-residential floorspace, 
including shops (use class A1), professional services (use class A2), food and drink (use 
class A3 and A5), residential institution (use class C2), storage (use class B8), community, 
education and cultural (use class D1); and 

 
Creation of 1,176 residential units (Use Class C3) in 15 new blocks between 2 and 10 
storeys in height plus up to 1,743sqm retail space (Use Class A1), professional services 
(Use Class A2), food and drink (Use Classes A3 and A5) and 1,256sqm community and 
cultural uses (Use Class D1), health centre (Use Class D1), together with a temporary 
marketing suite (407sqm), energy centre, new and improved public open space and public 
realm, semi-basement, ground and on-street vehicular and cycle parking and temporary 
works or structures and associated utilities/services.".  Permitted 15/07/2015. 

 
4.3 PA/13/01844/P2 - Submission of reserved matters to condition 1 (details of siting, layout, 

scale, design and external appearance of the building, the means of access thereto and 
landscaping of the site) and condition 43 (reserved matters further information) for the 
development of Phase 2 of the Aberfeldy New Village Outline Planning Permission 
(PA/11/2716) approved on 20 June 2012 comprising demolition of Helen Mackay House, 
Jervis Bay House, Gaze House and Richie House and creation of two residential blocks 
between 4 to 8 storeys , with a total of 219 new dwellings (16 x studio; 97 x 1 bed; 92 x 2 
bed; 7 x 3 bed; 2 x 4 bed; 5 x 5 bed), new public open space, car parks, cycle parking and 
temporary works of structures and associated utilities/services required by the development.  
Permitted 27/03/2014. 

 
4.4 PA/11/03548/P1 - Erection of three blocks between 4 and 10 storeys on the corner of Abbott 

Road and East India Dock Road to provide 342 new residential units, 352 sq.m. new retail 
floorspace (Use Classes A1 and A3), a marketing suite of 407 sq.m. (Use Class A2), semi-

Page 132



basement and ground floor parking, cycle parking, landscaped public open space and 
private amenity space and other associated works.  Proposal constitutes Phase 1 of 
application PA/11/02716.  Permitted 20/06/2012. 
 
 

4.5 PA/11/02716/PO – Outline planning application (all matters reserved) for the mixed-use 
redevelopment of the existing Aberfeldy estate comprising: 

 
Demolition of 297 existing residential units and 1,990 sq m of non-residential floorspace, 
including shops (use class A1), professional services (use class A2), food and drink (use 
class A3 and A5), residential institution (use class C2), storage (use class B8), community, 
education and cultural (use class D1); and Creation of 1,176 residential units (Use Class C3) 
in 15 new blocks between 2 and 10 storeys in height plus 1,743sqm retail space (Use Class 
A1), professional services (Use Class A2), food and drink (Use Classes A3 and A5) and 
1,786 community and cultural uses (Use Class D1) together with a temporary marketing 
suite (407sqm), energy centre, new and improved public open space and public realm, semi-
basement, ground and on-street vehicular and cycle parking and temporary works or 
structures and associated utilities/services.  Permitted 20/06/2012. 

 

5. PUBLICITY AND ENGAGEMENT 

5.1 The Applicant undertook a resident’s ballot in October 2020 which achieved a 91.1% turnout 
with 93.1% residents in favour of the proposals. 

5.2 The Applicant commenced a 53 day public consultation strategy on 22nd July 2021 which is 
due to expire on the 12th September 2021.  The public consultation strategy involves a 
mixture of printed public information packs delivered to 4898 residents, access and updates 
to an online consultation website (activated November/December 2020), surveys and 
feedback forms, a community forum intending to take place in September with attendance 
from Council Officers and resident stakeholder group meetings.  In addition, public 
consultation materials, including a model of the masterplan will be on display in the newly 
refurbished Poplar Harca shop on Aberfeldy Street.  Other forms of public engagement will 
include walking tours and drop-in surgeries throughout July/August.  

5.3 The Applicant has engaged in 15 pre-application meetings with Officers and has had two 
pre-application meetings with the GLA. 

5.4 The masterplan proposals were presented to the Council’s Conservation and Design 
Advisory Panel (CADAP) on 12th July 2021.  Comments from CADAP members included the 
following: 

 

 The panel commented on the clear and strong urban design principles that lay at the 
heart of the masterplan, noting that the 4 fingers running north to south were an 
extremely positive move. Panel members commented that the masterplan was 
believable, credible and well thought through, particularly the ambition of the 
proposed streets that lie at the heart of the proposals. 
 

 The panel stated that the east/west route and connection through to Jolly’s Green 
was of extreme importance as it acts as the justification for the height strategy across 
the site. 
 
 

 The panel were keen to point out that the commitment and delivery of everything 
within the red line boundary would be essential to delivering a successful scheme. 

Page 133



Panel members highlighted to the client that whilst the aspirations of the proposals 
were exciting these must not be watered down through the process. 
 
 

 The panel noted that the whilst the height of the taller buildings was good, the lower 
buildings felt a little monolithic. Whilst the previous phases were buildings of 4-6 
storeys, nothing proposed on this masterplan would be less than 8 storeys in height. 
The panel felt that perhaps there was just too much being proposed on site with the 
applicants trying to squeeze too much in. Panel members thought it would be 
interesting to respond to the wider context and play with a variety of heights across 
the masterplan area. 
 
 

 The panel thought that a simple material palette across the masterplan area would 
be fantastic ensuring that where there were elements of embellishment they would 
then really stand out within the landscape/public realm.    
 
 

 Panel members questioned location for the tallest building noting that perhaps this 
should be the northern most building. There was a feeling that bringing the tallest 
element into the underpass could give a lot more in terms of active frontage, adding 
to the overall safety and activity at ground level. They commented that moving the 
building to the north would also address the view from Langdon Park in which the 
church spire and the tallest element of the proposals have an awkward relationship. 
 
 

 The panel were concerned about the potential number of single aspect units that 
were proposed facing onto the A12. They noted that this was a projection but 
suggested that the applicant explore the potential of dual aspect and deck access 
within the blocks where single aspect units would be facing onto this major transport 
route. 
 
 

 The panel expressed an interest in better understanding the building typologies on 
Community Lane as well as how the courtyard spaces would work in terms of 
daylight and sunlight. 
 
 

 The panel commented that Enterprise Yard looked a little small and thin and were 
keen to emphasise that detail is the crucial element in the success of the public realm 
and delivery of play space. 
 
 

 The panel were keen to understand about the carbon ambitions for the site. 
 
 

  The panel were keen to understand how the proposals would enhance the setting of 
Balfron Tower. 

5.5 Members are advised that a second presentation to CADAP is due to take place on 9th 
August 2021 which will focus specifically on Phase A of the masterplan.   
 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND DOCUMENTS  

Page 134



6.1 The Development Plan comprises: 

‒ The London Plan 2021 (hereafter referred to as the London Plan) 

‒ Managing Growth and Sharing the Benefits – Tower Hamlets Local Plan 2031 (2020) 
(hereafter referred to as the Local Plan). 

 
6.2 Other policy and guidance documents relevant to the proposal are: 

‒ The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

‒ National Planning Practice Guidance (updated 2021) 

‒ National Design Guide (2019) 

‒ BRE – Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight (2011) 

‒ Mayor of London: Better Homes for Local People – The Mayor’s Good Practice 
Guide to Estate Regeneration (2018). 

‒ Mayor of London: Energy Assessment Guidance (2018) 

‒ Mayor of London: Housing SPG (updated 2017) 

‒ Mayor of London: Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (2017) 

‒ Mayor of London: Social Infrastructure SPG (2015) 

‒ Mayor of London: Shaping Neighbourhoods Accessible London: Achieving an 
Inclusive Environment SPG (2015) 

‒ Mayor of London: Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (2014) 

‒ Mayor of London: Shaping Neighborhoods: Play and Informal Recreation SPG 
(2012) 

‒ Lower Lea Valley Opportunity Area Planning Framework (2007) 

‒ LBTH High Density Living SPD (2020) 

‒ LBTH Planning Obligations SPD (2021) 

‒ LBTH Development Viability SPD (2017) 

‒ LBTH Balfron Tower Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2007). 

‒ LBTH Leaside Area Action Plan (Leaside AAP) Regulation 18 Consultation Version 
(April 2021) 

 

7. PLANNING ISSUES 

7.1 The following key planning issues have been identified at the pre-application stage. 
 
Land Use 
 

7.2 The site is located within Sub-area 3: Lower Lea Valley as designated by the Local Plan.  
The Lower Lea Valley sub-area is located on the eastern side of the borough and forms part 
of the wider Mayor of London’s Lower Lea Valley Opportunity Area which stretches north 
comprising the boroughs of Newham and Hackney.   

 
7.3 The sub-area is a collection of vibrant and distinctive town centres, transport interchanges 

and residential areas.  The sub-area comprises six distinct character places of which the 
pre-application site falls within the character place of Poplar Riverside.   

 
7.4 Policy SD1 Part A of the London Plan seeks to ensure that Opportunity Areas fully realise 

their growth and regeneration potential by, amongst other things, under criterion (5) seeking 
to ensure that Opportunity Areas maximise the delivery of affordable housing and create 

Page 135



mixed and inclusive communities.  Table 2.1 that accompanies this policy identifies that the 
Poplar Riverside Opportunity Area has the potential to deliver an indicative capacity of 9,000 
new homes and 3,000 jobs.   

 
7.5 Objective GG4 of the London Plan emphasises that there is a pressing need for more homes 

to be delivered in London and promotes the creation of mixed and inclusive communities 
that offer homes of the highest quality of design and meet identified needs.   

 
7.6 Policy H1 of the London Plan seeks to amongst other things, optimise the potential for 

housing delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites through Development Plans 
and planning decisions.  The policy sets ten-year targets for net housing completions for 
each Local Planning Authority.  For Tower Hamlets, Table 4.1 sets a ten-year target of 
34,730 net housing completions covering the period between 2019/20 – 2028/29. 

 
7.7 The Local Plan sets the following strategic objectives for the Lower Lea Valley: 

 
a. Improve strategic connections to overcome the physical barriers to movement 

created by the A12, A13 and the waterways. 
 

b. Deliver the Lea River Park (including the Leaway) to provide a network of 
interconnected water and open spaces, green walking and cycling routes and 
improve access to and along the River Lea. 
 
 

c. Improve local connections by creating a street pattern that increases permeability for 
ease of pedestrian and cyclist movement. 
 
 

d. Support existing and new neighbourhood centres by improving accessibility to them 
to ensure they act as the civic heart of surrounding communities. 
 
 

e. Contribute towards the delivery of new affordable homes and community facilities 
through Poplar Riverside Housing Zone regeneration. 
 
 

f. Optimise former industrial/employment land and protect designated industrial areas 
whilst sensitively integrating industrial activities into their site context. 
 

 
7.8 Policy S.H1 of the Local Plan commits to securing the delivery of at least 58,965 new homes 

across the Borough (equating to at least 3,931 new homes per year) between 2016 and 
2031. 
 

7.9 Site Allocation LS-A (Aberfeldy Estate) of the emerging Leaside AAP identifies residential, 
community, retail and other town centre uses and public open space as being suitable land 
uses for this site.   

 
 

7.10 The provision of new housing would positively contribute to the Borough’s housing stock, 
noting that there is an acute local and national demand for increased housing.  The principle 
of the housing-led regeneration of this site would be acceptable in land use terms subject to 
the Applicant demonstrating compliance with relevant Development Plan policies in respect 
of matters relating to including but not limited to; design and heritage, affordable housing and 
housing mix, amenity, transport and environment.   

 

Page 136



Housing 
 

7.11 Chapter 4 (Housing) of the London Plan contains the suite of strategic policies that relate 
specifically to housing.   

 
7.12 Policy H4 (Part A) of the London Plan sets a strategic target for 50% of all new homes 

delivered across London to be genuinely affordable.   
 

7.13 Policy H8 of the London Plan which relates to the loss of existing housing and estate 
redevelopment requires the loss of existing housing to be replaced by new housing at 
existing or higher densities with at least the equivalent level of overall floorspace.  Part D of 
the policy goes on to require that where demolition of affordable housing is part of an estate 
redevelopment programme, development should not be permitted unless it is replaced by an 
equivalent amount of affordable housing floorspace.  Part E of the policy requires all 
development proposals that include the demolition and replacement of affordable housing to 
follow the Viability Tested Route and should seek to provide an uplift in affordable housing in 
addition to the replacement affordable housing floorspace.   

 
7.14 Policy S.H1(2) of the Local Plan states that development will be expected to contribute 

towards the creation of mixed and balanced communities that respond to local and strategic 
need.   

 
7.15 Policy D.H2 of the Local Plan requires development to maximise the provision of affordable 

housing in accordance with a 70% affordable rent and 30% intermediate tenure split based 
on the number of habitable rooms.  Policy D.H2 also sets locally specific targets for unit mix 
and sizes.   

 
7.16 The scheme currently proposes to provide 1608 homes of which 1181 units would be for 

private sale, 81 units in the intermediate tenure and 346 units as affordable rent.  Details of 
the intermediate product have not been provided so far in pre-application discussions.   

 
7.17 The proposed unit mix against policy D.H2 is set out below in the table below: 

 
 

 Market Housing Intermediate  Affordable Rented 

Unit 
Size 

Total 
Units 

Units As a 
% 

Policy 
Target 

% 

Units As a 
% 

Policy 
Target 

% 

Units As a 
% 

Policy 
Target 

% 

Studio 88 88 7.5% / / / / / / / 

1-bed 612 480 40.6% 30% 45 55.6% 15% 87 25.1% 25% 

2-bed 709 587 49.7% 50% 36 44.4% 40% 86 24.9% 30% 

3-bed 166 26 2.2% 20% 0 0% 45% 140 40.5% 30% 

4-bed 30 / /  0 0%  30 8.6% 15% 

5-bed 0 / / / / / / 0 / / 

6-bed 3 / / / / / / 3 0.9% / 

Total 1608 1181 100% 100% 81 100% 100% 346 100% 100% 

 

Page 137



 Table 1 – Unit and tenure mix against Policy D.H2. 
 
7.18 Based on the above, the scheme does not propose a policy compliant unit mix across all 

tenures.  Within the unit mix, 7.5% of the total units will comprise studio flats for which there 
is no policy requirement.   

 
7.19 In the market housing tenure there would be an over provision of 1-bed units proposing 

40.6% against a policy target of 30% and a substantial under provision of family housing with 
only 2.2% comprising 3-bed units and no 4-bed units against a policy target of 20%.   

 
7.20 In the intermediate tenure, there would be a substantial over provision of 1-bed units 

equating to 55.6% against a policy target of 15% and over provision of 2-bed units equating 
to 44.4% against a policy target of 40%.  No family units are proposed against a policy target 
of 40% in this tenure. 

 
7.21 In the affordable rent tenure, there would be an under provision of 2-bed units proposing 

24.9% against a policy target of 30%, an over provision of 3-bed units proposing 40.5% 
against a policy target of 30% and an under provision of 4-bed units against a policy target of 
15%.  However, it is noted that the scheme proposes to provide 9.0% 6-bed units and the 
total provision of family housing combined equates to 50% of the affordable rented tenure. 

 
7.22 Officers have not been provided with a breakdown of the existing unit mix to be demolished 

as part of the proposals to fully understand the context which has predicated the current 
proposed unit and tenure mix.  Officers have requested this information to provide detailed 
feedback on the proposed unit and tenure mix. 

 
7.23 The affordable housing offer is proposed at 35% based on habitable rooms and 26.5% 

based on the number of units.  17% of this will be reprovision whilst 18% will be an uplift in 
affordable housing.  This has been the only affordable housing offer proposed to date in pre-
application discussions and is specific to the latest design proposals.  The scheme seeks to 
provide 4447 habitable rooms of which 1534 would represent affordable equating to the 35% 
proposed.  The tenure split within the affordable housing element will 87%:13% in favour of 
Affordable Rent and therefore is not a policy compliant tenure split.  As an Estate Renewal 
scheme, the planning application must be accompanied by a Financial Viability Appraisal 
(FVA).  Officers have undertaken initial viability discussions with the Applicant and review of 
the Applicant’s initial FVA suggests that the scheme will result in a deficit.  The offer of 35% 
affordable housing will therefore be a commercial decision undertaken by the Applicant. 
 

7.24 The indicative number of units anticipated to be delivered in each phase is set out below: 
 

 
Phase 

 
Total Number 

of Units 

 
Number of 

Private 

 
Number of 
Affordable 

% Tenure Split 
Based on 
Habitable 
Rooms. 

 
Phase A 

 
281  

 
182  

 
99  

 
52% Private 

48% Affordable 
 

Phase B 556  365  191  60% Private 
40% Affordable 

 

Phase C 587  
 

464  123  72% Private 
28% Affordable  

Phase D 
 

184  
 

170  14  89% Private  
11% Affordable 

 

Page 138



 
 Table 2 – Number of units per phase. 
 
7.25 In terms of housing standards and quality, details of internal space standards and private 

amenity space for each dwelling type have not been provided in the pre-application 
discussions.  The development would be required to accord with the space standards set out 
in Policy D6 of the London Plan which amongst other things sets out requirements for the 
gross internal area (GIA) of all new dwellings at a defined level of occupancy, as well as floor 
areas and dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage, and floor-to-
ceiling heights.   

 
7.26 Officers understand that the scheme as it stands proposes 50% dual-aspect units.  Officers 

have therefore expressed concerns that this is quite low and that opportunities to maximise 
the level of dual-aspect units should be sought. 

 
7.27 In terms of communal amenity space based on the current proposal the scheme would be 

required to provide 1648m2 of communal amenity space.  Earlier iterations of the proposals 
suggested that communal amenity space would be provided on podiums and roof terraces.  
Officers have advised that communal amenity space must not be double counted with areas 
of public realm, children’s play space and public open space.    

 
 

Design and Heritage  
 

7.28 Objective GG2 (Making the Best Use of Land) of the London Plan refers to the need to 
create successful, sustainable mixed-use places that make the best use of land by ensuring 
that those involved in planning and development apply a design-led approach to determine 
the optimum development capacity of a sites. 

 
7.29 Chapter 3 (Design) of the London Plan contains the suite of policies that are intended to 

promote good design of buildings and surrounding spaces whilst Chapter 7 (Heritage and 
Culture) contains the suite of policies that are concerned with the protection of heritage 
assets.   

 
7.30 Policies S.DH1, D.DH2 and D.DH6 of the Local Plan deal with good design and the 

assessment of tall buildings.  Policy S.DH1 notably requires developments to meet the 
highest standards of design, layout and construction which respects and positively responds 
to its context, townscape, landscape and public realm at different spatial scales.  To this end, 
amongst other things, development must be of an appropriate scale, height, mass, bulk and 
form in its site and context.   

 
7.31 Policy S.DH3 of the Local Plan seeks to protect heritage assets and their settings and 

emphasises proposals would only be permitted where amongst other things, they safeguard 
the significance of the heritage asset, including its setting, character, fabric or identity.   

 
7.32 Policy D.DH4 of the Tower Hamlets Local Plan requires developments to positively 

contribute to views and skylines that are components of the character of the 24 places in 
Tower Hamlets.  Development will be required to demonstrate how amongst other things it 
preserves or enhances the prominence of borough-designated landmarks and the skyline of 
strategic importance in the borough-designated views. 

 
7.33 Policy D.DH6, Part 1 of the Local Plan sets out a number of criteria with which developments 

comprising tall buildings must comply.  Part 2 of Policy D.DH6 directs tall buildings towards 
Tall Building Zones (TBZ) whilst Part 3 of the policy states that outside these zones, tall 
building proposals will be supported provided they meet the criteria set out in Part 1 and can 
demonstrate how they will: 

Page 139



 
a. Be located in areas with high levels of public transport accessibility within town 

centres and/or opportunity areas. 
 

b. Address deficiencies in the provision of strategic infrastructure. 
 

c. Significantly strengthen the legibility of a Major, District or Neighbourhood Centre or 
mark the location of a transport interchange or other location of civic or visual 
significance within the area, and 
 

d. Not undermine the prominence and/or integrity of existing landmark buildings and tall 
building zones. 

 
7.34 The masterplan strategy initially sought to incorporate a number of towers running on a 

north-south axis adjacent to the A12.  Two scenarios were initially proposed with Scenario A 
(retaining Culloden School site) and Scenario B (Including Culloden School site).  Currently 
only Scenario A is being pursued and therefore there is currently no intention to relocate 
Culloden School.  Scenario A initially proposed 5 towers ranging between 14-28 storeys 
whilst Scenario B proposed 6 towers ranging from 14-28 storeys.   

 
7.35 The site falls outside a designated Tall Building Zone (TBZ) and lies to the north of Blackwall 

TBZ and to the north-west of Leamouth TBZ.  Most of the buildings across the masterplan 
are “tall buildings” as defined by the Local Plan.  Officers have advised the Applicant that the 
tall buildings outside of a TBZ must be justified against criteria outlined in part 3 of Policy 
D.DH6 of the Local Plan.   

 
7.36 In earlier pre-application meetings, Officers have expressed concerns of the height and 

massing of the proposal and its impact on the setting of the Balfron Tower Grade II* listed 
building.  The Applicant has now reduced the height of the two towers (Buildings E1 and C4) 
opposite Balfron Tower and this move has been welcomed by Officers.  The current height 
and massing strategy is indicated in figure 5 below: 

 
 

 
 
Figure 5 – Proposed Masterplan Height and Massing Strategy. 
 

Page 140



7.37 The Applicant considers that the scheme would, deliver strategic infrastructure in the form of 
a new public open space area identified as Highlands Place in the Masterplan and the re-
purposing of the vehicular underpass.  Officers have advised the Applicant that greater 
certainty is required that the repurposing of the underpass is deliverable as Transport for 
London (TFL) have yet to support the principle of the closure of the underpass and its 
repurposing for pedestrians and cyclists only.   
 

7.38 Highlands Place is intended to mark the tallest building in the masterplan at 28-storeys 
(Building B3).  Officers have advised that the underpass should provide appropriate levels of 
activation, be designed in and safe and secure manner and exit through to Jolly’s Green.  
Officers also consider that Jolly’s Green should be included within the application boundary.   
 

 
 

Figure 6 – CGI of Highlands Place. 
 
 

7.39 Phase A (Plot J of Phase A) of the masterplan includes part of the Grade II listed Bromley Hall 
School site and a strip of land directly north of the former school’s boundary.  Careful 
consideration would need to be had to the impact of buildings on the setting of the school 
building. 
 
 

Page 141



 
 

Figure 7 – Plot J  

 
7.40 In terms of the appearance and architectural language for the masterplan, broadly speaking 

the scheme seeks to reflect the architectural expression of Balfron Tower particularly for the 
towers along the A12.  For the landmark building (Building B3) in particular, a vertical façade 
expression on the northern and eastern elevation is proposed to reflect the verticality of 
Balfron Tower’s circulation tower whilst the southern and western elevations have a strong 
horizontal expression that is reflective of the eastern and western elevations of Balfron 
Tower.  In principle, Officers consider that this approach is interesting however, further 
detailing is required with regards to its articulation to ensure that the quality of the 
development comes through successfully.  

 

  
 Figure 8 – Architectural Expression.  

Page 142



 Aberfeldy Street 
 
7.41 The masterplan includes the redevelopment of Aberfeldy Street and Aberfeldy Street 

Neighbourhood Centre to provide a new high street.  The redevelopment of Aberfeldy Street 
will sit within Phase A (Plot H) and form part of the detailed component of the application.  
Plot H comprises buildings H1/H2 and H3 and will sit east and west of Aberfeldy Street 
respectively. 
 

 
 
Figure 9 – Plot H. 
 

7.42 Aberfeldy High Street has recently undergone a transformation via the implementation of a 
meanwhile use strategy led by a joint venture between Jan Kattein Architects and Meanwhile 
Space, to creatively revitalise the high street in the interim whilst the wider regeneration of 
the site continues.  This has resulted in a colourful makeover of the retail units and 
residential units above along Aberfeldy Street using patterns from fabrics donated by local 
residents and traders.  This has revived the high street and has been positively received by 
the local community.  Officers have identified that it will be challenging to recapture the 
success of the existing High Street and meanwhile use within the new masterplan.   

 

Page 143



 
 
Figure 10 – Aberfeldy Street Existing Meanwhile Uses. 

 

 
7.43 The pre-application documents presented thus far to Officers indicates that the appearance 

and materiality of the proposed buildings will comprise a strong precast concrete plinth in a 
warm terracotta colour with a combination of light and dark brickwork above to distinguish 
between the retail and residential elements.  The commercial units are proposed to have a 
variety of different coloured shopfronts and individual awnings which serve to provide 
uniqueness and identify between each shop unit whilst the terracotta plinth framing provides 
uniformity.  Officers have supported the approach to using colour and detailing to reinterpret 
the success of the existing high street in the new masterplan and consider that it is 
particularly important that the spirit and essence of the existing high street is authentically 
encapsulated. 

 
  

 

Page 144



 
 
  
 
 
  

 
 

Figure 11 – Aberfeldy Street Proposed CGI. 
 
 
Open Space and Children’s Play Space 
 

7.44 Policy S.OWS1 of the Local Plan requires proposals to provide or contribute to the delivery 
of an improved accessible, well-connected and sustainable network of open spaces through 
amongst other things: 
 

 Protecting all existing open spaces to ensure that there is no net loss (except where 
it meets the criteria set out in Policy D.OWS3). 
 

 Improving the quality, value and accessibility of existing publicly accessible open 
space across the borough and neighbouring boroughs, in line with the Green Grid 
Strategy, Open Space Strategy, Local Biodiversity Action Plan and Sport England’s 
Active Design Guidance. 
 

 Maximising the opportunities to create/increase publicly accessible open space 
(including playing pitches and ancillary sporting facilities) with a range of sizes and 
for a range of users. 

 
7.45 Officers have expressed concerns that the provision of public open space proposed for the 

wider masterplan would not be commensurate to the scale and magnitude of development 
proposed.  Officers considered initially that the only meaningful new public open space 
proposed in the Masterplan would be Highlands Place and All Hallows Square.  
Notwithstanding this, Officers have indicated to the Applicant that it is considered that 
Highlands Place is more akin to a combination of public realm, recreational and 

Page 145



predominately hard landscaping rather than public open space that incorporates a 
substantial amount of green space and infrastructure.  However, it is acknowledged that 
there is a logic for Highlands Place to mark the tallest building on the Masterplan.  The latest 
iteration of the proposal suggests that 3757m2 of new public open space will be delivered as 
part of Highlands Place. 
 

7.46 The Masterplan boundary includes the following areas of existing public open space: 
Millennium Green, Braithwaite Park and Leven Road.  Until recently Officers have 
questioned the inclusion of these areas within the proposed red-line boundary.  There had 
been a lack of clarity as to the justification for the inclusion of these public open spaces and 
what was being proposed for these areas as it was not originally intended that the Applicant 
would be delivering improvements to these spaces directly.   

 
7.47 The Applicant has been engaging with the Council’s Parks Team and is now intending to 

deliver improvements to these spaces directly.  This would provide a greater level of 
certainty that meaningful level of improvements can be secured.  This will require the 
Applicant to work closely with the Council’s Parks Team and Aberfeldy Big Local to agree an 
appropriate and deliverable scheme for improvements to all three areas of existing public 
open space.  It is proposed to deliver improvements to Braithwaite Park and Leven Road 
Open Space in Phase A.  It is understood that public consultation had commenced on the 
proposals for all three spaces mid-July 2021.     

 
7.48 In terms of children’s play provision, the Applicant has been advised that dedicated 

children’s play provision should be distinguishable from areas of public realm, public open 
space and landscaping.  Based on the current unit mix the scheme would be required to 
provide  6404m2 of children’s play provision comprising of the following: 

 
7.49 The scheme would be seeking to provide a combination of dedicated children’s play and 

playable space.  Whilst Officers have been provided with indicative locations of these areas, 
the detailed element of these areas have not been presented to Officers to date. 

 
Neighbouring Amenity 
 

7.50 Policy D.DH8 of the Local Plan requires new developments to protect and where possible 
enhance or increase the extent of the amenity of new and existing buildings and their 
occupants, as well as the amenity of the surrounding public realm.  To this end development 
should maintain good levels of privacy and outlook, avoid unreasonable levels of 
overlooking, not result in any material deterioration of sunlight and daylight conditions of 
surrounding development.   
 

7.51 No preliminary daylight/sunlight assessments have been submitted to Officers for review 
during the course of the pre-application discussions to fully inform Officers of the likely 
impact of the proposals on potential occupiers of the development and neighbouring 
buildings.   
 

Page 146



 
 
 
Transport and Servicing 
 

7.52 Local plan policies S.TR1, D.TR2 and D.TR3 require proposals to have consideration to the 
local environment and accessibility of the site, on-street parking availability, access and 
amenity impacts and road network capacity constraints while supporting the Council’s 
commitment to reduce the need to travel and encourage modal shift away from the private 
car towards healthy and sustainable transport initiatives and choices, notably walking and 
cycling.  These policies also seek to secure safe and appropriate servicing arrangements.  
 

7.53 The Local Plan also envisages that development in the Lower Lea Valley will have sufficient 
transport and social infrastructure to facilitate the creation of thriving mixed communities 
alongside vibrant neighbourhood centres.  Housing provision will be accelerated through the 
Poplar Riverside Housing Zone and delivered alongside new local employment, enterprise 
and business opportunities.   

 
7.54 To facilitate the delivery of the vision for the Lower Lea Valley, the Local Plan sets a number 

of objectives which include amongst other things: 
 

 Improve strategic connections to overcome the physical barriers ot movement 
created by the A12, A14 and the waterways. 
 

 Improve local connections by creating a street pattern that increases permeability for 
ease of pedestrian and cyclist movement. 
 

 Support existing and new neighbourhood centres by improving accessibility to them 
to ensure they act as the civic heart of surrounding communities. 
 

7.55 The site has a PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) of 1b-4 which is poor to good on a 
scale of 0-6b where 6b is the best. 
 

7.56 The wider masterplan seeks to improve east-west routes and connectively across the wider 
area and create key north-south routes within the masterplan such as Enterprise Yard, 
Community Lane and Abbott Road.  Abbott Road is a widely used through route which 
connects the A12 from the north-west to the A13 to the south-east.  Abbott Road is also 
used by the Bus Route 309; the northbound service which utilises the Abbott Road Vehicle 
underpass.   

 
7.57 The scheme proposes to turn Abbott Road into a “healthy street”, introducing speed 

restrictions, reducing the width of vehicular routes and widening pedestrian paths to prioritise 
the use of Abbott Road by pedestrians and cyclists. 

 
7.58 In terms of the vehicular underpass, it is proposed to repurpose this by raising the floor of 

the existing underpass by approximately 2m and creating the new public realm area in 
Highlands Place.  The repurposed underpass would be used solely by pedestrians and 
cyclists and Abbott Road would be extended further to the north to provide a replacement 
connection to the A12.  This would also require re-routing of the 309 northbound bus service. 

 
7.59 Officers support the aspiration to improve connectivity in the wider Aberfeldy Area however, 

concerns have been expressed during pre-application meetings as to the mechanism for 
delivery, as the repurposing of the underpass is contingent on support and approval from TfL 
who have yet to confirm that the proposals for the underpass or the rerouting of the bus 
route would be supported.  

 

Page 147



7.60 Officers are aware that the Applicant’s Team have recently submitted results for strategic 
modelling undertaken to TfL to assess the effect of repurposing the underpass.  Three 
scenarios were modelled as follows: 

 

 Scenario A – Do nothing. 

 Scenario B – Closure of the underpass (buses and other traffic re-distributed to 
Lochnagar Street via Leven Road). 

 Scenario C – Closure of underpass combined with the provision of a new Abbott 
Road/A12 bus gate (for northbound buses). 

. 

 
 
Figure 12 – Strategic Modelling Scenarios. 
 
 

7.61 It is understood that the Applicant’s preferred option would be Scenario C as bus delays are 
minimised under this scenario with an increase in westbound journey time by approximately 
45 seconds.  Officers understand that TfL will shortly be issuing a pre-application letter in 
response to the modelling report.   
 

7.62 In terms of upgrade to the Dee Street underpass, Officers have yet to see any details of 
these proposals.  

 
7.63 In terms of car parking, the scheme would be seeking to provide parking spaces for 71 

returning residents and 50 blue badge spaces are proposed which would be in accordance 
with the London Plan policy requirement for a minimum of 3% of dwellings on residential 
developments of ten or more to be provided with at least one designated blue badge bay per 
dwelling from the outset.  

 
7.64 There has been limited information submitted to date during pre-application meetings in 

respect of matters relating to delivery and servicing and cycle parking provision.  It would be 
expected that cycle parking is provided in accordance with the standards set out in the 
London Plan.   
 

Page 148



 
 
 
Environment 
 

7.65 National planning policy and guidance sets the direction of travel for the planning system to 
support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. 
 

7.66 Policy D.ES7 of the Local Plan specifically requires that for residential developments, zero 
carbon should be achieved through a minimum of 45% reduction in regulated carbon dioxide 
emissions on-site and the remaining regulated carbon dioxide emissions to 100% are to be 
off-set through a cash in lieu contribution.   

7.67 Detailed discussions with regard to the proposed energy and sustainability strategy have not 
been undertaken during pre-application meetings thus far however, it would be expected that 
the scheme that comes forward demonstrates compliance with the above through an 
appropriate Energy Strategy.   

7.68 Development plan policies also seek to secure a range of sustainable development 
outcomes including net biodiversity gains; the implementation of efficient energy systems 
which seek to minimise carbon emissions and to secure effective strategies for addressing 
matters relating to contaminated land and sustainable urban drainage. 

7.69 The proposed development would constitute an EIA development as such the accompanying 
Environmental Statement submitted with any subsequent planning application would need to 
include the relevant impact assessments.  

Infrastructure Impact 
 

7.70 The proposed development will be liable to the Council’s and the Mayor of London 
Community Infrastructure Levies (CIL) and planning obligations to be secured under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

8. SUMMARY 
 
8.1 In summary the scheme would deliver a number of public benefits including the provision of 

new housing; both replacement (17% reprovision) and an uplift (18% uplift) in affordable 
housing based on the number of habitable rooms, improvements to existing areas of public 
open space, new workspace and new retail including the replacement of Aberfeldy Street 
Neighbourhood Centre. However, Officers consider that the success of the masterplan is 
fundamentally heavily reliant on the delivery of the repurposing of the underpass and 
significantly improving east-west connections across the A12.  The delivery of this strategic 
infrastructure improvement is also key to justifying the masterplan’s tall building strategy 
against Policy D.DH6 of the Local Plan as discussed earlier in this report.   

 
8.2 Officers consider that support for the repurposing of the underpass from TfL is crucial to its 

deliverability.  Moreover, whilst recent pre-application meetings have presented Officers with 
proposals that suggested improvements to the western side of the underpass which include 
the possibility of providing affordable workspaces, public realm and landscaping 
improvements to the slip road on the western side of the A12 and improvements to Jolly’s 
Green, Officers are aware that the applicant’s red-line boundary currently does not propose 
to extend beyond the underpass to include Jolly’s Green.  Whilst there are other 
mechanisms to deliver these improvements, Officers consider that their inclusion within the 
red line boundary would deliver a greater degree of certainty and therefore should form an 
integral part of any scheme formally submitted to the Council.     

Page 149



 
8.3 Moreover, Officers have also recently become aware that the Applicant is now suggesting to 

remove Millennium Green from the application boundary.  This is due to the fact that 
Millennium Green is owned by the Millennium Trust which does not appear to have any 
active members operating the Trust.  Members are advised that the Council’s Regeneration 
Team are actively investigating and working towards disbanding the Trust.  Due to the 
existence of the Trust, the Applicant would be seeking to secure improvements to the 
Millennium Green via the S106 legal agreement; however, Officers have expressed 
concerns with this approach.  Officers consider that the improvements to all the areas of 
existing public open space together with the repurposing of the underpass are fundamental 
to the proposals, they effectively form the basis for which the Applicant is justifying this 
masterplan and the substantial density and the number of tall buildings proposed to be 
delivered.  Officers do not consider that it would be appropriate to secure improvements to 
Millennium Green via a S106 legal agreement and would seek to fully scrutinise and 
understand the detailed elements of the proposed improvements as part of the planning 
application.   

 
8.4 In conclusion Officers consider that the masterplan can only be deliverable if there is 

certainty about the full details of the underpass and the mechanism for deliverability, wider 
east-west connections including improvements to Jolly’s Green and greater detail of the 
improvements proposed to the existing areas of public open space.   

 
9.   RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1  The Committee notes the contents of the report and pre-application presentation. 
 
9.2 The Committee is invited to comment on the issues identified and to raise any other planning 

and design issues or material considerations that the developer should take into account at 
the pre-application stage, prior to submitting a planning application.  

Page 150



10.   APPENDICES – IMAGES 
 
Image 1 – Wider Context 
 

 
 
Image 2 – Masterplan Threads 
 

 

Page 151



Image 3 – Masterplan Landscape Concept 
 
 

 
 
 
Image 4 – Proposed Massing 

 

Page 152



 
Image 5 – Pedestrian Movement Strategy 
 

 
 
 
Image 6 – Public Realm  

 
 

Page 153



Image 7 – Proposed View East India Dock Road 
 

 

 

Image 8 – Langdon Park 

 

 

Page 154



Image 9 – Abbott Road 

 

 

Image 10 – Dee Street 

 

Page 155



Image 11 – A12 Blackwall Tunnel 

 

 

Image 13 – Abbott Road Proposed  

 

Page 156



Image 14 – Braithwaite Park 

 

 

Image 15 – Leven Road Open Space 

 

Page 157



Image 16 – Millennium Green  

 

 

Image 17 – All Hallows Square 

 

Page 158



Image 18 – Aberfeldy Street (Daytime CGI) 

 

Image 19 – Aberfeldy Street (Night time CGI) 

 

Page 159



Image 20 – All Hallows Square CGI 

 

 

 

Image 21 – Highlands Place Underpass Entrance CGI 

 

Page 160



Image 22 – Highlands Place Underpass Entrance CGI  

 

 

Image 23 – Underpass CGI 

 

Page 161



Image 24 – Underpass exit to Jolly’s Green 

 

Page 162


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER INTERESTS
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	3 RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS AND MEETING GUIDANCE
	Updated, 18/05/2021 Strategic Development Committee, 09/06/2021 Strategic Development Committee

	5 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
	5.1 2 Trafalgar Way, London, E14 5SP (PA/20/01402)
	6 Other Planning Issues - Pre - application Presentation
	6.1 Pre - Application Presentation: Aberfeldy Estate, Abbott Road, Land to the north of East India Dock Road (A13), London, (E14.PF/20/00108)
	Aberfeldy Village SDC Pre-app Report Final


